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Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is a full-service
design and supply chain partner to global brands and retailers of
intimate apparel listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock Code: 333). The
Company and its principal subsidiaries (collectively “Top Form” or
the “Group”) employs over 6,000 employees across China, Thailand,
Cambodia and Indonesia, with our headquarters in Hong Kong.
We provide end-to-end service, from material sourcing to finished
garments, and our product category ranges from intimate apparel to
functional sports bras.
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To be the leading international apparel partner, from ideation to
delivery, driven by innovation and insights, and built upon sustainable
forward-thinking operations.
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We strive to make a lasting positive impact through our choices and
actions, our relationships and the quality work we do.
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The financial figures are presented in Hong Kong dollars.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

IS EFIAB LI °

for the year ended 30 June
BERA=+HLEFE

2023 2022
—E-= —_=_—
(audited) (audited) Change
(BRE®) (f8 &) 2E)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHET TET THET

Revenue

Gross profit

Gross profit margin (%)
(Loss)/profit for the year

(Loss)/earnings per share (HK dollars)

- Basic and diluted

A
EF
FFI 2 (%)

FRUBE) a5 h
S’k (BB &F

(&7T)

—EANEE

1,007,016 1,481,592 (474,576)

175,339 273,928 (98,589)

17.4% 18.5% (1.1) points

(RNEER

(78,524) 11,488 (90,012)
(0.281) 0.012

At 30 June
RAAB=t+H
2023 2022
—=-= —ET-—
(audited) (audited) Change
(REZ) (EEZ) &
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
1 | ] |
Total equity R iR 419,822 507,328 (87,506)
Total debt (note a) BIEIE (KT ita) 123,804 115,404 8,400
Cash and cash equivalents Re MBS EREER 112,130 136,487 (24,357)
Gearing ratio (%) (note b) BE BB E%) 29.5% 22.8% 6.7 points
(Ktztp) 6.716 B 7 B
Net asset per share (HK dollars) (notec) &I E EFE (GBT)
(Btatc) 1.39 1.69
Notes: B 5 -
a. Total debt represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings. a.  MREEEFBRITERAE -

b. Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total

equity.

c. Net assets per share represents total equity divided by the total number of shares in

issue as at the end of year.

EBESEERERAR |

TE-FFHR e

b. BEAMBLFEFERITEREERAERLEE -

. EBREEFEREESGERURFRADETRMDEH -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFHERE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) ( LA 7 7T 51 7R )

RESULTS ¥iE
I I I I I
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—=E-= —Eo—F - —F —E2-TF —ZE—NF
HKS$’000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000

TR TAIT TAET TAT TAT
' A S S A

Year ended 30 June BEANA=1+HL
FE
Revenue A 1,007,016 1,481,592 1,428,532 1,236,659 1,225,402
(Loss)/profit before Br 75 A1
taxation (F518) /% (76,270) 19,216 11,951 (79,306) (59,409)
Income tax FriS i
(expense)/credit (RX) % (2,254) (7,728) (4,806) 1,780 (3,382)
(Loss)/profit for the year R (E5E) /3% F (78,524) 11,488 7,145 (77,526) (62,791)
Attributable to: THIATFEA -
- Equity shareholders — ARRARERRE
of the Company (84,732) 3,550 2,797 (77,235) (61,224)
- Non-controlling interests  — FE42 I i 25 6,208 7,938 4,348 (291) (1,567)
(78,524) 11,488 7,145 (77,526) (62,791)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
/" 7 ] 7 [ |
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E—-= T —E-—F —ZE-TF —ZE-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TAET TAET TAET THETT
I S S R S R

At 30 June RAB=1+H
Total assets BEE 800,534 898,425 936,483 844,062 819,468
Total liabilities wmaE (380,712) (391,097) (425,960) (395,392) (296,286)
419,822 507,328 510,523 448,670 523,182
Equity attributable to: THIA TR
— Equity shareholders —ARRBIERRR
of the Company 372,999 466,363 475,540 425,747 515,532
- Non-controlling interests  — FE42 I 4 25 46,823 40,465 34,983 22,923 7,650
419,822 507,328 510,523 448,670 523,182
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Dear Shareholders,

The fiscal year 2023 presented formidable challenges for Top Form.
The world grappled with a complex web of economic woes, marked
by persistent inflationary pressures in both the United States (the
“U.S.") and Europe. These pressures were compounded by global
supply chain disruptions, resulting in excess inventory for our major
customers. Furthermore, rising interest rates exacerbated costs for
businesses and borrowings. In addition, geopolitical tensions fostered
a climate of unpredictability and market volatility, with far-reaching
implications for trade, investment, employment, and consumer
spending.

Regrettably, the Group was not immune to the adverse effects of
these global economic factors. Top Form's revenue experienced a
year-over-year decrease of 32%, amounting to HK$1,007 million for
the year ended 30 June 30 2023 ("FY2023"). This decline was primarily
driven by a significant drop in demand from our major U.S. customers,
which, in turn, was influenced by high inventory levels and declining
consumer demand. While we believe the worst of the current
downturn is behind us, we anticipate continued global demand
challenges in the near term. Consequently, we are prioritizing cost
management and efficiency by proactively implementing measures
to rationalize and consolidate our manufacturing capacity. These
strategic actions aim to optimize resource allocation and streamline
operations, enabling us to navigate the uncertain market conditions
while maintaining a steadfast focus on profitability and sustainable
growth.

Despite the formidable challenges we also see opportunities and
the Group remains unwavering in its commitment to our long-term
vision and strategy. We are actively expanding our strategic presence
in Asia. In early 2023, we inaugurated a foam cup production facility
in Sri Lanka to expand the market penetration and growth in our
innovation and technology. Furthermore, we have made investments
gradually in expanding both the capacity and capability in Indonesia
throughout the year. These measures are in preparation for the
growing demands of our customers and to effectively navigate the
increasingly complex and competitive market environment. We firmly
believe that our unwavering focus on innovation and exceptional
customer satisfaction will continue to propel our success in the year
to come.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWwE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) is committed to
maintaining the objectivity and independence of the Board. Mr. Lin
Sun Mo, Willy ("Mr. Lin"), who has been serving on the Board for more
than 17 years, will retire as independent non-executive Director of the
Company at the conclusion of the annual general meeting to be held
on 30 November 2023 (the “AGM") as Mr. Lin would like to devote
more time to other business commitments. To achieve diversity on
the Board and as part of succession planning, the Board proposed to
appoint Mr. Wang Man Hon Sidney (“Mr. Wang") as an independent
non-executive director of the Company to fill up the vacancy opened
from the retirement of Mr. Lin with effect from the conclusion of the
AGM. On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere gratitude to Mr. Lin for his valuable contributions
to the Group during his tenure of office. | would also like to extend a
warm welcome to Mr. Wang for joining the Board and look forward to
the new insights and diverse perspectives that Mr. Wang would bring
to the Board.

Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to our
management team for their exceptional performance, dedication and
leadership during this turbulent time, and our employees for their
contributions as well as our customers and shareholders for their
unwavering support during this challenging period. Moving forward,
we remain committed to grooming our employees by equipping
them with the necessary skills, knowledge, and resources to excel
in the fast-paced and ever-changing business environment. | am
confident that we can weather the challenges ahead and position
ourselves to capitalize on the opportunities that may arise in the years
to come.

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman

28 September 2023

06

(8 e((E582)BNREREES
ENEBUEMBLE AEESRBEBITFDH
MEREE((MEEDBR-_F_=F+—A
ZSTHETzZBRRBFAXE [RRBFAE))
BREBRIARBELIFATES U IEBEE
B ARKBERNESERRNEMTIERL -
EREERIN Mo B#FEFTENZ T
EXERRREIXRRE(IEED BRER
B IFITE R AERME R RER ZER -
BERRBFREHEREREN - AABRRES
SRLEEERAMEERTEAEREBELN

TRERESFSHRIMNEEUA RSB -

RiE AARLDBHEEEKREERER PN
SHRR  BEBHNELS  TRHFEEET
RAEEMELNERMNB L ARBEMANE
PMBEREFR MBS PERNEBRERTE
BN - RERK  HABROREBEREAT
A PRE VB REE - MBMER  #E T
EHRSENREEEENEERRETRIFLE
N e RAWE  EBHTEH RARAOLE - I
AR IRBUEE 7] BE h 3R RO MBI 0 2B 4 o

—E-=FhAA=-+NH

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2023



Dear Shareholders,

In my message last year, | spoke of a ‘confluence of factors’ that
would present significant challenges to our business, highlighting
the volatility we could anticipate in consumer demand and global
trade. Now, one year later, we've witnessed the repercussions of these
factors unfold in ways that have surpassed our initial expectations.
Through the year in review, retailers and brands worldwide embarked
on de-stocking efforts more drastic than we anticipated. Meanwhile,
consumer demand, particularly for discretionary items like apparel,
has remained subdued, caught in the grip of inflationary pressures
and rising interest rates.

These challenges have undeniably taken a toll on Top Form’s
financial results in FY2023, reflecting the harsh market conditions
we've confronted and the tough yet necessary actions we took,
including resizing our production capacity to align with the evolving
competitive landscape of the global apparel trade.

Adversity is said to be a catalyst for growth, and even as we grapple
with this severe market downturn, I'm immensely proud to witness
our team’s unwavering commitment in building our company.
We've doubled down on our strengths. We fortified our position
by amplifying our commitment to product innovation, delivering
best-in-class service to our valued customers, optimizing and
strengthening our multi-country manufacturing network, investing in
the continuous growth and development of our people, nurturing a
stronger team and culture, and enhancing technological capabilities.

In this CEO message, without repeating the annual business analysis
provided by the Management Discussion and Analysis, I'll delve
into our business imperatives, the rationale driving our actions, our
outlook for the future, and how we believe our strategy continues to
reinforce our position in the market.
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CEO MESSAGE
HREHITE RS

Innovative Product Design and Technology Set Us Apart
At Top Form, we are the go-to strategic product expert our customers
depend on. We don't just offer practical and innovative product
solutions; we partner with our customers to forge enduring product
franchises that can command a substantial share of the market over
the long haul. Our unique edge lies in our ability to deliver innovation
at scale through our diversified multi-country manufacturing network.

Our commitment to leveraging Top Form'’s proprietary innovations
and industry-leading technical expertise has been instrumental in
nurturing long-term, sustainable partnerships with our customers,
even amid recent market volatility. During this reporting period, we
supported one of our key customers in launching a major franchise
encompassing a broad range of intimate and underwear products
as part of a campaign to recapture a vital segment of the market — a
move generating excitement even in this challenging downturn.

Our dedication to offering the best in design and innovation drives
us not only to invest in maintaining a robust innovation pipeline but
also to remain at the forefront of our industry by embracing exciting
technologies and innovative processes. Last year, | highlighted the
increasing number of projects we developed and delivered using
3D technology, from sampling to presentations and approvals,
particularly for our fashion-focused customers. Over the past year,
our dedication to mastering Digital Product Creation technology
has continued. We've partnered with upstream material suppliers
to create catalogs, host educational workshops, and conduct
surveys and gathering insights — with the aim of catalyzing the
transformation of the apparel value chain, infusing our design process
with greater speed, agility, and sustainability as we step into a more
digitally-enabled future.

Furthermore, our recent collaborations with research institutions
and technology startups underscore our commitment to leveraging
technology to solve complex fit and technical challenges, ensuring
our products are tailored for active lifestyles and the inclusive nature
of today’s consumer market.

At Top Form, we have an exceptional team of leaders, designer,
technologists, and engineers who dedicate themselves to delivering
practical product innovations and solutions that are highly adaptive
to evolving consumer preferences and lifestyles. Building this
capability requires continual innovation, strong technical and
commercial acumen, investment, and an enormous amount of
discipline. Our team’s commitment ensures our indispensability,
guaranteeing our relevance through the vicissitudes of business
cycles.
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Enhancing the Power of Our Multi-Country Manufacturing
Network with Our Thailand Commercial Operation Hub
In recent years, we've made it a priority to take on more supply chain,
operational, and merchandising responsibilities to better serve our
customers and lead in the supply chain. During the recent supply
chain disruptions, Top Form played a pivotal role in coordinating and
aligning the entire supply chain, resulting in improved lead times,
robust risk assessments, and quicker decision-making.

Global trade and apparel production patterns are rapidly evolving.
To complement our diversified Asian manufacturing footprint,
we've established our Commercial Operation Hub in our Maesot,
Thailand campus, offering comprehensive capabilities to support our
customers directly in the region with the bulk of our manufacturing
capacity.

During this downturn, we seized the opportunity to refocus our
manufacturing footprint for intimate apparel making in Thailand,
Indonesia, and China while continuing to enhance our network of
capacity with strategic sub-contracting partners in the region.

Throughout our history, Top Form has maintained a balanced
manufacturing network across Asia, enabling our customers to
mitigate country-specific risks, seasonality, and trade restrictions. As
we confront heightened geopolitical tension and uncertainty, we find
ourselves well-prepared for this new era of volatility, thanks to our
diversified and multi-country manufacturing strategy with balanced
capabilities across our network.

Enhancing our strategic position through Top Form’s
“Strategic Verticality”

Top Form's vertical component businesses of foam cups and
knitted seamless tubes are strategically intertwined with our core
apparel business and are critical to our Group's overall success.
Not only because the technologies central to the production of
these components, including CAD/CAM technology, heat press
and shaping, hot melt adhesive technology, circular knitted
seamless cut piece and garments, are well integrated as part of our
innovative designs and solutions, they also directly contribute to the
performance of the final garment.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e
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CEO MESSAGE
HEHITE WS

In highly technical apparel products such as intimate apparel, where
performance like fit and comfort are paramount to the long-term
success of the product, our customers expect such a seamlessly
integrated approach, ensuring they get the most innovative and
highest quality solutions and products while having the confidence
in quality and lead time throughout the production process. This
reinforcing mechanism enhances our efforts to have more of our
services and products integrated deeper into our customers’ portfolio
and enhancing our strategic importance in the relationship.

Continual investments in machines, facilities, talent acquisition, and
expertise have been integral to the success of our Strategic Verticality
strategy. Even during the current downturn, in the reporting period,
the Group has made investments in our knitted seamless plant in
Thailand. These investments have already significantly increased
machine efficiency, utilization, and output quality.

In the January of this year, amid recent turbulence in the country
and a challenging business environment, Top Form'’s foam cup
company, Grand Gain Industrial Limited, also opened the Group'’s first
investment in Sri Lanka, with a plant that has a capacity of more than
fifteen million pairs of foam cups a year.

These developments reinforce Top Form strategy of vertical
integration as well as bolster our position as an important supply
chain solution partner in intimate apparel and active wear.

Clear Sustainability Strategy and our Ambitious Targets

While we are resolute in our commitment to delivering periodic
financial performance, our philosophy extends beyond profits. We
believe that, to thrive as a robust and vibrant organization in the long
term, we must contribute positively to addressing the major global
challenges of our time.

Our earlier Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) reports have
outlined a clear Sustainability Strategy, detailing our commitment and
targets. Last year, | alluded at revisiting our GHG emission target with
the aim of setting more ambitious goals for fiscal year 2030. Over the
past year, we have indeed raised our ambitions in carbon emission
reduction, committing to bolder reductions until FY2030. This
extended horizon encompasses our new facilities and integrates their
data from our FY2020 baseline. We're measuring the carbon intensity
of our evolving product mix, propelling decarbonization efforts as we
stride toward a more vertically integrated business model.
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At the core of Top Form'’s mission is the well-being of our workforce.
By integrating safety metrics into our operational KPIs, we've achieved
a remarkable decline in occupational injuries. This year marked our
lowest record of lost-day incidents, a testament to our consistent
execution of Environmental, Health and Safety (EHS) policies. Our
engagement with local communities remains steadfast. In Thailand,
our partnership with community experts empowered 10,000
school children and their families with essential hygiene practices.
Furthermore, our corporate Blood Donation Campaign garnered
immense support, exemplifying our commitment to making a
positive impact beyond our organization.

I'm humbled by the dedication of our employees and EHS teams in
advancing our sustainability goals; | encourage you to explore the
details of our progress in our FY2023 ESG Report.

Top Form’s Strategy and Position Will See Us Through
This Downturn

While the factors affecting our business over the past twelve months
appear to be easing, much remains uncertain about the global
economy’s future trajectory. We maintain a conservative outlook,
acknowledging that our sector could still be affected by downside
risks in consumer sentiment and further changes in the competitive
landscape of apparel sourcing and trading.

While we are disappointed with our FY2023 financial results
stemming from challenging market conditions, our hunger and
opportunism to grow our company remain undiminished. We remain
firm with our commitment to continuously build and develop a
healthy and vibrant organization.

In the coming year, we will accelerate our customer services from our
Commercial Operations Hub in Thailand, invest in capacity and talent
for our component business, maintain our discipline to enhance
our innovation platforms, excel in servicing our current customers,
while onboarding additional brands and retailers, and expanding into
shapewear and activewear across various markets.
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CEO MESSAGE
HREHITE RS

Our strategy is simple, we are focused on growing our
company via innovating for our customers, developing
excellent supply chain and manufacturing solutions
which deepen our relationships with our customers and
supply chain partners to mitigate growing volatility, and
maintaining the best culture while consistently inspiring
and investing in our people.

The success we achieve ultimately stems from the incredible team
of individuals at Top Form. They are the driving force behind our
strategic plans, product creation, customer service, operational
efficiency, and our overall success. Inspiring such a talented group of
individuals to collectively pursue ambitious goals requires creating
an open and respectful environment led by fair and competent
leadership, grounded in a deep sense of humility.

The past years of unprecedented volatility have shown we have
exceptional people led by a dedicated group of leaders who step
up every day to deliver excellence while managing through very
challenging circumstances. I'm humbled and honored to be part of
this team, and I am proud of our achievements thus far. | feel strongly
about the power of our organization and | believe with the strength of
our character Top Form will achieve greater things in the years ahead.

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
Chief Executive Officer

28 September 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The global economy is encountering numerous challenges and
uncertainties amid high inflation, increasing interest rates, reduced
consumer spending, declining corporate profits and ongoing effects
of Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. Geopolitical tensions, weakening
global demand and tighter monetary and fiscal policies have put a
strain on international trade. The consumer demand was adversely
impacted by persistently high inflation in the U.S. and Europe, retailers
and brands were clearing inventory gluts resulting from supply
chain disruptions, which inevitably impacted the Group's revenue.
Besides, the U.S. Federal Reserve hiked interest rates multiple times
throughout the year, bringing the Federal funds rates up at 5.5%,
resulting in an increase in borrowing costs on companies and as a
result, the finance costs for the Group was increased during the year.

During the year, the Group’ revenue was significantly impacted by
our U.S. major customers’ inventory gluts alongside the sluggish
consumer demand. To address this, we have taken proactive
measures to consolidate our manufacturing capacity with the aim
to reduce operating costs and optimize utilization rate, ensuring our
ability to navigate the uncertain market conditions while maintaining
a focus on profitability and sustainable growth. Despite these
significant challenges, the Group remains committed to achieving
our long-term vision and strategy. During the year, we have made
investments in expanding our strategic presence in Asia. These
strategic measures position us to meet the increasing demands of our
customers and navigate the complexities of the market effectively.
We believe that our focus on delivering product innovation and high
quality solutions to our customers will pave the way for us to become
the long-term supply chain partner for our customers, no matter in
good or bad times.

During the year, in monetary terms, 62% of our sales were to the U.S.
market whilst the sales to the Europe represented 21% and the rest
of the world accounted for 17%. From the supply side, the overseas
manufacturing facilities in Asia accounted for 65% of the global
production output whilst China accounted for the remaining 35%
during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR E R W Mo AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the revenue of the Group decreased
by 32% to HK$1,007 million from HK$ 1,482 million for the year ended
30 June 2022. This decrease in revenue was mainly driven by the
significant drop in demand from our brand customers in the U.S.
which was caused by high inventory level, as such the demand from
them has turned more conservative since the second quarter of this
financial year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit decreased from HKS$273.9 million to HK$175.3 million
during the year with gross profit margin decreased from 18.5% to
17.4%. The decrease in gross profit was mainly driven by lower sales
while the decrease in gross profit margin was due to decrease in
proportion of sales of higher margin products.

Other Net Income

Other net income decreased from HK$17.8 million to HK$15.4 million
during the year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decline
in rental income resulted from the depreciations of renminbi ("RMB")
during conversion into Hong Kong dollars.

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses primarily comprised of freight and
transportation costs, employee benefits of sales and sales support
personnel, and customer sample costs. The Group's selling and
distribution expenses amounted to HK$29.2 million for the year
ended 30 June 2023, against HK$37.6 million for the year ended 30
June 2022. The decrease in selling and distribution expenses was
mainly driven by lower sales.

General and Administrative Expenses

The Group's general and administrative expenses amounted to
HK$228.2 million for the year ended 30 June 2023, against HK$231.1
million for the year ended 30 June 2022. The slight decreases
in general and administrative expenses were attributed to a
multifaceted interplay of factors. Firstly, there were favorable impacts
from the reduction in staff-related expenses and the exchange gains.
However, the reduction was offset by additional expenses associated
with the commencement of new operations in Indonesia and Sri
Lanka. Moreover, one off provisions related to factory restructuring,
including a write-off provision of HK$11.8 million, along with one-off
retirement benefits totaling HK$2.4 million, had a negative impact on
the overall expense. These were major financial dynamics accounted
for the fluctuations in general and administrative expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs mainly represent interest expenses on
bank borrowings, interest on lease liabilities and other bank charges.
The finance costs increased from HK$7.9 million for the year ended
30 June 2022 to HK$12.4 million for the year ended 30 June 2023.
The increase in finance costs was primarily driven by the successive
interest rates hikes let to a sharp rise in interest rate.

Loss for the year

The Group recorded a net loss of HK$78.5 million for the year ended
30 June 2023 as compared with the profit after tax of HK$11.5 million
for the year ended 30 June 2022.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group’s bank balances and cash was HK$112.1 million as at
30 June 2023 (at 30 June 2022: HK$136.5 million) whilst total bank
borrowings was HK$123.8 million (at 30 June 2022: HK$115.4 million)
and gearing ratio was 29.5% (at 30 June 2022: 22.8%), which was
calculated as total interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by total
equity. As at 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023, the Group did not have
assets pledged for bank borrowings.

The Group strives to improve the working capital management and
focus on the overall cash conversion cycle days which are calculated
by adding the inventory turnover days and receivables turnover days
and subtracting the payables turnover days. For the year ended 30
June 2023, the cash conversion cycle days were negative 8 days as
compared to positive 16 days in previous year.
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(Days) (Days)
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Inventory turnover days 7 & A 85 5 61 65
Receivables turnover days JE U BR FUE 8 R 2 59 34
Payables turnover days JETBR S E R 128 83
Cash conversion cycle days IR & WA H (8) 16

The cash conversion cycle days decreased from a positive 16 days to
a negative 8 days mainly driven by extension of purchase payment
term and increase in receivables turnover days, resulting from fewer
invoices being discounted in consideration of the interest cost.

Capital expenditure during the year amounted to HK$33.1 million of
which the majority was for the establishment of foam cup factories in
Sri Lanka.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR E R W Mo AT

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates of Euro,
HK dollars, RMB, U.S. dollars, Thai Baht and Indonesia Rupiah. Majority
of the sales revenue are denominated in U.S. dollars, the foreign
exchange exposure in respect of U.S. dollars against HK dollars is
considered minimal as HK dollars pegged with U.S. dollars. The Group
manages its foreign exchange exposure by performing regular review
and by taking prudent measures to minimize the currency translation
risk.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 30 June 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent
liabilities.

REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2023, the Group had employed approximately 6,242
employees (30 June 2022: approximately 7,239 employees).

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are
structured with reference to the prevailing market conditions and
statutory requirements as appropriate. The Group also provides other
staff benefits such as medical insurance, mandatory provident fund
contributions and a share option scheme to its employees.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE AND
CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company completed the rights issue on 19 February 2021,
pursuant to which the Company allotted and issued 86,015,050 new
ordinary shares of the Company to the shareholders of the Company
(the “Shareholders”) on the basis of two rights shares for every five
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) in issue at the subscription price
of $0.50 per rights share (the "Rights Issue”). The net proceeds from
the Rights Issue after deducting the expenses were approximately
HKS$40.4 million. The number of issued ordinary shares of the
Company was 301,052,675 shares upon completion of the Rights
Issue. Further details of the Rights Issue were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 4 November 2020, 21 December 2020, 12
January 2021, 10 February 2021 and 18 February 2021, the circular
of the Company dated 9 December 2020 and the prospectus of the
Company dated 25 January 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8 June
2023 (the “Announcement”), the Board has resolved to change the
use of the unutilised net proceeds to be used as general working
capital. The detailed breakdown and description of the net proceeds,
the revised allocation of the unutilised net proceeds and the
unutilised net proceeds as at 30 June 2023 are set out as follows:
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Unutilised net

proceeds for Utilised net
Utilised net reallocation proceeds from
proceeds as at asatthedate Revisedallocation the date of the Unutilised net
Intendeduse the date of the ofthe  oftheunutilised Announcementto proceedsasat
ofproceeds  Announcement  Announcement net proceeds 30June 2023 30 June 2023
AN BLEREE
BOGEN ZRIZE RIBIZE
RAAERH AEZHF HAER ABZTH AB=TH
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Purchase of santoni EERARZTEZ

machines in Thailand  santoniifé 23 186 93 93 - - -
Increase of investment & IR EIE £ E

in an Indonesian ERAK R A

company ZE 12.9 12.9 - - - -
Construction of the BEEaRE

Myanmar factory B9

facilities 6.4 6.4 - - - -
General working capital —fR&E&E &

(Note) (Bt7) 25 25 - 93 93 -
Total & 404 311 9.3 9.3 9.3 -
Note: K1z
From the date of the Announcement and up to 30 June 2023, BZALTHHEZE T -_=F,"A=1+H " 493
approximately HK$9.3 million was used as general working capital for E BB THEEBRIXARHAZTRE S —KE
staff costs and office rental. BEE o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IR E R W Mo AT

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Transactions in relation to Purchase of Assets, Lease
Agreement and Subscription of BAP Shares

On 29 December 2022, PT Bintang Abadi Persada ("BAP") (as the
seller), a company indirectly owned as to 29.6% by the Company
through Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited (“Top Form Brassiere”)
(indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), and PT Pahlawan
Gunung Jaya ("PGJ") (as the purchaser), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the asset sale and purchase
agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”), pursuant to which
BAP has conditionally agreed to sell and PGJ has conditionally agreed
to purchase the building installations, vehicles, office equipment,
factory equipment and machineries as listed in schedule 1 to the
Sale and Purchase Agreement (the “Assets”) at a purchase price of
US$2,000,000.

On 29 December 2022, BAP (as the landlord) and PGJ (as the tenant)
also entered into the lease agreement of land and building (the
“Lease Agreement”) and the side letter to the Lease Agreement (the
“Side Letter”), pursuant to which BAP has agreed to lease and PGJ has
agreed to take the lease of the factory facility located at Jawa Tengah,
Indonesia (the “Premises”) commencing from 1 January 2023 for a
lease period of 3 years at the monthly rent of US$28,500 plus VAT,
from the 1st to 36th months. The aggregate rental amount for the
lease period of 3 years is US$1,026,000.

BAP and Top Form Brasserie had entered into various loan
agreements dated 1 July 2020, 2 November 2020 and 1 April 2021
(each a “Loan Agreement” and together the “Loan Agreements”)
whereby Top Form Brassiere had lent to BAP an aggregate amount of
US$2,740,000 (the “Loan Amount”).

On 26 December 2022, Top Form Brasserie assigned US$2,342,000 of
the Loan Amount due from BAP to it to PGJ by way of a deed ("Deed
of Assignment”) to set-off against the US$2,000,000 payable by PGJ
under the Sale and Purchase Agreement. The balance of US$342,000
shall be used to set-off against the rental deposit in relation to
the Lease Agreement and the Side Letter owing by PGJ to BAP at
completion of the Sale and Purchase Agreement.

On 29 December 2022, Top Form Brassiere entered into the notarial
deed (the "Subscription Agreement”) with BAP whereby Top Form
Brassiere has agreed to subscribe and BAP has agreed to allot and
issue 480 new BAP shares to Top Form Brassiere at a consideration of
US$400,000. Part of the consideration of US$398,000 is settled by way
of a set-off against the balance amount of the Loan Amount due and
owing by BAP to Top Form Brassiere, and the remaining consideration
of US$2,000is settled by cash to be paid by Top Form Brassiere to BAP.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

After the assignment of US$2,342,000 by Top Form Brassiere to PGJ
as well as the set-off with BAP and after deducting the consideration
of US$398,000 for the allotment of new BAP Shares to Top Form
Brassiere, the amount due and owing under the Loan Agreements
from BAP to Top Form Brassiere would be nil.

Consequent upon completion of the Subscription Agreement, Top
Form Brassiere's shareholding in BAP will increase from 420 BAP
Shares to 900 BAP Shares, representing 47.4% of the total issued
share capital of BAP. BAP will continue to be treated as an associated
company of the Company.

Further details of the above transactions were set out in the
Company’s announcements dated 29 December 2022. As at 30 June
2023, the loans to an associate was nil (30 June 2022: HK$21.3 million).

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant investments,
material acquisitions and disposals by the Group during the year
ended 30 June 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group has no significant events after the reporting period and up
to the date of this report.

OUTLOOK AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Looking ahead, we expect the challenges that suppressed order
demand last year such as high inflation, increasing interest rate and
customers’ inventory pile-up, to gradually ease. Since most of our
customers adopted various marketing strategies to reduce excess
inventory this year, it is expected that the progressive decline in the
inventory-to-sales ratio will pave the way for a rebound in customer
orders in the second half of the financial year ending 30 June 2024.

Despite these headwinds, over the past years, our management
team has always put strict cost control and resources optimization
in principle in every action they take, including building strategic
manufacturing footprints and verticality across Asia, strengthening
relationships with our customers through best-in-class service and
innovative designs, investing in people development, while being
opportunistic to capture profitable businesses. With the foundation
Top Form has set throughout the years, the Group remains confident
that we will successfully navigate through this downturn and position
ourselves to capitalize on the change and opportunities that arise in
the years ahead.
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EENENEBAEBZEEFTE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (E#AJ8), aged 77, has been the Chairman
and an Executive Director since 31 October 2014 and 19 November
1991 respectively. He is also the authorized representative and was
a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company until 31
October 2018. Mr. Wong is the co-founder of the Group and has
taken over the role as Chairman of the Company since 31 October
2014. He is responsible for managing the Board issue and supervising
the management team in adherence to the long term strategic
development of the Group. He attains extensive experience and is
very knowledgeable in the brassiere manufacturing industry. He has
over 57 years of experience in the brassiere trade. He is also a director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong is the father of
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin, both are
Executive Directors of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (ZH8), aged 47, has been an
Executive Director since 1 March 2011, and was the Vice Chairman
of the Company from 22 May 2015 to 23 August 2018. He was
appointed as the Group’s Chief Executive Officer on 24 August 2018
and is responsible for creating and directing the Group's strategy,
managing overall performance, organization and operations. He has
extensive experience in business development, operations, supply
chain, finance and corporate development. He is the authorized
representative of the Company. Mr. Kevin Wong is an alternate
Nomination Committee member to Mr. Kenneth Wong since 19
February 2016. Mr. Kevin Wong joined the Group in 2001 and is a
director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, a principal wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and various subsidiaries of the
Company. He began his career at Deutsche Bank Securities, in New
York City. Mr. Kevin Wong was appointed as a member of the Fashion
and Textile Training Board (FTTB) of the Vocational Training Council
(VTC) in 1 April 2023. Mr. Kevin Wong graduated from Colby College,
the United States of America majoring in Economics and International
Studies in 1998. He was awarded a Master of Business Administration
degree issued jointly by the Kellogg School of Management at
Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2016. He is the holder of the Chartered Financial
Analyst designation. Mr. Kevin Wong is the son of Mr. Wong Chung
Chong and the younger brother of Mr. Kenneth Wong.
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Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (ER &), aged 49, has been an
Executive Director and the Managing Director of the Company since
1 March 2011 and 22 May 2015 respectively. Mr. Kenneth Wong has
been appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company since 19 February 2016. He joined the Group in 1997 and
is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, and various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kenneth Wong is responsible for
the Group'’s business development and marketing functions. He is
the Honorary Chairman of Hong Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’
Association since 1 December 2016. He was a panel member of the
Textile and Clothing Research Projects Assessment under Innovation
and Technology Fund from January 2017 to February 2023. He
was the Vice Chairman of Multi-Textiles and Fashion Accessories
Council for Federation of Hong Kong Industries since 2017 and was
re-designated as the Chairman in July 2021. He was appointed as
a member of the Fashion and Textile Training Board (FTTB) of the
Vocational Training Council (VTC) in 1 April 2023. He holds a Bachelor
degree in Marketing and Operations Management from School of
Management, Boston University in the United States of America and
a Master degree in International Business from Asian Institute of
Technology in Thailand. He has been awarded the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hong Kong 2015 by the Federation of Hong Kong
Industries. Mr. Kenneth Wong is the son of Mr. Wong Chung Chong
and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, aged 69, has been a Non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2002. He also serves as
a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company. He has been appointed as the Chairman
of the board of Van de Velde N. V. since 1 January 2016 and remains
a non-executive director of Van de Velde N. V., the shares of which
are listed on the NYSE Euronext Brussels stock exchange. He is also
an independent director of Alsico, a Belgian garment company and
Brabantia, a Dutch family owned company. He also holds several
mandates in non-profit organisations. Mr. Van de Velde joined the
brassiere industry in 1981 and is well versed in operating the brassiere
business in Europe. Mr. Van de Velde is the father of Ms. Lien Van de
Velde.
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Ms. Lien Van de Velde, aged 41, is the Department Head of the
Innovation team under Design department of Van de Velde N. V.
She leads a team of technical experts in the field of product
and process innovation, 3D modeling and sustainability, and is
responsible for creating the innovation strategy road map, taking
into account market and consumer trends, emerging technologies
and the overall innovation strategic plan of Van de Velde N. V.
Ms. Van de Velde has over 15 years of experience in technical design
development and innovation and brand management of lingerie.
Ms. Van de Velde holds a Master Degree in Cultural and Creative
Management from the University of Antwerp and a Master Degree
of Arts in Linguistics and Literature (classics) from the University of
Ghent. Ms. Van de Velde is the daughter of Mr. Herman Van de Velde.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (R4 ), aged 58, has been
an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
September 2008. Prior to this, she had been an Executive Director
of the Company since February 1998 and re-designated as a
Non-executive Director in April 1999. She also serves as a member
of the Audit Committee, the Compensation Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Leung is a seasoned
investment banker with 30 years of corporate finance experience in
Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan. Ms. Leung is currently an
executive director of Altus Holdings Limited (stock code: 8149), a
company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (R &%), aged 76, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since May 2006.
He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee, and a member of the Compensation Committee.
Mr. Leung was the Chief Executive Officer of a leading construction
materials company. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Leung was the Past Chairman of the Hong
Kong Cement Traders and Producers Association and the Past
Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Materials Association.
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Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy (/K& i), GBS, MBE, JP, FCILT, aged 63, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 2006. Mr. Lin also serves as the chairman of the Compensation
Committee of the Company and a member of both Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee of the Company. He holds a Bachelor of
Science degree from Babson College in the United States of America
and is the Managing Director of Milo’s Knitwear (International)
Limited. Mr. Lin was the Chairman of Hong Kong Productivity Council
until 5 August 2022 and he is currently the Chairman of The Hong
Kong Shippers’ Council and Honorary Chairman of Textile Council
of Hong Kong, a member of the HKSAR's Logistics Development
Council, Maritime and Port Board, Trade and Industry Advisory Board,
an Ex-officio member of Committee on Innovation, Technology and
Re-industrialisation, a Committee Member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Committee of Jieyang, Guangdong, Honorary
Trade Advisor of Ministry of Commerce of Thailand and Honorary
Consul of the Slovak Republic in Hong Kong and Macao. Mr. Lin was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Tradelink
Electronic Commerce Limited, a company listed on Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 536) with effect from 12 May 2023.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Pang Kin Wah (Zf£%E), aged 50, is the Chief Financial Officer
of the Group. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and he has earned the professional designation of
Certified Internal Auditors (CIA) from the Institute of Internal Auditors.
Mr. Pang has extensive experience in areas of financial reporting,
internal control, auditing and financial management. Before joining
the Group, he held senior positions in various companies listed on
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Pang holds a Master’s degree of Business
and Administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong and
Bachelor’s degree of Arts in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

Ms. Tse Ting Ting (#151F), aged 55, is the Chief People Officer of
the Group. She oversees all aspects of human resources management
for the Group and assists in developing the Group's strategy in
relation to human capital. She joined the Group in September 2018
and has over 30 years of experience in human resources roles with
more than 10 years in regional management roles at multinational
corporations and business with large workforce. She holds a Master's
degree in Business Administration from the University of Hull.
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Mr. Michael Allen Lurer, aged 48, is Top Form’s Group Director of
Manufacturing. He is responsible for all production operations of the
Group, including facilities development, operations, administration
and compliance. He joined the Group in 1997 as a graduate trainee
and has been stationed in various locations of the Group in China and
South East Asia. He has over 20 years of experience in intimate apparel
manufacturing. He holds a Bachelor degree in International Trade and
Foreign Business from Dalian University.

Mr. Ng Chi Keong (R % 58), aged 61, joined the Group in May 2021
as Group Technology Director. He is responsible for the Group's
Information Technology function. He leads the technology teams
across the Group to manage the Group's technology needs and
execution of technology initiatives. Mr. Ng has 30 years of experience
in Information Technology in Asia Pacific and the United States.
He has worked across a mix of businesses ranging from apparel
manufacturing, retailers and supply chain software companies. He
holds an MBA degree in Information and Decision Systems from San
Diego State University.

Mr. Eduardo Portabella, aged 51, is the Group Technical Director
and the Executive Director of Grand Gain Industrial Limited (“Grand
Gain”"), a subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in June
2016 and was appointed Group Technical Director in April 2020. He
is responsible for leading the Group's technical and industrial design,
and business development and product innovation for Grand Gain,
the polyurethane foam cup subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Portabella
has extensive experience in business development, manufacturing
and supply chain operations, project management, and engineering.
He holds a Doctoral degree in Electrical Engineering from Technical
University of Braunschweig.

Mr. So Kwok Leong Jeffrey (8Bl 52), aged 48, is the Vice President -
Sales Operations of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He is
responsible for Customer Service, Demand Planning and Material
Forecasting. He joined the Group in 2007 as the leader of the sales
and marketing function for the wholesale and retail business of the
Group. He has since led sales teams for major US and EU accounts, and
led various strategic projects for different functions of the Group. He
assumed his current position in 2019. Mr. So holds a Master degree in
Business Administration from the University of Manchester.

Mr. Wong Chor Wai (E# &), aged 55, is the Planning Director of
Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He is responsible for Top Form'’s
Planning and Supply Chain functions including Master Planning,
Material Requirement Planning, and Logistics. Mr. Wong joined the
Group in 1989 and through his career in Top Form he has taken
leadership positions in Sales, Customer Service, Material Control,
and Administration. He is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co.,
Limited. He holds a Bachelor degree in Science from the University of
Hong Kong.
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The Board present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are the design, manufacture and
distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion
on the Group's future business development and uncertainties and
an analysis of the performance using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 5 to 6,
the CEO Message on pages 7 to 12 and the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 13 to 19 of this annual report. The principal
risks facing the Group are set out in the Management Discussion
and Analysis on pages 13 to 19 and the financial risk management
objective and policies detailed in note 25(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2023 are set out in
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page 72 of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2023 (for the year ended 30 June 2022: nil).

No interim dividend for the six months ended 31 December 2022 has
been paid to the Shareholders during the year ended 30 June 2023
(for the six months ended 31 December 2021: nil).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS
Entitlement to attend and vote at the 2023 AGM

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 27 November 2023 to Thursday, 30 November
2023 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of determining the
shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting on 30 November 2023 (the "AGM"). During
that period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
for the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 24 November 2023.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the past five financial years is set out on page 4.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognizes the importance of a robust environmental,
social and governance (ESG) performance in meeting the
expectations of various stakeholders. We are committed to
complying with the relevant environmental laws, standards and
policies prevailing in the countries or jurisdictions in which the
Group principally operates. The details of the Group’s ESG policies
and performance will be covered in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which will be published separately.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Company was not aware of
any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are one of the greatest assets of the Company. The Group
is committed to continuously grow and cultivate its pool of talent to
build sustainable business. The Group provides resources for training
and development opportunities for the employees. The Group also
offers competitive remuneration package to its employees. Staff
performance is measured on a regular and structured basis to provide
employees with appropriate feedback and to ensure their alignment
with the Group’s corporate strategy.

26

EERERMBFEEFE
HE-_S-_=FRRBEASIRG LK
E2ER
AEETREEFER-_ZE-_=F+—A=1+RH(2
HRPO) BT 2 EERR AT A ([RREEF AT )
WTHREEREZER ARRIZBRHBPER
BERAEUN -_E-_=—+—A-++B8 (8
B EZT_=F+—A=+RH(ZHM L=
WERMNBPELTFE  BHEIASEZRTMAR
MBFE BTERRELERIRBFASEYR S
FREEZER FTERMGBL XIHFERMERK
EREAR_E-_=F+—A=-+WmABA(E8H)
THFNUE =+ DR RERRFBZEBRDBEP
ERPESEWETFERAR MU AES
ERBIRERSBAPOINTE  PIEBRLTFE -

EFHEREE
AEBBERANHREE ¥ EREEREE
WESNF4E o

RERBEERE
AEERAMREONRE HEREBRRRY
HaTRBNENREZEEN -ANEFBHS
BTAEEIELEMERRARDERRRT
MABREER THMERK BEEAKER
S HEREABRRERBZFBHRNEEL
T ZIRE HEREBRET -

BFHEBEERAAZIBER

HE_ZT_=FA=1THLEFE FrRa¥
TRBEA AT AEEERERBO 2 BERE AN
SEEKRBEZE

HES FFRFRHEB2EZERHE

BER/RARAREREEZ — - AKEBHAIT
BT R IEE AN - MR AT EERER -
AEEREERZREBIEIRERES -
AEBTREBERBEABRF I ZHMWMTE -
BETRABMEMREBCELEGE  URER
REEE 2 RERRERE EAEE R -

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2023



KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (continued)

The Group has developed long-standing and good relationships
with its customers and suppliers. The Group serves the customers
and suppliers as business partners. The Group endeavours to provide
quality service to its customers and works closely with the suppliers to
ensure their awareness on quality requirements of the materials and
quality control effectiveness.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 30 June 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity shareholders of the Company was
HK$218,680,000 (2022: HK$235,220,000).

BANK LOANS

Details of unsecured bank loans the Group as at 30 June 2023 are set
out in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Herman Van de Velde
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu (retired on 16 September 2022)
Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys
(retired on 18 November 2022)
Ms. Lien Van de Velde
(appointed on 18 November 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management”.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

In accordance with bye-law 87(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least once
every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth, Mr. Leung
Ying Wah, Lambert and Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming AGM. Except Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy who does not offer
himself for re-election, other retiring Directors, namely Mr. Wong Kai
Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy has confirmed to the Board that he has no
disagreement with the Board and that there is no matter in relation
to his retirement that needs to be brought to the attention to the
Shareholders.

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than statutory compensation.

The non-executive Directors have not been appointed for a specific
term but will be subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws.

The Board proposed to appoint Mr. Wang Man Hon, Sidney
(“Mr. Wang") as an independent non-executive Director to fill up the
vacancy opened from the retirement of Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy with
effect from the conclusion of the AGM, subject to the approval by the
Shareholders at the AGM. For details of the retirement of independent
non-executive Directors, proposed appointment of independent
non-executive Director and the biographical details of Mr. Wang,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated on 20
October 2023 and the circular of the Company dated 30 October
2023 in relation to the AGM.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE ON
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The Company
has assessed their independence and concluded that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 20 to 24 of the annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has been for the past 41 years conducting transactions
with Van de Velde N. V. ("VdV") by supplying ladies’ intimate apparel to
VdV. VdV is a connected person of the Company by virtue of it being
a substantial shareholder of the Company holding approximately
25.66% of the issued share capital of the Company. Given (i)
Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a non-executive Director of the Company,
is the chairman of VdV and Ms. Lien Van de Velde, a non-executive
Director of the Company, is an associate of Mr. Herman Van de Velde
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules; (i) Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys, a
former non-executive Director of the Company in the last 12 months,
was the non-executive director of VdV; and (iii) Mr. Herman Van de
Velde and the two daughters of Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys (associates of
Mr. Lucas AM. Laureys under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules) hold
an indirect equity interest of 56.26% in VdV via a jointly controlled
corporation and therefore they are deemed to be connected persons
of the Company.

All transactions between VdV and the Group would constitute
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected
Transactions”) pursuant to the Listing Rules. Accordingly, a master
agreement dated 18 September 2005 (the “Master Agreement”) had
been entered into between VdV and the Company to govern the
Continuing Connected Transactions and to set annual caps for the
Continuing Connected Transactions in respect of the three financial
years ended 30 June 2008.

The Company had renewed the Master Agreement five times with
VdV with regard to the sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by the Group
to VdV. The 5th renewal agreement (“the 5th Renewal Agreement”)
dated 7 April 2020 entered into between VdV and the Company
expired on 30 June 2023 and the Group expects that the continuing
connected transactions will continue on a recurring basis, the
Company entered into the 6th renewal agreement (the “6th Renewal
Agreement”) dated 17 April 2023 with VdV to renew the terms of
the Master Agreement for a further three years commencing from 1
July 2023 and ending on 30 June 2026 to continue the sale of ladies’
intimate apparel by the Group to VdV.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

An announcement dated 17 April 2023 and a circular dated 22
May 2023 regarding the renewal of the Continuing Connected
Transactions contemplated under the 6th Renewal Agreement and
the relevant annual caps set for the three financial years ending 30
June 2026 of HK$130 million, HK$140 million and HK$150 million
respectively had been published and dispatched to Shareholders and
an approval had been obtained from Independent Shareholders of
the Company on 8 June 2023.

Details of the Continuing Connected Transactions conducted during
the year under review were set out below:

BAERXS @)

AR -_ZFT_=—FMOAt+LtEZAERBEHA
CEC=FARA T ZRZBR(AEREREN
ERANEFGERTRETHERERIFI A

BT RFARAAZTHILE=ZAVYBRFEZE
FFEE LR (DBIAI30BEB T 140888 T

KisoaBRAT)EHNERTFHTRE IR _-F
T=FRANBERRRBMLIRRAE

REBFEETZHEBERZFHEEHIIMT

Nature of the continuing
connected transactions

Name of the connected person

HEATER

Annual cap set for the

year ended 30 June 2023
BE-_F_-=

Amount RNRA=tTHLEE

e ZFEELR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FET

VdV Sale of ladies’ intimate apparel
by the Group to VdV

A& B FVAVH & K AK

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange,
the Independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
conducted an annual review and confirmed to the Board that during
the year the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered
into:

1. inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
2. onnormal commercial terms; and
3. inaccordance with the agreement governing such transactions

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised)
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions set out above in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

LOANS TO AN ASSOCIATE

As at 30 June 2023, the loans to an associate was nil (30 June 2022:
HKS$21,290,000). Details of the loans to an associate are set out in note
14 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed
under the section headed “Connected Transactions” above, there
were no transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any one of the Directors of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, the following Directors were considered to have
interests in the following business, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules:

Mr. Herman Van de Velde, the Chairman of the board of VdV and
non-executive director of VdV, has an indirect interest in Van de Velde
Holding N. V. which held a direct interest of 56.26% in VdV whose
principal business activity is the manufacture and marketing of luxury
lingerie. The Board considers the business of VdV may indirectly
compete with the business of the Group.

Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys (retired on 18 November 2022) was the
non-executive director of VdV whose principal business activity is the
manufacture and marketing of luxury lingerie. The Board considers
that the business of VdV may indirectly compete with the business of
the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
(continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors during the year has
any interest in businesses which compete or may compete with the
business of the Group, or have or may have any other conflicts of
interest with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme”, no rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any Director
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were
any such rights exercised by them, nor was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors of the
Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them
may incur about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their
respective offices.

Throughout the year, the Company has maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance, which provides cover for the Directors of
the Company and its subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Old Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3 November
2011 (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for a period of 10 years for
the purpose to enable the Company to grant share options to
eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Group. The Board could grant options to eligible employees,
including directors, executives or officers of the Company and its
subsidiaries and any other persons at the discretion of the Board to
subscribe for shares in the Company (the “Shares”). The Old Share
Option Scheme expired on 2 November 2021.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Old Share Option Scheme (continued)

Under the Old Share Option Scheme, the number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. Share options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors in any 12-month period in
excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital and with a value
in excess of HKS5 million on the date of offer must be approved in
advance by the Company’s independent shareholders. The share
options granted must be taken up within 14 days of the date of offer,
upon payment of HKS1 per grant. Share options may generally be
exercised at any time from the second anniversary of the date of
acceptance to the tenth anniversary of the date of acceptance or may
at the Board's discretion determine the specific exercise period. The
exercise price is determined by the Board, and will not be less than the
highest of the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
offer and the average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer and the nominal value
of the Company’s shares. The validity period of the share options
would be for 5 years. All the share options shall be vested and
exercisable from the third anniversary of the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2023, 21,314,952 share options granted under the
Old Share Option Scheme remain outstanding and all outstanding
options will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with
the terms of Old Share Option Scheme. As at 30 June 2023 and as
at the date of this annual report, the numbers of shares that may be
issued in respect of share options granted under the Old Share Option
Scheme were 4,714,952 and 1,885,981 respectively (30 June 2022: 0),
representing approximately 1.57% and 0.63% respectively (30 June
2022: 0%) of the total issued share capital of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The Old Share Option Scheme (continued)
Details of movements of the share options granted under the Old

Share Option Scheme during the year ended 30 June 2023 were as

follows:
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Directors

gz

Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
ERRRE

Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
BERE

Directors' associates
ESVHEA

Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith®
EhE SR

Employees
8
Inaggregate

4

Total
@t
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30 September 2019
ZE-NENAZTE

24 September 2021
“E_-EAAZTEA

30 September 2019
ZE-NENR=TR

24 September 2021
ZRC-EAAZTIA

24 September 2021
ZRC-EAAZTIA

30 September 2019
“FAERAZE

24 September 2021
el 1 e

10447

058

10442

058

058

1,042

058

30 September 2022 to
29 September 2024
ZECZENACSTRE
“ZMEAAZTAR

24 September 2024 to
23 September 2026
“TCRENA_TREE
ZRIAEAACZTER

30 September 2022 to
29 September 2024
ZB_CEARZTRE
ZECMEAAZTAR

24 September 2024 to
23 September 2026
ZE-MEAAZTHER
“ECREAAZTER

24 September 2024 to
23 September 2026
ZZCRENACTHAE
ZFFARCTER

30 September 2022 to
29 September 2024
“TCZENR=TRE
ZEZREAAZTAR

24 September 2024 to
23 September 2026
ZZCRENACTRAE
CROAFAAZTER

24522 - - - 24572
300,000 - - - 300,000
24522 - - - 24522
300,000 - - - 300,000
300,000 - - - 300,000
4265908 - - - 465,908
15,700,000 - - - 15700000
21,314,952 - - - 21314952
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The Old Share Option Scheme (continued)

Notes:

(1) The closing prices of the Shares immediately before the share options granted
on 30 September 2019 and 24 September 2021 were HKS$1.15 and HK$0.58
respectively.

(2) Upon the completion of the Rights Issue on 19 February 2021, the exercise price
of the outstanding share options granted on 30 September 2019 was adjusted
from HK$1.172 per share to HK$1.044 per share. Details of which was set out in the
Company's announcement dated 18 February 2021.

(3) Mr. Wong Kai Chun, Keith, is the younger brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin and
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth.

All the above outstanding share options shall be vested on the third
anniversary of the respective date of grant. Except for the vesting
period, there is no minimum holding period before the exercise of the
share options.

In respect of the share options granted on 24 September 2021, the
total fair value was estimated at HK$2,297,614, of which the fair value
of the share options granted to the directors, a director’s associate
and the employees of the Group were HK$83,046, HK$41,523 and
HKS$2,173,045 respectively. The total fair value of the share options
granted on 30 September 2019 was estimated at HK$1,148,660, of
which the fair value of the share options granted to the directors
and the employees of the Group were HK$77,612 and HKS$1,071,048
respectively.

Further details of the accounting standards and policy adopted for
calculation of fair value of the share options are set out in note 2(j) and
note 22 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

The New Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16 November
2021 (the "New Share Option Scheme”). The purpose of the New
Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain and motivate
high-calibre employees to strive towards long term strategy and
goals of the Group and to enable the Company to grant share options
to eligible participants (the “Eligible Participants”) as incentives
and rewards for their contribution to the Group. A summary of the
principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme is set out below:

(i) Eligible Participants shall include (i) any employees, executives,
officers or directors holding salaried office or employment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and any directors
(including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, who as considered
by the Board have contributed to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; and (i) any consultants or advisers who will or have
provided services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

36

Subject to earlier termination by the Company’s shareholders in
general meeting or by the Board, the New Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing
from the adoption date.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares, representing 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options may
be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not
permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue
at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company's
shareholders. Share options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors in any 12-month
period in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s issued share capital
and with a value in excess of HK$5 million on the date of offer
must be approved in advance by the Company’s independent
shareholders.

The option period shall be the period commencing after the
second anniversary of the date of acceptance or such period as
the Board may in its absolute discretion to determine, save that
such period shall not exceed 10 years from the offer date.

An offer of the grant of share options may be accepted within 14
days from the date of offer. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
by the grantee on acceptance of the grant of an option.

The subscription price of a share in respect of an option
granted under the New Share Option Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Board and shall be at least the highest of (a)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date; (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five Business Days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (c) the nominal value of the Shares.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The New Share Option Scheme (continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2023, no share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New Share Option Scheme.
The remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme is around 8 years
and 4 months.

As at 1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023, the number of share options
available for grant under the New Share Option Scheme was
30,105,267, representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report. As at 30 June 2023, the
number of shares may be issued in respect of share options granted
under the New Share Option Scheme was nil.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during
the year ended 30 June 2023.

DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors or
the chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
"SFO"), which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be entered
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS

(continued)

EEYSRITHRAEZER @)

TR
KRG R EE0508 T2 ZiEAR

Long positions:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company

Number of Percentage
Number of share options of the issued
issued ordinary held Total share capital
shares held (note 1) Interests  of the Company
Name of Director Capacity FrEEsT HMEEREHE ERARBES
EEpg gt LERYUE (M) mER REEDL
I Y B Y D
Mr. Wong Chung Chong Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse and a 89,952,724 - 89,952,724 29.88%
BINARAE controlled corporation and persons acting in concert
(note 2)
BRBERARMRBRREMEEREL
BER-BIBAL (Hi2)
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Interests held by a controlled corporation and persons 89,428,202 - 89,952,724 29.88%
ERELE acting in concert (note 3)
MRENEERE RER —HTBAL (WE3)
Beneficial owner - 524522
ERBERA
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth Persons acting in concert (note 4) 89,428,202 - 89,952,724 29.88%
BERMERE —BABAL (M)
Beneficial owner - 524522
ERERA
Mr.Herman Van de Velde Interests held by a controlled corporation (note 5) 77,258,590 - 77,258,590 25.66%
Herman Van de Velde’t £ mX AR < B (H5s)
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert Beneficial owner 112,000 - 112,000 0.04%
REELAE ERERA
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Beneficial owner 19,745 - 19,745 0.01%

RenA
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS

(continued)

Notes:

1. Details of the share options granted to the Directors by the Company are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report.

2. 6,474,304 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Chung Chong ("Mr. Wong")
whereas 308,000 shares were held by Ms. Chen He Lin, the spouse of Mr. Wong
and 73,245,645 shares were registered in the name of High Union Holdings Inc.
("High Union”), the shares of which were held by Mr. Wong. 8,575,731 shares were
registered in the name of Triple Gains Ventures Limited (“TGV"), 41.36% equity
interest of which was held by Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin ("Mr. Kevin Wong"), and
9,924,775 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Wong who was a party to
certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571)
apply.

3. 8,575,731 shares were held by TGV, 41.36% equity interest of which was held by
Mr. Kevin Wong, and 80,852,471 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kevin
Wong who was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or
(b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

4. 89,428,202 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kenneth Wong who was a
party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap.
571) apply.

5. 77,258,590 shares were held by VdV. Mr. Herman Van de Velde held an indirect
equity interest in Van de Velde Holding N.V. which in turn directly held 56.26% of
the equity interest of VdV.

Certain nominee shares in the Company’s subsidiaries were held by
Mr. Wong in trust for the Company’s subsidiaries as at 30 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor his/her associates
had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and
as far as was known to the Directors of the Company, persons (other
than the Directors) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO were as follows:
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4. EREEERERBEREMNESNEESFRPEGIE
31I7(MN@&/SHbEBAZE T HEZIT N HHIREER
1489,428,202% A 17 F HE A HE A o

5. 77,258,5900% A% 13 E3VAVEE B © Herman Van de Velde’t
HEREERE B Van de Velde Holding NV.Z B # » fVan de
Velde Holding N.V.2I B 12 #5 B VAV HE 2 56.26% ©

RZBEZ=ZFR"A=1+RH EBFTEKQaAMEL
AZREABRMERELEEUEAEAREAF
MEBARFEE -

BREXFEEBEEIN SEFHEBEALHE
KA R R S E AT A AR BEOX B 2 A B fp - 18
B EHFF R EAERIORR

FTERRER

RZBZ=ZFRA=1TRH REARFZRKE
FRBEGAFEBMHEFZIEZRRELME
B MBARBERRA AT AL (EERIN)
RAREZDXEREBO P ERBERIEES R
HEROIEXVERE2 R E370 Ff 2 X AR AR A
W ERIORR

39



DIRECTORS REPORT
BEEEWME

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS (continued) T ERREZ (@)

Long positions: HE:
Ordinary shares of HKS0.50 each of the Company /N

B &AL T (B 0.5078 7T 2 Z3E %

Name of Shareholder Capacity
BRRESREB 55

Percentage of
Number of the issued share

issued ordinary capital of the
shares held Company
e ®iT (ERAFTSRT
EEREE BRAE DL

High Union Beneficial owner and persons acting in
concert (note 1)

BEalA AN —BITEA L (HEED)

TGV Beneficial owner and persons acting in
concert (note 2)

BB AR —BIT#AL (H5E2)

Vdv Beneficial owner
EREAA
Mr. David Michael Webb Beneficial owner and interests held by a
controlled corporation (note 3)
David Michael Webb %t 4 EnEB ARBIEGEEFE 2
R (M1EE3)
Notes: (T

1. 73,245,645 shares were beneficially owned by High Union whereas 16,707,079 1.
shares were deemed to be interested by High Union which was a party to certain
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

2. 8,575,731 shares were beneficially owned by TGV whereas 81,376,993 shares were 2.
deemed to be interested by TGV which was a party to certain agreements to which
sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

3. 15,802,280 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. David Michael Webb and 3.
11,239,720 shares were held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited, the shares of
which were held by Mr. David Michael Webb.

89,952,724 29.88%
89,952,724 29.88%
77,258,590 25.66%
27,042,000 8.98%

73,245,6450% i 1 B5High UnionE = # A + MHigh Union
EABBEPEEFHFRBEEEHEI70)@) K%
(DEBER 2B T2 51475 M #R /2 5816,707,0798%
Binh B R -

8,575 73 1M AR D RTGVE = A » MTGVIEB B B AHIE
STNEBEHRBEBRAEN7OE R SbEERZET
B Z 7] 4977 A 1R B 181,376,993 R 15 P kA e ax o

15,802,2808% f% 15 FiDavid Michael Webbst A B 25 A
i11,239,7208% f% 19 FAPreferable Situation Assets Limited
(H %5 FaDavid Michael Webbe B )15 H

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE BE HESEBELOARQAT LmHES

COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold REBE T = XA=+BILFE XA 7
or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during the year ended 30 S HFMMMEB AR MEREE HEER AN
June 2023. AT A AR o
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws in Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The respective percentages of the Group’s purchases from major
suppliers and revenue attributable to major customers for the year
ended 30 June 2023, were as follows:

- Percentage of purchases attributable to the Group’s 19%
largest supplier

- Percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five ~ 42%
largest suppliers

- Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's 34%
largest customer

- Percentage of revenue attributable to the Group's five 85%

Iargest customers

During the year, Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a Non-executive Director
of the Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which is one of the
Group's five largest customers.

All transactions between the Group and the customers concerned
were carried out on normal commercial terms.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
HK$32,000 (2022: HK$28,100).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
as authorised by the shareholders at the general meetings, with
reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and
the results of the Group. Details of remuneration of Directors on an
individual basis are disclosed in this report.

The Group established a Compensation Committee in 2001 and its
functions and duties are, inter alia, to review and recommend to the
Board the overall remuneration policy of the Group as well as the
remuneration packages for executive Directors.
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group's retirement benefit schemes is set out in
note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended 30 June
2023 as required under the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance principles and practices and has throughout
the year, except for the deviations stated and explained in the
Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 44 to 63 of this
report, complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code, Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules of the Stock
Exchange.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange as its own code for dealing
in securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific
enquiry made with all Directors, the Company considers that the
Directors complied with the required standard as set out in the Model
Code throughout the year under review.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the
Company’s external auditors, have reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed risk
management and internal controls systems and financial reporting
matters, and reviewed the financial results for the year ended 30 June
2023.
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AUDITORS

KPMG, the former auditor of the Company, resigned as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 5 May 2023 and SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited ("ShineWing") was appointed by the Board with effect from 5
May 2023 as auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2023 have been audited by ShineWing who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of ShineWing as the Company’s auditors will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman
Hong Kong

28 September 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
SHEABE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance principles and practices with an emphasis on enhancing
transparency and accountability and ensuring the application of these
principles and practices throughout the Group, striving to deliver
long term values to shareholders and drive sustainable growth for the
stakeholders.

The Company has, throughout the year under review, complied with
the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code"), Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules of
the Stock Exchange, except for the following deviation:

Code Provision B.2.2 provides that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. The Chairman shall not, while
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors to retire each
year. In the opinion of the Board, it is important for the stability and
growth of the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of
leadership in the role of Chairman and, in consequence, the Board is
of the view that the Chairman should not be subject to retirement by
rotation or hold office for a limited term at the present time.

The Board is pleased to present the key corporate governance
principles and practices followed by the Company during the year.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, including three executive Directors, two non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The list of
Directors is set out in this report under the section headed “Corporate
Information”. The non-executive Directors are not appointed for a
specific term. All Directors, except for the Chairman, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at least once every three years
in accordance with the Company's Bye-laws.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

(continued)

The Board collectively determines the overall strategies and monitors
the performance of the Group. The Chairman, Mr. Wong Chung
Chong focuses on managing the Board issues and supervising
the management team in adherence to the long term strategic
development of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Wong Kai
Chung, Kevin is responsible for creating and directing the Group's
strategy, managing overall performance, organization and operations.
He has extensive experience in business development, operations,
supply chain, finance and corporate development. The Managing
Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth is responsible for the Group's
business development and marketing functions. The Chairman
plays a key role in driving corporate governance development and a
leading role in the corporate governance function held by the Board.
Mr. Wong Chung Chong is the father of Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin. Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth is the elder
brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin. Mr. Herman Van de Velde is the
father of Ms. Lien Van de Velde, both are non-executive Directors.

The daily management, operation and administration functions of
the Company are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management. All the significant issues are reported to the Board on a

regular basis.

There is a prescribed list of matters reserved for Board approval,
including:

long-term objectives and strategies;

ii. audited financial statements and associated materials; review
and approve interim and final results announcements and
quarterly operational updates; convening general meetings;

iii. recommendations as to dividend;

iv. appointment, removal or re-designation of Directors;

V. remuneration of non-executive Directors and changes in
terms and conditions of employment of executive Directors;

Vi material connected transactions;

vii. material acquisitions, disposals or joint-venture arrangements;
viii. material raising of external finance;

iX. appointment and removal of external auditors;
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION

(continued)

X. annual capital expenditure budget;

Xi. matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director; and

Xii. create, issue, purchase, redeem or otherwise reorganize the
Company'’s share capital.

For any matters that involve a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or Director, such matters are considered and approved by
the full Board except those Directors who have conflict of interests in
such matters.

Directors are provided at quarterly Board meetings with
comprehensive reports on the management’s strategic plans,
updates on business, financial objectives, plans and actions.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board represents a well-balanced mixture
of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Review of the Board
composition is made regularly by the nomination committee of the
Company.

The composition of the Board by category is disclosed in all corporate
communications and the updated biographical details of the
Directors are set out in annual reports under the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” and on the
website of the Company. A list of names of Directors and their roles
and functions is also published on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being or, if the number is
not three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from office. The Chairman shall not, whilst
holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year.

In the opinion of the Board, it is important for the stability and
growth of the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of
leadership in the role of Chairman and, in consequence, the Board is
of the view that the Chairman should not be subject to retirement by
rotation.or hold office for a limited term at the present time.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, any Director appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his/
her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such
meeting.

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS

The Board held four regular meetings during the year ended 30 June
2023. Regular Board meetings are scheduled at least three months in
advance to give Directors the opportunity to include matters in the
agenda and at least 14 days formal notice is given before each regular
Board meeting. The Board papers and related materials are circulated
to Directors three days prior to Board meetings and Board committee
meetings.

The Directors are given an opportunity to comment on draft Board
minutes and minutes of Board committee meetings which are sent
to Directors within a reasonable time frame of the relevant meeting.
The signed minutes are placed on record after the same have been
reviewed and agreed amongst the Board members and are open for
inspection at any time by Directors.

The Company established mechanism to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. The Directors participate in Board
meetings with open discussions, the independent non-executive
Directors are encouraged to bring independent judgments and
provide impartial advice to the Board. They perform their duties as
independent non-executive Directors by actively participating the
Board meetings, committees meetings and general meetings. The
Directors at all times have full and timely access to all the information
of the Group. In addition, the Directors can obtain independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense
of the Company for discharging their duties. The Board reviewed
the implementation of the mechanism and considered that such
mechanism is effective.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETINGS (continued)

The attendance of the Directors at Board meetings, committee
meetings and the general meetings of the Company during the year
ended 30 June 2023 were as follows:

EXg ESCSZEEERBRRRAE
(&)

REBEE-_Z-_=F A=1tHILFE TEF
HEEEEEE ZBESRABRRAGZH
[ErRCERFEIBEILAT ¢

I
Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

BRLREAY AERHEEERY

Audit Compensation  Nomination General
Committee Committee Committee Meetings*
ENZEE FMZEEE REZES BRRAE*

Board
-
Executive Directors HiTEZ
Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) Z1LA %% (/) 4/4
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin BRUREA (BEHTE) 4/4
(Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BENERE(EFLEE) 4/4
(Managing Director)
Non-executive Directors EHITES
Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Veldet & 4/4
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu BREAEE(R=F=-Z 1
(retired on 16 September 2022) FARFHRE)
Mr. Lucas AM. Laureys Lucas AM. Laureys 5 4 11
(retired on 18 November 2022) (R—F-—#F+—FH
FAHRE)
Ms. Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de Velde® = 313
(appointed on 18 November 2022)  (R=ZZFE=—F+—f
T/ HEZF)
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHITES
Directors
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Rl 5/ MA 4/4
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert RRERE 3/4
Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy MEREE 4/4

*

An annual general meeting was held on 18 November 2022 (the "AGM") and a
special general meeting was held on 8 June 2023 during the year.

Board Committees

The Board has delegated some of its function to the Board
committees, namely Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Nomination Committee. All the Committees have been
established with clear and specific terms of reference in accordance
with the requirements of the Code and the terms of reference are
available for review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. Each Board committees reports to the Board their
respective decisions and recommendations after the relevant
meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members, including
Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (chairman of Audit Committee),
Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny and Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy, all being
independent non-executive Directors.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee reviews the
Group's financial information and oversees the financial reporting
system, risk management and internal control systems. The
Committee also approves the scope of work of the Internal Audit
Department and oversees the relationship with the external auditors.

Two meetings have been held during the year ended 30 June 2023.
The principal work performed by the Committee during the year
ended 30 June 2023 included the followings:

- review of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2023 and for the six months ended 31
December 2022 and recommending such financial statements
to the Board for their approval and adoption;

- discussions with the external auditors and reporting to the
Board any significant matters arising from the interim review and
annual audit;

- review of the audit reports submitted by Internal Audit
Department regarding the systems of internal control and risk
management;

- review and approval of the audit planning;
- review of the Continuing Connected Transactions;

- reviewing the Whistleblowing Policy and the Anti-Bribery Policy,
with recommendations to the Board for approval;

- recommending to the Board on the re-appointment of the
Company'’s external auditors at the annual general meeting; and

- recommending to the Board on the appointment of SHINEWING
(HK) CPA Limited as the Company's external auditors for the
year ended 30 June 2023 to fill the casual vacancy following
the resignation of KPMG; and approving the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the new external auditor.

The Committee was satisfied as to the overall effectiveness of the

internal controls and risk management process during the year under
review.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e

TEERRSE

EXxe EESZESERNRELRE
(&)

EREEE

BERLEEERBHR= %ﬁa@ﬁ'@%%ﬁﬁ
LA (BERZESXRE) RERPNEERKER
da ﬁﬁ&i#ﬂﬂ%%

REABRESRE ZEEHAKEZYBE
MUSERVERARGE RREERABEE
A TEUAABECBAZ TERERESR
B HNIEAZ BRI 2 B AR o

EREEENBE T _=ZFXA=1THILF
ERBTMAGH ZEERNBE_T_=F
NAZTHRLEFEABTZIETERSRE

]]]

- BHARFAEEZZ-_=FAA=T+HL
if&@i_;::¢+:ﬂz+—5¢
mi Eﬁ%‘#ﬁi

- BEIERHMARYNEEERESEME
PHEHMFEERITECERSIA

- EHHAREZMFIREZEAHEANEER
Rl ER R BRWE

- EHRAEEZEE

- EHANEHEERS

- EHEBRBREAMRBEREEX YTMEES
R AR BE

- MEFSESINBRREFAS LERINE
T BIED &

- REFSEFZMEKTM(EER) A
EHEARARARRARANBE-_T-=
FRA=ZTHIEFEZIMNEZEED - A
HESHETMEBABETRIZHR X
RTINS AZ BRED 2 B & BB AL IR5K

ﬁ@%ﬁifZW*ﬁW? K [\ E TR B

49



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TREBRE

BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS'’
MEETINGS (continued)

Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee currently consists of four members,
including the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy
(chairman of Compensation Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny
and Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert.

The Compensation Committee has the responsibility delegated by
the Board to review and make recommendations to the Board the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, the policy and structure for all directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy.

The Compensation Committee reviews compensation policies of
the Group on a regular basis. The compensation policy of the Group
is designed to reflect performance, complexity and responsibility
with a view to attracting, motivating and retaining high performing
individuals. The Committee ensures that no individual Director is
involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The details of remuneration of Directors are disclosed on an individual
basis in note 7(a) to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration paid
to the members of the senior management by band for the year
ended 30 June 2023 is set out below:

EXg EE2ZECSg8BRBREKE
(#8)

FMEESE
KRelHFMEESRKA AKX EMAK B
JEE 1T E FEHerman Van de Veldefe £ R =2 BT
FRITEEMEREE (FHEZESGER) R
ERNB R REESLA -

EZeBERECTHFMNZES @R
EENRREEABZFHEE EERER
EEAENEZEBHFIHBRERE BYERY
AERAENREFFAFHER TRNEESR
e

FHMZEeEERRAAEBZHEMEEK - B
el BEERRRELEZEER  AKERF
FBRIARMRRE THEEREERRBE - %
EeRRESMESHBETEAG ZHMH -

ESEFMHFBAMEBNERINFENGE ST B R
=M RE7(a) © wE AN - RIE ST R ST AR CET S5
BHE_ZT_=FXA=1THILFESRERA
BRERIDOFMEIOT -

BRERE D O HH

Remuneration by bands

Number of person(s)

A¥

HK$ 1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000

The Compensation Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 30 June 2023. During the year, the Compensation Committee
has reviewed the remuneration packages of executive Directors and
non-executive Directors, including the newly appointed Director, and
made recommendations to the Board for approval.
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BOARD, BOARD COMMITTEE AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises five members,
including the executive Director, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth,
the non-executive Director, Mr. Herman Van de Velde and three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert
(chairman of Nomination Committee), Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny
and Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy, representing a majority of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors, identifying
and nominating individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and making recommendations to the board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors. The Committee is authorized by the Board to seek
external legal or other independent professional advice where
necessary.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended
30 June 2023. The principal work performed by the Committee during
the year ended 30 June 2023 included:

- to assess the independence of all independent non-executive
directors;

- toreview the structure, size and composition of the Board;

- to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of directors; and

- to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of a new non-executive Director.

The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director a written confirmation of their independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.
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TREBRE

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) in August 2013 and had reviewed the policy during the
year ended 30 June 2023. The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out
approaches to achieve diversity on the Company’s Board to improve
the Board effectiveness and better decision making that ultimately
leads to better business success and sustainability. The main objective
of the policy is to provide a guideline to the Nomination Committee
in selecting candidates in terms of their merits and business and
professional backgrounds to the Board with reference to the
Company’s existing and future business development needs. The
Committee considers the benefits of all aspects of diversity, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional and business experiences, skills, knowledge and length
of service (the “Diversity Perspectives”), in order to maintain an
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity perspectives of
the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of six male
Directors and two female Directors with different age, ethnicity,
length of service, professional expertise, business experiences and
knowledge which demonstrate diversity among the members of the
Board. With regards to gender diversity, the Board has already met
the objective of maintaining no less than 20% of female members
on its Board. All board appointments are based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against variety of criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

At the senior management level, the Group has six male members
and one female member. We will also apply similar considerations as
directors when selecting potential candidates for senior management
team from time to time.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group has 1,173 male employees and 5,069
female employees, representing approximately 18.8% and 81.2%
of the workforce (including senior management) respectively. The
brassiere industry demands meticulous handiwork and attention
to detail in the manufacturing process, which has led to a higher
representation of women in the workforce. As a result, our workforce
is predominantly female. We are aware of the challenges in
increasing the male workforce due to the nature of our business
operations, therefore we do not set a specific gender ratio to
achieve. Nevertheless, we are committed to promoting workplace
diversity and ensuring that all employees are treated equally without
discrimination.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in May 2019 which set out
the criteria and procedures when considering the candidates to
be appointed or re-appointed as Directors of the Company. The
Nomination Committee will consider the following factors when
proposing a candidate for nomination as a Director of the Company
or a Director for re-election:

- Diversity in all aspects, including but not limited the Diversity
Perspectives as described above;

- The candidate or the re-elected Director is able to commit and
devote sufficient time to carry out his/her duties;

- The potential or actual conflicts of interest of the candidate or
the re-elected Director;

- In case of the appointment of an independent non-executive
Director, compliance with the independence criteria set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

- Other relevant factors considered by Nomination Committee on
a case by case basis.

The nomination policy set out the nomination procedures for
appointing a new Director. The Nomination Committee shall
identify candidates pursuant to the criteria set out in the nomination
policy, evaluate the candidates and recommend to the Board the
appointment of Director. The Board is provided with the profiles
of candidates and shall decide the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee. Regarding the
re-election of the retiring Directors at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall review and assess if the retiring Directors
meet the criteria set out in the policy and make recommendation to
the Board in respect of the proposed re-appointment of Directors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group has an internal audit function. The Head of Internal
Audit Department has direct access to the Chairman of the Audit
Committee. The audit plan of the Internal Audit Department focuses
on those areas of the Group's activities that have impacts in achieving
the business objectives of the Group and the plan is reviewed and
approved by the Audit Committee. The results of internal audit
reviews and corresponding remedial actions taken are reported to the
executive Directors and Audit Committee periodically.
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TREBRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

The Board, with the support of Audit Committee and Internal
Audit Department, has overall responsibility for establishing and
maintaining appropriate risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group has in place the risk management and internal control
systems which are designed in light of the nature of business as
well as the organization structure. The Group has adopted a holistic
approach to identify, assess, mitigate, report and monitor the risks,
including ESG risks. The management assessed the likelihood of
risk occurrence, provide mitigation plans and monitor the risk
management progress. Findings and recommendations are reported
regularly to the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Group's internal control system includes a defined management
structure with limits of authority and is designed to further the
achievement of business objectives. The Group also formulated
a set of internal company policies to establish standards in areas
including finance, human resources, operations, health and safety
and information technology. These policies aim to safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or publication, promote efficient and
effective operations and ensure compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks
of failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives. The management adopts a hands-on approach to the
operations of the business and delegation of authority is clearly
defined.

Robust controls are in place for the recording of complete,
accurate and timely accounting and management information.
Comprehensive monthly management accounts are prepared,
reviewed with, and distributed to appropriate senior management. In
addition, monthly operational review meetings of various operating
plants are held. The Chief Executive Officer and the Managing Director
play leading roles in these meetings.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

The Internal Audit Department conducts reviews on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reports their findings to the Audit Committee.
The review covers financial, operational and compliance control in
accordance with an annual audit plan reviewed and endorsed by the
Audit Committee at the beginning of each financial year. The Internal
Audit Department provides independent assurance to the Audit
Committee and the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems for the Group during
the year under review.

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed annual review
on the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and were satisfied as to the effectiveness and adequacy of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group during the
year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at the end of the
financial year and of their respective profit or loss for the year then
ended and are in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards published by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and requirements of the Companies Ordinance. The
Directors annually acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and apply them on a
consistent basis, making judgments and estimates that are
prudent, fair and reasonable;

state the reasons for any significant departure from accounting
standards; and

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis,
unless it is not appropriate to assume that the Company and the
Group will continue in business for the foreseeable future.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records, for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group
and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and
other irregularities. The Directors are not aware of any matters and
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

The management provides the Directors with monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's
performance, position and prospect in sufficient detail to enable the
Directors to discharge their duties.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company regarding their
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 64 to 71 of this annual
report

ACCOUNTING, INTERNAL AUDIT AND FINANCIAL
REPORTING FUNCTIONS

There have been sufficient resources put in place within the Group
to perform the accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions.

The finance team, led by the Chief Financial Officer, with the support
of a group of accounting professionals, is responsible for the oversight
of the Group's finance and control functions. Adequate training is
provided to the finance team and relevant staffs. In addition to the
"On-the-job” and internal training, senior staff will regularly attend
seminars with topics of relevance to them in discharging their duties,
updating their professional knowledge as well as coaching their
subordinates.

The Board has reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions, and their training programmes and
budget during the year under review and considered that the Group
has adequate of staff resources with qualifications and experience
necessary for the effective performance of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in February 2019 pursuant to
which the Board has the discretion to determine the declaration and
payment of dividends to the Shareholders. The Board will take into
account the following factors when considering the declaration and
payment of dividends to the Shareholders:

- the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

- retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of Group;

- the current and future operations, liquidity position and capital
requirements of the Group;

- economic conditions and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Group;

- the Group’'s business strategies, including future cash
commitments and investment needs to sustain the long-term
growth aspect of the business;

- contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the
Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the
Company, if any; and

- other factors that the Board deems relevant.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

On appointment to the Board, each Director receives a
comprehensive induction package to ensure sufficient awareness of
director’s duties, responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and other relevant regulatory requirements. The induction
package shall cover the statutory and regulatory obligations as a
director and the Group's business and operations.

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year,
all Directors have complied with the code provision in relation to
continuous professional development. The Directors’ knowledge and
skills are continuously developed and refreshed by reading materials,
webcast and guidelines on subjects relating to the updates on Listing
Rules, applicable regulatory requirements and corporate governance
practices. The Company Secretary from time to time provided all
Directors with relevant Directors’ guides for their discharge of duties
and updates on changes of relevant rules and regulations.
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
(continued)

The records of the Directors’ training during the year ended 30 June
2023 are as follows:

BFEEERE W

RBE_ZT_=FA=1THLFERN EF
ZEINEEHEAT

Type of Training
EIIER

Executive Directors HBITES

Mr. Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) BINRLAE(EE) A
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Chief Executive Officer) EMIBEE (BEHNTE) A
Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director) ERE RE (BEFEATE) A
Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde st 4 A
Mr. Fung Wai Yiu TIEF=E A A

(retired on 16 September 2022)

Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys
(retired on 18 November 2022)

(RZFEZZFNA+NHREE)
Lucas AM. Laureys3t 4 A
(R-FZ——F+—HTNHRE)

Ms. Lien Van de Velde Lien Van de VeldeZZ & A&B
(appointed on 18 November 2022) (R-F-—F+—H+HEZT)

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHTES

Ms. Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny R/ NMAE A

Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert REERE A

Mr. Lin Sun Mo, Willy MEREE A

A Reading Materials, Webcast and/or Guidelines A BIEME - BEmIEe R siES

B: Induction on director’s appointment B: EE ARSI

AUDITOR 3 401

KPMG, the former auditor of the Company, resigned as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 5 May 2023 and SHINEWING (HK) CPA
Limited (“ShineWing") was appointed by the Board with effect from 5
May 2023 as auditor of the Company to fill the casual vacancy.

The auditors’ remuneration in respect of the audit services related
to the audit for the year ended 30 June 2023 paid or payable to the
external auditor, ShineWing and its network firms, amounted to
HK$1,280,000 and HK$116,000 respectively.

INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’
LIABILITY

There is in place appropriate insurance coverage on directors’ and
officers’ liability in respect of legal action against Directors and officers
of the Company.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (the "Model Code") as its own code for Directors’
dealings in securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiries, the Company confirmed that each
of the Directors has complied with the required standards during the
year.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code.

INTERNAL PROCEDURES AND CONTROLS FOR
DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

There are internal procedures and controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information. The Group has adopted and
implemented a Continuous Disclosure Policy since 22 February
2013. The Board reviewed and adopted an updated version of the
Continuous Disclosure Policy in November 2022. The Group discloses
inside information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable
unless the information falls within any of the safe harbors as provided
in the Securities and Futures Ordinance. Before the information is fully
disclosed to the public, the Group ensures the information is kept
strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the Group would immediately disclose the
information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure that
information contained in announcement or circulars are not false or
misleading as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the
omission of a material fact in view of presenting information in a clear
and balanced way, which requires equal disclosure of both positive
and negative facts.

The Board is aware of the requirements under the Listing Rules about
timely disclosure of inside information regarding the Company and
will arrange to issue and publish such announcements as and when
the occasions arise. The Company Secretary will consult and seek
legal advice on the materiality and sensitivity of certain material and
connected transactions and advise the Board accordingly.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pun Chi Wa (“Mr. Pun”) resigned as the chief financial officer
and company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the Company
with effect from 1 July 2023. Ms. Yim Wing Sze (“Ms. Yim") was
appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 1 July 2023.
The Company Secretary is an employee of the Company and reports
to the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. The Company Secretary
is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with
and advises the Board on corporate governance and compliance
matters. The Directors have direct access to the Company Secretary.
The selection, appointment or dismissal of the Company Secretary is
approved by the Board. Both Mr. Pun and Ms. Yim have taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year.

BUSINESS INTEGRITY

Maintaining the highest professional and ethical standards is central
to the Group’s core operating philosophy. The Group has formally
adopted a code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) addressing
guiding principles governing conduct of Directors, management and
employees. The Code is intended to establish standards of conduct
encompassing the areas in which the business operates.

In summary, executives and employees of the Group are expected to:

conduct business of the Group in full compliance with both the
letter and spirit of the Law and of the Code of Conduct;

maintain the highest possible standards in the way we operate
and the way we treat our employees in order to satisfy the
expectations of both the business and social communities;

use confidential information properly;
recognise and avoid conflicts of interest;

protect the ownership of property of the Group, including
information, products, rights and services; and

conduct outside activities in a way which does not compromise
the individual or the Group.

There is a reporting system for any code violations. The Board reviews
the Code of Conduct and monitors its effective implementation
periodically. There are also systems in place for risk assessment, risk
identification and management, and timely corrective measures for
sustainability and to nourish improvement for the business of the
Group.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance,
operations and strategies. The Company has adopted a Shareholders
Communication Policy, which is available on the Company’s website
(www.topform.group), setting out the Company’s procedures in
providing the Shareholders and the potential investors with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, with a view to enabling the Shareholders
to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow the
Shareholders and the investment community to engage actively with
the Company.

Information is communicated to the Shareholders mainly through
the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports),
quarterly operational updates, annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, by making available all the
disclosures published on the website of the Stock Exchange and its
corporate communications and other corporate publications on the
Company's website.

During the year, an annual general meeting and a special general
meeting were held at which, the Chairman of the Board, the Chief
Executive Officer, the Managing Director and the chairman or the
members of respective Board committees attended the said meetings
and were available to answer questions from shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”).

The Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong.
The Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available.

The Board has reviewed the Shareholders Communication Policy
during the year and considered that its existing communication
channels with the Shareholders and investors are effective in
facilitating ongoing communication and dialogue between the
Shareholders and the Company.

Under the Company’s Bye-laws and the relevant policies and
procedures of the Group, the Shareholders have, among others, the
following rights:
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special
general meeting (“SGM")

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company can deposit a written request to the Board at both the
principal office and registered office, for the attention of the Company
Secretary, to convene a SGM.

The written request by shareholders must state the purposes of the
meeting, signed by the Shareholders concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of those
Shareholders.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of Directors
to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance with
the statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the request has been verified as not in order,
the Shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered Shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the Shareholders concerned
at a SGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Details of
procedures are set out in the Company’s website.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact
information of the requisitionists and deposited with the Board or the
Company Secretary at the Company'’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at 7/F, Port 33, 33 Tseuk Luk Street, San Po Kong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, or by email to cosec@topform.group.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
general meetings

Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth of the total voting
rights of all Shareholders having the right to vote at the general
meeting; or not less than 100 Shareholders holding shares in the
Company, can submit a written request to move a resolution at the
meeting.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of Directors
to include the resolution in the agenda for the meeting provided
that the Shareholders concerned have deposited a sum of money
reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving
the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by the Shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the registered Shareholders. Details of procedures
are set out in the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

Pursuant to a special resolution of the Shareholders passed on 18
November 2022, the proposed amendments to the Company’s
Bye-laws were approved and the new Memorandum of Association
and Bye-laws of the Company was adopted with effect from 18
November 2022.

The latest version of constitutional document is available on the
website of the Company and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Top Form International Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Form
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 72 to 172,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2023, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on this matter.
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Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

FHEMIE - BB R R BB R E

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial

statements.

ZIRMARE I TEIRA M 11 R Ay & B SRR W it 2(d) < B AT R

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

In view of the operating loss incurred by the Group during the current
year, management considered that indicators of potential impairment
of property, plant and equipment existed as at 30 June 2023.

BER SEEBERAFERLALLEHE ERERR UWE-
BMEREHENR _ZE_=F"A=TAGFEEEREIR -

In order to determine the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit ("“CGU") for which indicators of impairment was identified,
management prepared a value in use calculation using a discounted
cash flow forecast.
RETHNDNARETFR2RCELEMNAREEHE - B2
BEEtAUERReRneRARNEREBE -

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

o

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EfNAREFHIEETHEEE

Our audit procedures to assess the potential
impairment of property, plant and equipment
included the following:

BB AR - BB RREEEREETZ
ERREFEETIIEE

obtaining the discounted cash flow analysis
of the CGU prepared by the management and
checking its mathematical accuracy;
ERERERENRCELASNMEARS
MEBDHN - Wind HE P LN
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT
B AL BEN RS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued) Eﬁ ﬁ%ﬁ%lﬁ (%8)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

FHEMIE - BB R R B R E

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial

statements.
ZIRUAR & B IS IRA N T 11 RAF & B B A M i1 2(0).2 25 -

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BEREETEE BEMMARESATEEEBESE

The discounted cash flow forecasts used to assess impairment were - involving our internal valuation specialists to
based on a number of assumptions which required the exercise of assist us in assessing the methodology applied
significant management judgement, in particular in estimating future by management in its discounted cash flow
revenue, cost of direct materials, staff costs and the discount rate forecasts with reference to the requirements
applied. of the prevailing accounting standards and
BAEFEREMNMBRSRERADERETRE  ESEE whether the discount rate adopted in the
BETEENAE  CER2EFTRREA - EBEMRKA - B discounted cash flow forecast was comparable
TRRARFTAANER & o with those of companies in the same industry

and external market data;
BRMANABEEZIRGEHM - 2ZE
R ERNESR  FHEEREEHR
ReREEBFRERANTTE  LAKRBER
RensBAPMERANRRE IS ER
RTTE R B RIMET S BIRHALL

challenging the key assumptions adopted
by management in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecasts by comparing
the most significant inputs in the discounted
cash flow forecasts, including future revenue,
cost of direct materials and staff costs, with
the historical performance and future strategic
plans of the Group;
ABEAREeRERATREZNEA
B(BERREA BEEMEBAR KRBT
B BRLEE SR R B Ko 2N 5 [ R 2R SR S 51 &
ETHE EREEEAERRUBRELSR
ERARMRANERRR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER (continued)

Assessing potential impairment of property, plant and equipment

FETE - BERREHNEERE

B 2B RS

BAREIEE®

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(d) to the consolidated financial

statements.

ZIRMARE I TEIRA M 11 R A & B SRR W i 2(d) 2 B AT R

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

We identified assessing potential impairment of property, plant and
equipment as a key audit matter because of the potential significance
of any impairment charge to the results of the Group for the year and
because forecasting future cash flows can be inherently subjective
and require significant management judgement and estimation
which increase the risk of error or potential management bias.

B EDE  BELRRENEERESD ABREASE
B UWDERNEMREERY EEEAFEXENEEER
M ARBRBARKRBEEREFEEENFEN FEEX

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BfNAREFHIEETHEER

comparing the key assumptions included in
the discounted cash flow forecast prepared
by management in the prior year with the
current year's performance to assess the
accuracy of the prior year's forecast, making
enquiries of management as to the reasons
for any significant variations identified and
whether these had been considered in the
current year discounted cash flow forecasts

EIREHIM R A - (O IR B R AR NN -

and considering if there was any indication of
management bias; and
REREREFRENMBARESRERR
TEENEERKRERNFENOREET
LEB - ARH R S FTRBIE EREN - mE R
BEREMAEREAZENESR UK
RAFENEREReREEASEELE
BZEEZR VERREFEEMERRE
RENTR K&

performing a sensitivity analysis of the
discount rate and gross profit and considering
the resulting impact on the impairment
charge for the year and whether there were
any indicators of management bias.

HEER RN EFETHREDIN - URE
BHUFEREEREENTEARESR
FEEEERRENERMIR -

Hih=E1g
AEEHE S -_—_FAA=-THILFEZLE
AUMBRRCHD MMM EL - ZX B

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
30 June 2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed an

unmodified opinion on those statements on 16 September 2022. RZZB-_—FAATANBERZEFHRREREE
RIER -
EBEHERERAT | T —FFH e 67
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
AND AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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REVBBERREME 2 ZBEHE N
Sz EH

ARAEFAREMENAR -HMENEBHE
FHRAFEAER  ETEBREAMBHRER
BTl 2 LB ED R -

B EMBRRZERY NREEMER
BAT TR RETATL A ZREER

REMEREVBHRRETZEFITEMS
BMEaEHEEMER RHEEREMEHRR
BEHEGAMBHRERR LB MINET TIEAES]
MZBERERTHENBERL XEAEEMITE
HIR B AR RO - W PIERPTET TIEM

SHZEMEREERBERRA 2 &R - BIR
PIZAERABRABR - it - RALBEAER 2 F
T

FAREERERZEEENGREUHK
BRAEREZEE

ARRBEFRARREE LS AGRML
FEMBHREERRFERARIIZWERE
MEEEMAFRRZGEAMBERE  LEE
EHRARREGAWBREMVLEZ AR EE -
NERA MBI A Em RN RFFER M E
Bz ERERERML -

EREFAEVMBREG AR EFAEEF
fh BERERFELEZREN YEBRBRTH
BHEBBEKEEHAZEFE ULERBERKE
RETER  BRIEARFNERTEERS EEEE
BAFIULEE  IPBEEBERERATER -

EZZEQRAEE ESEMBHRERFZ
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act and
our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

- ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e

B 2B RS

%ﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%Zi
T
AMZEBRYGRAMBERREBRETGE
MR EEF SR T S 2 EAHBRMREGA
BRE  WHARBRMER ZEBHBRE - R
1R % B 5% i 2 1% 000 & B M & 5 A 5
HYFEES (R (2 0 2 AR R s - TER AR -
RMYFHARE 2 ARYETLALTEE
RERREE - ARHEBSERZLE - HRE
BB RAETZERTETHRBELESR
B2 EAHRBL - 85 3R MR AT B A E
REREL  HEMENLBEBESZAAE
RTAFBERAEREZSHEEMBRRM;EN
ZAEERER - B R B AMREL -

ERBEEERAEAETEGF 2BREF - M
EREEAE  REFFEREE - RI5:

— BRIRFEERKFRERMEEES Y
BREGFEERBRRAZRAR - Rt &
HITERAREFUEEZERAR  URER
RREMBE 2 EFEE FREMABERZ
At - RHGFA RS RER  RE FE
B ERRALEEABEZEZBR
FARBEHIRARFMER 2 ERHRR
MzEBRENREERAERMERZE
REE R BRI 2 R -

- THERGTHBIAMEE  URFEES

ZEFRF O HUFEEY SHRERNI
ERZBRBERER -

- HREARBREFAEASHRRESRE
RAER Gt MEAREESE SR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Pang Wai Hang.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044
Hong Kong

28 September 2023

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mERER

forthe yearended30 June2023 HZ T - =F XA=-+HLFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7~ )

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FERT FEIT
| N W S U
Revenue L ON 4 1,007,016 1,481,592
Cost of sales $HE A (831,677) (1,207,664)
Gross profit EH 175,339 273,928
Other net income H iU A FEE 5 15,390 17,803
Selling and distribution expenses HERDIHAXZ (29,212) (37,616)
General and administrative expenses — M RITEA X (228,207) (231,065)
(Loss)/profit from operations g (B OuFl (66,690) 23,050
Finance costs MBER 6(a) (12,372) (7,884)
Share of profits of a joint venture Frit —R& & 2 alm A 1,896 3,658
Share of profits of associates Fir (& B &8 2 7l A 896 392
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT (BE) R 6 (76,270) 19,216
Income tax expense FrigBifAx 8 (2,254) (7,728)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR) &R (78,524) 11,488
Attributable to: BEAG -
Equity shareholders of the Company RNAEZ R R (84,732) 3,550
Non-controlling interests FEVERR A o 6,208 7,938
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(BR) &R (78,524) 11,488
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(EEB) B 10
Basic and diluted EARNEH HK$(0.281) HK$0.012
(0.281) T 28T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEeEERkEMZENER

fortheyearended30June2023 BEZE T Z=F A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51| 7R )

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FHERT FHTT
I I I
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER), &R (78,524) 11,488
Other comprehensive income/(expense) Htrzxmkias (BR)
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to ~ BT & EH 7 E 2
profit or loss: BamZHE -
Gain on revaluation of properties upon A% B ) 3 R R
transfer of investment properties FIEEMYESEHKRE  11(0) 1,049 4,629
Deferred tax liability arising on gain on P S B R M W e
revaluation of properties upon transfer FIEEMELERIBAE 24 (262) (1,157)
787 3,472
Item that may be subsequently reclassified to HEAEEF PIEE
profit or loss: BamHA -
Exchange differences arising on translation of & H B IHINE TS
operations outside Hong Kong EEXCENZERE
— subsidiaries —KME AT (9,362) (17,959)
—ajoint venture ——MH&ZERT (1,622) (349)
— associates — Bt N A 449 (885)
(10,535) (19,193)
Other comprehensive expense for theyear, FREM2HEE X
__netofincometax GnemEE) (9748) (15721).
Total comprehensive expense for theyear FREHEHMBZHAE (88,272) (4,233)
Attributable to: AL -
Equity shareholders of the Company RAEE=RE (94,630) (9,715)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 I e 6,358 5482
Total comprehensive expense for theyear FREHEHMHZHAE (88,272) (4,233)

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A BRI R

at30June2023 RZTEZ=F,"A=+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51 7R )

2023 2022
—E-= = —

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000

B FET TAT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - HEME&E 1M 189,004 182,916
Investment properties EME 12 150,027 163,229
Interest in a joint venture R—HEE&ERA 2R 13 28,454 28,181
Interests in associates RN o - ey 14 8,408 25,245
Other financial assets HEthemEE 15 2,838 2,838
Deferred tax assets EEFRIAE E 24 264 339
Prepayments and deposits ERREEAS 4,435 2,725
383,430 405,473
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 16 103,594 174,895
Trade and other receivables ZoRUBBRF R EMmEUERIR 17 201,380 181,570
Bank balances and cash WITEBR LIRS 18(a) 112,130 136,487
417,104 492,952
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables and accrued charges B RNERRIETER 19 181,984 199,553
Unsecured bank loans IR ITER 20 123,804 115,404
Lease liabilities HE&E 21 10,858 13,051
Current tax payable JEAS AR BRRR IR 5,478 8,674
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 322,124 336682
Net current assets REBEEFE 94,980 156,270
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ke AR R

at30June2023 RZE=Z=FA=+H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T %1 7R )

2023 2022
—=E== T
Notes HK$’000 HKS'000
e FHET FABT
. ! |
Total assets less current liabilities mEagprnEE 0000 478,410 561,743
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 18,294 13,309
Retirement benefit obligations RRAE I A 23 7,223 4,696
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 24 33,071 36,410
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 58,588 54415
Net assets EEFE 419,822 507,328
Capital and reserves IR A % 5
Share capital B A 26 147,940 147,940
Reserves & 225,059 318,923

Equity attributable to equity shareholders of — ZN 7 7] # 25 % 58 FE 1 #E 25

the Company 372,999 466,863
Non-controlling interests FE 12 I e 46,823 40,465
Total equity ERBEE 419,822 507,328
The consolidated financial statements on pages 72 to 172 were SR ENEHEFINBE 2 RA VKRR KEHE
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 %Aﬁfx‘ig: — A= Jr)\ B 8t & T
September 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: WHATEFRESE

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
EREE ERE
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
BEEHITE EFEE

SENERARAT | —T - —FFf e 75



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERRBER

for the year ended 30 June 2023 & & =FRNA=ZTHLEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA /% 7|:§|J /T\>

Attributable to owners of the Company

RATREARL
Investment
revalugtion
[€lc] Share Teserve set Non-
Share Share  redemption Specia option (non- revaluation  Translation ~~ Retained controling
apital premium fesenve fesenve resene  recycling) fesenve Tesenve profts Total  interests Total
REE(
£1E0 ff  EEE( #ER

BE BiEE BE RREE ERERE (TTag) B EXBR  REEN g s %
HKS000 HKS000. HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS 000
TR TR TRn  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEr TR TEn TEn T
(note)
()
. !+ ' ' I | | | |

-
=
=1

A1y 200 HNoF-E+E-R 147340 1499 B 7139 W) 1080 G MM 4B MBS0

Proftforhe year ERif - - - - - - - - 3550 350 T 148

Bichange difeences aisngontienstionof B EARNEH (81

operatons outside Hong Kong (incuding WERD -BAEAAR

hsdares ajontveneandasocaes)  BELT)EECEREE - - - - - - - 6T N 2/ 7 R (1
.5/

ENFERERELY

(Gain on revaluation of propertes upon transfer 1k

of investment propertes VEELTE - - - - - - 4629 - - 4609 - 4629
Defered taxlabltes on gain on evahetion I FERBERNG
propeties pon ransfer FELHELR AR - - - - - - (1157) - - (1,157 - (1157)

Totd comprehiensive incomellepensel for — FR2ERE/ () 48

the year - - - - - - 341 (16,737) 3550 9715) 5480 a233)
Equity-settled shere-based ransactions HEREENRABERNR S - - - - 1038 - - - - 1038 - 10%
At30 June 2022 i St g ot 4 147940 1499 133 7139 1580 (5883 106362 (7569) 215558 46863 40465 507328
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GAEREDE

fortheyearended30June2023 BEZE T Z=F A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51| 7R )

Attributable to owners of the Company

KLAREARE
Investment
revaluation
Capital Share  reserve Asset Non-
Share Share redemption  Special option (non-  revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  recycing)  reseve reserve profits Total  interests Total
REEH
E1RE i BEER FER

Bx  REBR R GHGR RREGR (TUE®) B ENGE REEA H8 B 48
HKSODD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOD  HKSOD  HKSO0  HKSOD  HKSO0D  HKSO0D  HKS00
TEn o TR TRER TER TRR YRR TER TR TR TR TAR  TAR

(note)

(i)
! ! ! ' ! | ' | | | |
At July 2022 [ g R 147,940 1,499 33 1139 1,580 (5883) 106,362 (7,565) 215558 466863 40,465 507328
(Lossprfitfor the year ER(ER) /& - - - - - - - - (8473 (84732 628 (78524
Exchange differences arsing on translaion of g ¥

—ERERTR

EE7EREE - - - - - - - (10683

operations outsice Hong Kong including
(10,685) 150 (10,535)

subsidiares, a joint venture and associates)

(Gain on revaluaton of propeties pon trangfr FERRMELY

of investment propertes VEEE e - - - - - -1 - -1 -
Defered tax abites on ga on revaluation ~~ RAVEERFERRE

properties pon tranfer MELNERREAE - - - - - - (262) - - (262 - (262)

Totd compreliensive income/lespensel for —— EM2ERE/ (B 48

the year - - - - - - 81 (10,685)  (84732)  (94,630) 6,358 (88.272)
Fquiy-etted share-based transactions WEREENRNAERNRS - - - - 766 - - - - 766 - 766
At 30 June 203 i S g 147,940 1499 33 1139 2,346 (5883 107,149 (18250) 130,826 372999 46,83 419822

Note:  Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal amount of iz : 4 RIEEEARTE - AN —FEBEEHEBTZR
the share capital issued by the Company and the aggregate of the nominal AEEEAKER TS AR RATE@ER 2 28 -

amount of share capital of the companies forming the Group, pursuant to
the group reorganisation in 1991.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GEREMNER

fortheyearended30June 2023 HE T =F A=+ HLEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51 7R )

2023 2022
—E-=F T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt & TR T
I I I
Operating activities REEK
(Loss)/profit before taxation PR (B518) & Fl (76,270) 19,216
Adjustments for: BATIEEELAR
Interest income from loans to an associate RET—HEE QRN
ERMABKA 5 - (862)
Interest income from banks RITH EUA 5 (519) (313)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and HENE BERBE
equipment (Uezk) /18 5,6(c) (22) 866
Gain on early termination of leases RARIEHEE 2 W 5 (624) -
Fair value loss on investment properties BREWMERNTBEESE 5 2,720 1,679
Finance costs BBER 6(a) 12,372 7,884
Depreciation charges FEEHR 44,542 45372
Write-off of property, plant and equipment MEME - BEREE 6(c) 6,162 -
Write-off of other receivables M5 L A PR SRR R 6(c) 1,641 -
Share of profits of a joint venture FriE—f& g A rlah (1,896) (3,658)
Share of profits of associates F{h & A ) A (896) (392)
Equity-settled share-based payment expenses PARE & 42 B AR B ETRE
XX 6(b) 766 1,038
Fair value loss on derivative financial instrument  $TE @B T A Z A FEEEE 5 - 1,402
Operating cash flows before movements in KRB EESEBAZ
working capital REFELRE (12,024) 72,232
Increase in prepayments and deposits BNRELRFESEMN (402) (928)
Decrease in inventories FERD 71,301 80,973
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 Ife W BR 30 B L b e i AR 3R
0 (23,189) (18,399)
Decrease in non-current other payables FRBEMENERTRD - (696)
Decrease in trade payables and accrued charges & 5 B BR R EZT B AR (9,131) (59,168)
Increase in retirement benefit obligation RGN A EE 2,527 367
Cash generated from operations REEBEEZHRE 29,082 74,381
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid EREENER (3,960) (3,932)
Tax paid in other jurisdictions B E At Rl ARE B T IR (2,124) (328)
Net cash generated from operating activities EEEKEL RS TFE 22,998 70,121
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
el MnER

fortheyearended30June2023 BEZE T Z=F A=+ HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA 7T 51| 7R )

2023 2022
—E-=HF =
Notes HK$'000 HKS$'000
B &E TET FET
I I I
Investing activities REEK
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BAYE  BEREE (30,084) (27,536)
Additional investment to an associate RET—HBEATNEIMEE (15) -
Interest received BUF B 519 1175
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWME  BERSZHL
equipment FT1S 58 552 277
Dividend received from joint venture WEEEARIKE - 2,593
New loans to an associate RMET-HEBEARINMER - (1,982)
Net cash used in investing activities ?ﬁﬁ%f}%ﬁﬁﬁziﬁﬁéﬁﬁ _________________________ (29,028) (25473)
Financing activities MEEH
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENMEERE2ERH D 18(b) (14,092) (14,793)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEERSZ2MEED 18(b) (2,350) (1,966)
Interest paid BEAFE 18(b) (5,246) (1,659)
Other bank charges HiniR1TE A (4,776) (4,259)
Proceed from new bank loans REFIERITERNERIAE 18(b) 687,938 498,138
Repayment of bank loans ERRITER 18(b) (679,538) (470,714)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing BEXH (H) EE2ES
_activities BR (18064) 4747
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BeREeEHEEARZ
equivalents (A2) /BmEE (24,094) 49,395
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginningof RENZREREESSHEER
the year 136,487 92,217
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes Exgmoge (263) (5,125)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of REAZRERAEEHEER
the year 112,130 136,487
Analysis of the balances of cash and cash BeRBASEHERAERDIN
equivalents
Bank balances and cash RITEHR RIS 112,130 136,487

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A B RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 53 A & B & 4b -

1.

80

GENERAL

Top Form International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the section of corporate information of the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the design, manufacture and
distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HKS"), which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, being United States dollars (“USD").
As the Company is a public company with shares listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange and most of its investors are located
in Hong Kong, the directors consider that HKS is preferable in
presenting the operating results and financial position of the
Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together
referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest(s) in
associates and a joint venture.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are disclosed below.
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Bl R BEAD A REMEB R A (5B A
EE)URAEERABED R R —HAE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(a) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for other financial assets and
certain properties that are measured at fair values, as explained
in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 3.

(a) Changes in accounting policies
The HKICPA has issue a number of amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group.

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group's results and financial position for current
or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The
Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2. REEERFESHBER @)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (b) MBATIRIFERESR
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The MEBARAAEEZES 2B - MA
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, EEAEKEZEL2E B EEERM
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and BRI EE R EARKER - WaLiE R
has the ability to affect those returns through its power HEZ T 2 N E%5 0 R
over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has AREBHZEREBLEGE - &1
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and AEBEREBZENRE  EZEH
other parties) are considered. REEREMETHBEZEERERN -
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the RHBARZREESRKRZESE AR
consolidated financial statements from the date that EREEFEERIECHEBATALES
control commences until the date that control ceases. BHEmEN - EBARGIME &S
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any RGRBERENREBANRQGEMFEIRZ
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are SEEZENAEREHN SRS
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial SEMBHERESME -EFARD
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group AR SMalBREREB ZEKER
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised FEEABRIWEER  EREREE
gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of BEREHBERBEZHBS -
impairment.
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a EERERIELIFHARA A EELME
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the BEREGCHBAREZ MAEBEXR
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not BRI HEZERERTE AR EEMM
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those MER BLASERE FHZSE
interests which would result in the Group as a whole RELFECRBEERIAENEE -
having a contractual obligation in respect of those AEEERRNEBSHER LEEF
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. REATEBESIFEREZ=ZEMME
For each business combination, the Group can elect to RAABRRFEEND B E2EMIE
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or TR -

at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are represented in the equity, FERERSAREEAES BAR
separately from equity attributable to the equity AIEGERREGECEROFAZ®R - K
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests SEEEANZIEERESTSELREE
in the results of the Group are presented on the face BRARGEBEGMNEMEEKER
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and FOERNANTIFEIE RS EEREE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other MZERNEBETEBENEERFEAEY
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total fid o

profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

In the Company's statement of financial position, an EARARBZHBARARERAN  REEB A
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment RIZ WE IR AR B EEBES R
losses (see note 2(m)(ii)). (BB E20m)i) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company
has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, including participation in the
financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or
Company and other parties contractually agree to share
control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of
the Group's share of the acquisition-date fair values of
the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted
for the post acquisition change in the Group's share of the
investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the
Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of
the investees and any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition post-tax
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

When the Group's share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group's interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method together with the Group's
long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or the joint
venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2.
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

RREERIFIESHEE &)

(c) Associates and joint ventures (continued) (c) BMEQATAREE DT (&)
Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions NREFHEBES AT LSS N HET
between the Group and its associates and joint venture REFMEEZRESEGRNEER 1
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the BASERNEH KRG 2wt fl
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence e BUAEREBEREAEESR

(d)

84

of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case
they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have
significant influence over an associate or joint control
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former investee at the date when significant influence
or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this
amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset.

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(m)):

leasehold land and buildings held for own use;

right-of-use assets arising from leases over freehold
or leasehold properties where the Group is not the
registered owner of the property interest; and

items of plant and equipment

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit
or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related
revaluation surplus is transferred from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits and is not reclassified to profit or
loss.

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

EBESEERERAR |

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation
of items of property, plant and equipment, less their
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Freehold land is not depreciated.

Buildings situated on freehold land are depreciated
over their estimated useful life, being no more than
50 years after the date of completion.

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease, or
2% - 6.5%

Leasehold land and
buildings

Other properties leased for Over the unexpired term
own use of leases

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease, or
20%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and 10% - 33%

equipment

Motor vehicles 20% - 30%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item
is allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment properties are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=IAN
N

RIS R Mot

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

86

(e)

(f)

Investment properties (continued)

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which
the item is derecognised.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes
an investment property when there is a change in use,
as supported by observable evidence, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in asset
revaluation reserve. The asset revaluation reserve in respect
of that item will be transferred directly to retained profits
when it is derecognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using
the weighted average method and comprises all costs of
purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and
all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the
period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any
reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as
a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2. RBEEERFTESTHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leased assets

(9) HEEE

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

As alessee

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily office equipment. When the Group enters into
a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
The lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 53 A & B & 4b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

88

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Leased assets (continued)
As a lessee (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. The right-of-use
asset is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(d)
and 2(m)), except for right-of-use assets that meet the
definition of investment property are carried at fair value in

accordance with note 2(e).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group's estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been

reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted for as
a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and lease term
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet
the definition of investment property in ‘other property,
plant and equipment’ and presents lease liabilities
separately in the statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

EBESEERERAR |

Leased assets (continued)

As alessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this
is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating leases
is recognised in accordance with note 2(s).

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of
the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 53 A & B & 4b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

90

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to
non-controlling interests as appropriate). On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified

from equity to profit or loss.

(i) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready
for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost
of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the

period in which they are incurred.

(i)t Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to

defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans, including the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme is accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered by
employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at

their present values.

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service
payments are the amounts of future benefits that
employees have earned in return for their services in the
current and prior periods, calculated in accordance with

the relevant laws.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

1))

EBESEERERAR |

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in a capital reserve within equity. The fair
value is measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing model, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is spread over the
vesting period, taking into account the probability that the
options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting date,
the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that vest (with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve)
except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company'’s shares. The equity amount is recognised in the
share option reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share
capital for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it
is released directly to retained profits).
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

92

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax payable and

movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year. Taxable income differs from “profit/
loss before taxation” as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are permanently
non-taxable or non-deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in

respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unusual tax losses and tax credits to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences and unusual tax losses and tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to

be utilised.

B A TR

2.

RREEERIFIESHEE &)

(k) BiE

7 7 B 19 0 1 2K B B4 98 DA RO
EHEEERABRD -

AHBAREURFRAERRTEAZ
EABIA - ERTBWABRINERA IR
BERAMIGHIDENEE] - RE
ERABBATBREEMFEE Z R
BMEAMBZWARFAZLER » T T
BIOKEBBERBHI A MR AR ©
AEBZARRBRBEDRBSHR
FIEHEXREE LEHE2HELH
BEFERNREMEERARTE -

ELERARGEAMBERERAZEER
BERMELERFEFERERBBAZ
HENRER G ZHEER  —KRE
MATERRRNERZEBERELHREA
BAE o R R RRA A BE H 3R AT R A
BR AN E S E 8 MR AN E
BREREEL 2 BRB G - Bl — &
SRMARHRERER LR ARPHMR
BEEENGRLEAELCHAEE
HMEXZFTHEERERELBEERA
BBz EHEZRMTIZERRD
AR AZEGT RN AT ZHER
EHEERAR-

ERERBEEE 2 REMERSRE AR
WE - XYHIRETBAEETH R
AR BEENAEERL -

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2. RBEEERFTESTHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Taxation (continued)

(k) BB (%)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale. If the presumption is rebutted,
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such
investment properties are measured in accordance with
the above general principles based on the expected
manner as to how the properties will be recovered. The
Group has rebutted the presumption for all its investment
properties.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

94

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(k) Taxation (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group
has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional

conditions are met:

in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Company or the Group intends either to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously; or

in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled
or recovered, intend to realise the current tax
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a
net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(I) Investments in equity securities
The Group's policies for investments in equity securities,
other than investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures,

are set out below:

Investments in equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/
sell the investment. The investments are initially stated at
fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVPL") for which transaction costs are recognised
directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial instruments, see
note 25(c). These investments are subsequently accounted
for as follows, depending on their classification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

U

(m)

EBESEERERAR |

Investments in equity securities (continued)

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
fair value through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI")
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the investment
revaluation reserve (non-recycling).

Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)  Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses ("ECLs") on financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables).

Financial assets measured at fair value, including
other financial assets, are not subject to the ECL
assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

96

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using
the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;
and

variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which
the Group is exposed to credit risk. In measuring
ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. This includes information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date;
and

lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over
the expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

EBESEERERAR |

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
ECLs on these financial assets are estimated using
a provision matrix based on the Group's historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at
the reporting date.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date with any
changes recognised as an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment
gain or loss with a corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of trade and other receivables
through a loss allowance account.

Except for trade receivables that are measured at
FVOCI, the Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For trade receivables that are measured at
FVOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in FVOCI reserve without reducing the
carrying amount of the receivables. Such amount
represents the changes in the FVOCI reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

98

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument assessed at
the reporting date with that assessed at the date of
initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the
Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group
to actions such as realising security (if any is held);
or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due. The
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition:

failure to make payments of principal or interest
on their contractually due dates;

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or internal
credit rating (if available);

an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s
ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments,
the assessment of a significant increase in credit
risk is performed on either an individual basis or a
collective basis. When the assessment is performed
on a collective basis, the financial instruments are
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

EBESEERERAR |

Credit losses from financial instruments (continued)
Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount
is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is
generally the case when the Group determines that
the debtor does not have assets or sources of income
that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery
occurs.

On derecognition of trade receivables at FVOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
FVOCI reserve is classified to profit or loss.

Impairment of non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets (other than property carried
at revalued amounts); and

investments in subsidiaries, associates and

joint ventures in the Company’s statement of
financial position.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

100

Impairment of non-current assets (continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a
cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of the assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of non-current assets (continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

(n) Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less allowance for credit losses (see note

2(m) ().
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n) Trade and other receivables at amortised cost

(continued)
Trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling)

Trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are stated at fair
value. Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
trade receivables classified as at FVOCI (recycling) as a
result of interest income calculated using the effective
interest method, and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes
in the carrying amount of these trade receivables are
recognised in other comprehensive income (“OCI")
and accumulated under the heading of FVOCI reserve.
Impairment allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to OCI without reducing the
carrying amounts of these trade receivables. When these
trade receivables are derecognised, the cumulative gains
or losses previously recognised in OCl are reclassified to

profit or loss.

(o) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the Group's

accounting policy for borrowing costs (see note 2(i)).

(p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL

in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(m)(i).
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(q) Trade and other payables

(r)

(s)

EBESEERERAR |

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the Company
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises
from the sale of goods in the ordinary course of the Group's
business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be
entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other
sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 2. RBEEERFTESTHER®)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(s) Revenue and other income (continued) (s) WMAREMBA (&)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

Sale of goods

Revenue arising from the sale of ladies’ intimate apparel
is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles
have passed, which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and obtained the
control of the goods. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade
discounts.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the
effective interest method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic basis
in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Related parties

(a)

EENEBRERAR | =

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group's parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

() The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for

the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT

106

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(t) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
itis a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(u) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group's various lines of business and

geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The
recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The management determines the
recoverable amount of the relevant cash generating unit ("CGU")
based on the basis of the value in use calculation. Where the
future cash flows are less or more than expected, or there are
changes in facts and circumstances which result in revisions of
the estimated future cash flows, or fair values of the properties
are below their respective carrying amounts, impairment loss
or reversal of impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2023,
the Group's property, plant and equipment amounted to
HK$189,004,000 (2022: HK$182,916,000).

Fair value of investment properties

The investment properties are stated at estimated fair value,
determined by the directors, based on an independent external
valuer.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
Group uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Whilst the Group considers these valuations are the best
estimates, any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social
changes or other unexpected incidents as a result of change
in macroeconomic environment may cause further disruptions
to the Group's business. Where Level 1 inputs are not available,
the Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs not
based on observable market data to estimate the fair value of
properties. Note 12 provided detailed information about the
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of the properties. Changes in
inputs and assumptions could result in material adjustments to
the fair value of the properties.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group's investment properties
amounted to HK$150,027,000 (2022: HK$163,229,000).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Loss allowance on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate the ECL for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings and days past due as groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is initially based
on the Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical experience with
forward-looking information. At the end of each reporting
period, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered.
Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially
affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary
to make additional impairment charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

As at 30 June 2023, the Group's trade receivables at amortised
cost amounted to HK$178,576,000 (2022: HK$65,047,000),
net of allowance for impairment loss of HK$904,000 (2022:
HK$1,091,000).

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the sale value of goods and is within the
scope of HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. The
Group manages its business as a single unit and, accordingly,
the manufacturing and sale of ladies’ intimate apparel is the
only reportable segment and virtually all of the revenue and
operating profits is derived from this business segment. The
consolidated financial statements are already presented in
a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resources allocation and operating performance review.

B A TR

3.

fhEF AR EME 2 EERIF @)

EZRBRAZEERAE
AEEFERABEGREFEE S BEERD
EHMERBEX BEXDIRBEAREEN
ARBEEBRLIBEAEARUBERAZ
BEHBBYERER - BERENSREAKH
FELBREOER - RAEBE KR EME LR
EARMBUEEN ZBERLR NSRS B
R ABENBEENTGEHN LEE
AIEMEENNES ZERIXNETED
KEHFEERBEREATE  RAAL
BEHGEABRRIFHBEINREZLS -

M-B-=%FXA=10 KNEEIZHH
AT ERE SRR K& % A178,576,000
BT (ZF = —F 65,047,000 L) © H K
SR B IS 18 B #5904,0008 L (B — =
1,091,00056 7T) °

BWARTEER
WARNEmEEEE LEREFBUHR
FERAFSEIKEZPENZWAINEG
BAR- "EERE -BULEHXE
WEERBEXRAXRBEE AT RED
BoMERLMARAREZENIGIRA
WEBDR -REMBRRZ25 A E
O RERIEHNEERRAARANT
Ex=(MXTELERRA)ARBZ2HERZ
AAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

The chief operating decision maker regularly assesses available
production capacity on a plant by plant basis, however, no
discrete financial information is available for each plant for the
purpose of resources allocation and operating performance
review. The chief operating decision maker reviews financial
information on a consolidated basis. Accordingly, no separate
business segment information is disclosed.

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the
financial information reviewed by the executive directors are
the same as those adopted in preparing the Group's financial
statements. Segment revenue is the consolidated revenue of the
Group. Segment profit or loss is the consolidated profit or loss
after taxation.

All the Group'’s segment assets and liabilities are under the only
reportable segment as at 30 June 2023 and 2022.

The Group has applied practical expedient in paragraph 121 of
HKFRS 15 to exempt the disclosure of revenue expected to be
recognised in the future arising from contracts with customers
in existence at the reporting date to its revenue from sales of
goods as the performance obligation is part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year or less.

(a) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group's revenue from
external customers and (i) the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, interest(s) in associates
and a joint venture and certain prepayments and deposits
("specified non-current assets”). The geographical location
of revenue from external customers is based on the
location to which the goods are delivered.

T FFH e

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

WARDEER @

BOBEERLRBEHEERR  TEEER
RAERFEEME 2R BERE - HELE
EMEZBILMBEERN TBEERRA
REABBERERERNMBEN - Bt
VEBIHBERGOEER -

IRENTETEHN M BERARANE
ARRERNKERRE B RRARAE
HE - 2 BERARAEE ZLZRBA - M
7 18 0a M KBS 1B AR A BRI 1808 M S 1R -

EER T _=ZFR_F=__FHAH
TRZOBEEREBERNKREE—O
He

ERVBREENZISHRFE2IRANER
REDZHERBEARRE A BRFAEE
BEPZHEMEQELEMEMK &0 R KE
RHWA  AEBEEEEEARERE
HEEMHWBA REARBHERBROERS
FREHSH—FHATHNEON—&D -

(a) HEER
TREFIEHIEBENBSE S BBOAEE
REHINEERP 2 WA REEE
ZWE - BEREE  REWE - RN
ERNRIR— e A ZEZUARE
FrEAFEERES ([FEIERBEE])
ZEBC-RAENINEERRPZKAZ
IR EIEEY 2 EX B /i E

e
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4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, WARDEER )
(continued)
(a) Geographical information (continued) (a) WEEHR (&)
| | |
Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REHMEIEETF ZWA HEERBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—=E=-= S — —=E-= —ZF=-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
FERT FHT TER FHET
I I I I
Hong Kong BB 774 1,090 16,081 23,770
USA x 628,637 992,376 - -
Belgium Lt F 117,173 121,447 = -
The People’s Republic of A 5 A R H A
China ("PRC") (THED) 44,566 55,818 203,614 221,160
The Netherlands Gl 51,983 52,649 - -
Sri Lanka HEMR 24,845 44,382 21,653 3,955
Spain g 1,713 13,796 = -
Canada mzx 26,649 37,946 - -
Germany = 18,244 36,060 - -
France A 17,247 29,957 - -
Italy BERF 2,198 7,857 = -
Mexico i 21,342 15,685 - -
Thailand i - - 85,749 98,593
Cambodia RIFEE - - 6,857 17,185
Myanmar AR - - 13,053 12,898
Indonesia e - - 28,886 24,735
Others Hh 51,645 72,529 = -
1,007,016 1,481,592 375,893 402,296
(b) Information about major customers (b) EEEF2ER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the KEMASBEHEEBEI0A L 2EP
total sales of the Group are as follows: ZUg AN

2023 2022
B =f —_F-—

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FHET
. | |

Customer A ZEFA 339,348 583,452

Customer B ZFB 293,585 406,013

Customer C BPC 115,847 N/A /i A
K The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the * FEE YL A E 22 B R AN 5 B 42 U A HY 10% A

total revenue of the Group. Fo
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5. OTHER NET INCOME

5. Htblx A FH

B A TR

2023 2022
—E=F —E-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
I I
Government grants (note) B 4 B (BT 3,804 3,143
Gross rental income from investment WEYEBHESWA
properties 10,788 12,169
Fair value loss on investment properties R &Y% A FBEEIE (2,720) (1,679)
Sample income Beam A 1,146 424
Interest income from loans to RET—EBEQTNERN
an associate B A - 862
Interest income from banks AT HLEWA 519 313
Fair value loss on derivative financial PTESBMIAEANFEEER
instrument (note 13) (FF3E13) - (1,402)
Gain on early termination of leases RN IETRE 2 W as 624 -
Gain on disposal of property, plantand  HEWE - BELREZ
equipment & 22 -
Others Hh 1,207 3,973
15,390 17,803
Note: isE -

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group received government
grants of HK$3,804,000 (2022: HKS$3,143,000) from the Mainland China
and Hong Kong Government, of which HK$872,000 (2022: HK$1,784,000)
represents funding support from the Employment Support Scheme under
the Anti-epidemic Fund set up by the Hong Kong Government.

For government subsidies from the Mainland China government, there were
no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to the receipts
of these government subsidies. There is no assurance that the Group will
continue to receive such government subsidies in the future.

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

REBEE-Z = A=1tHILEE  NEBEWIR
RO K R e IR 0 IR T 4 813,804,000 T (=
T = T4 £3,143,0008 70) - HAF872,0008 T (ZF
T4 1 1,784,00008 70) BB BT TR A BT E
RESTHIRBEEITENESTE -

B B2k B B KB A O BT AR B 0 3 R ER R %

SR BB R TR R R E A FH -
1BE AR 78 AN 52 [ 70 R 2R 3 A 6 A % S5 R AT Al 8
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6.

112

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

(Loss)/profit before taxation has been arrived at after

charging/(crediting):

(REBERAEIN

6. BRBiAT(E5E) EA
MELE (B1E) SHERMeE kR, GEA) T

B A TR

278

2023 2022
—E-= =_
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
I I
(a) Finance costs (a) MEEHA
Interest expense on bank borrowings RITEEZFERAXZ 5,246 1,659
Interest on lease liabilities HEABMNHE 2,350 1,966
Other bank charges HMiRITE A 4,776 4,259
12,372 7,884
(b) Staff costs (b) B IRXA
Staff costs, including directors’ BTN (BIEEEWS)
emoluments (note (i)) (B #EG)) 420,413 487,925
Equity-settled share-based payment PARE 25 S5 H AR (D
expenses BEMHNTHIRAX 766 1,038
Provision for retirement benefits RURAE IR E B
obligations (note 23) (FF7¥23) 2,527 367
423,706 489,330
(c) Otheritems (¢ HAMEHE
Auditors’ remuneration ZERRD BN 1,861 1,790
Depreciation charges mEEMA
— property, plant and equipment — Wz - BB N 27,913 28,229
— right-of-use assets —EAEEE 16,629 17,143
Reversal of impairment loss on trade B 5 EWRERFOR BB
receivables (187) (51)
Write-off of property, plant and M - WE R&E
equipment (included in general (BErA—MRITHAZ)
and administrative expenses) (PR REG)
(note (ii)) 6,162 -
Write-off of other receivables il &8 L th 8 AR 3K
(included in general and = u‘U\ ﬂx&ﬁﬁﬁ(?ﬁiﬁ)
administrative expenses) (note (ii)) CiEAD) 1,641 -
Net allowance for obsolete REFEREHFE(EFA
inventories (included in cost of SHE A AS)
sales) (2,033) 9,153
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME  BERREZBE
and equipment - 866
Cost of inventories recognised as an EERARI 2 FEEKAE
expense 833,710 1,198,511
Net exchange (gain)/loss PE N (Wa) /E5i8 558 (2,821) 5447
Expense relating to short-term leases BHEEBAENRY 1,320 2,833
Expense relating to leases of FHEEEEEHENHX
low-value assets 71 167
Notes: M=
(i) Details of directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in 0) BT APRESEMNE ZF 5N E7IRE - E&
note 7. Staff costs included amounts in respect of defined contribution IR ABIEARBRREMRITGERE RS R
retirement benefit schemes contributions of HK$24,280,000 (2022: Y 4 5824,280,000/8 7T (—ZF = —4F : 25,165,000
HK$25,165,000). BIT) °
(i)~ During the year ended 30 June 2023, the leasehold improvement of (i REZ-_ETE-_=F~A=t+BHIEFERN #A
HK$6,162,000 and rental deposit of HK$ 1,641,000 are written off upon B )2 56,162,000/ 7T & FH £ 12 £1,641,000
the early termination of a lease contract which was attributable to the BTERBEESQEAK IR TaER
business restructuring associated with suspension of operation of a REE - RIBEELEMMEANERER
factory in Southeast Asia. PR -
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors
Details of emoluments paid or payable by the Group to
the Directors (including Non-executive Directors) disclosed
pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

7.

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

EEREEMS

(a) E=
BIEE B QB 38315 & A A (5
REENREM Al FE2HEREASE
BENENES (BREIENTES)
ZMEFBLT

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:

2023 2022
—EZ= —EF-—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FHET
I I
Fees to non-executive directors FRTES S 1,043 1,200
Remuneration to executive directors: WITESHE -
— Salaries and other benefits — e MEMER 9,622 8,811
- Discretionary bonus —WIETEA = 4,936
~ Share-based payments — AR RER A 28 54
— Retirement benefit scheme —IRREFIET B 3
contributions 54 54
10,747 15,055

For the year ended 30 June 2023
BE-S-=EAAZtHLEE

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other Discretionary  Share-based scheme
Fees benefits bonus payments contributions Total
HER DRGR  REKEN
Name of director ESfE we | HAER 0 BERL  EBROZM HEER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THER THER TR
I e I N S N R R
Wong Chung Chong #ilE - 3,412 - - 18 3,430
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin BRI - 3,105 - 14 18 3,137
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth BHE - 3,105 - 14 18 3,137
Fung WaiYiu (Retredon 16 SEE (R =F ==
September 2022) NATABER) 42 - - - - Iy)
Lucas AM. Laureys (Retired on Lucas AM. Laureys
18 November 2022) (RZBZZ%1-A
TNERE) 7 - - - - 7
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Lien Van de Velde (Appointed  Lien Van de Velde
on 18 November 2022) (RZBZZ%+-A
+/\BEZ() 124 - - - - 124
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Rigih 200 o - o o 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert R 200 - - - - 200
Lin Sun Mo, Willy HER 200 - - - - 200
1,043 9,622 - 28 54 10,747
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 7. EEREEME #)
(continued)

(a) Directors (continued) (a) EEH)

For the year ended 30 June 2022
HE-Z-_F A-tBLFE

Retirement

Salariesand  Discretionary  Share-based  benefit scheme
Fees  other benefits bonus payments  contributions Total

el WBHE  RIKER
Name of director ESHA we  EMEN  META  EEmexA HEER @t
HKS'000 HK'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
' S I N S S S A

Wong Chung Chong #ihA - 341 - - 18 3429
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin G - 2,700 2468 27 18 5213
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth A - 2,700 2468 27 18 5213
Fung Wai Yiu hiee=2 200 - - - - 200
Lucas AM. Laureys Lucas AM. Laureys 200 - - - - 200
Herman Van de Velde Herman Van de Velde 200 - - - - 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Rig ik 200 - - - - 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 3% 200 - - - - 200
Lin Sun Mo, Willy MER 200 - - - - 200
1,200 8811 4936 54 54 15,055
None of the directors waived any emoluments during the REBEE-_ S - —FR_-_FT-—FxA

year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022. B IFERE & (T B

<]

Sl
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7. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS

(continued)

(b) Employees
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2022: three) were Directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above.
The emoluments of the remaining two (2022: two)
individuals were as follows:

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

7. EEREEME &

(b)

==

REBFBAUGZRFALTH =M (ZF
CZR) ARRRIES  BEZ
MeEBEEEXEE -HBEWu (ZF
ZZF W) AT ZMenT

2023 2022

—E-=HF —E-—4F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET
I I

Salaries and other benefits e REMER 3,832 3,950

Discretionary bonus [k AN 1,283 2,489

Share-based payments ABR 10 B ETRM T 36 257

Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR K & ) 5T 2 £ 3¢ 138 36

5,289 6,732

The emoluments were within the following bands:

LB T

Number of individuals

A

2023 2022
—E_= g

| N A
HK$2,000,001 - HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 JT - 2,500,000/ 7T 1 -
HK$2,500,001 - HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ JT - 3,000,000 7T 1 -
HK$3,000,001 - HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ JT - 3,500,000/ JT = '
HK$3,500,001 - HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 JT - 4,000,000/ 7T - 1
2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any director
or employee as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office during the
years ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

RBEZZT_=FR-FTZ_F<H
“tTHLEFEAR  AEEB &R TR
ETRREEZNE  EANALRE
Bl AREB RN IERBER
fHfE -
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8.

116

B A TR

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FiIBEHMAX
I I
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
I I
Current tax: AHATIE ¢
Hong Kong B 1,168 2,665
Other jurisdictions H b RERE R 1,601 5,247
e ) 1912
Under/(over)-provision of BEFEXRBBIE
current tax in prior years: BEIR(BERHE) :

Hong Kong BE (95) 4)
Other jurisdictions Hth AE R 225 26
N =L

Deferred taxation (note 24) BT R (M =E24)

Origination and reversal of temporary ~ E4 RO &K= 2

diferences i 64s) .. ... .0 (206).
Income tax expense FriS R = 2,254 7,728

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is calculated at
16.5% (2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying
corporation under the two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime.

For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits are
taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this subsidiary
was calculated at the same basis in 2022.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

TECCZFNEAENGHBREREAFE
B il 5T FERT B AR LA16s% (Z B = — 4 -
165%) MR EHE  EAKE -—FKWEQ
AIERSN - ERBASHMARGE S BERER -

KT EARME ° &2,0000007% 7T & ST i
FI) 128 25% ) B R AN TR - T H &R B RE R A
HAZ165% R EWF - N T ==
ZHBRARINEEFEREBEDIZARE
AESTHE o

BEFECEMSHRAREEBMA -+
BB B A R 2 B A25% o

Hit rDAE R 2 HIB DN RBEAE DA ER
ZBITHEFH -
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(REBERAEIN

8. MEHMAX W

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
(loss)/profit before tax per consolidated statement of profit or

loss as follows:

FEMEHF X EER
B/ wFEERENT

B A TR

BHEERZEHA (B

2023 2022
=F== —EF_—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
I I
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (E51E) & A (76,270) 19,216
Tax at the domestic income tax rate REMPABHMBERGTE 2BIR (12,585) 2,024
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for FLEL 75 M & N A FR L B 2
tax purpose M2 3,508 2,864
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ FLF TG M 5 HERBMUA Z
purpose M2 (1,008) (682)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIER RIS E 1B 2 M5 £ 18,029 4428
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses AR ARG ER
previously not recognised Mg 2 (3,583) (1,682)
Tax effect of temporary differences not AR 7R E I Z= 58 2 T 75 57 &
recognised 529 546
Under provision in respect of prior year B E BEH T 2 130 22
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries FE At RIAE R AL & 2
operating in other jurisdictions WBARMETR ZHE (2,766) 208
Income tax expense for the year FRABFHAYX 2,254 7,728
DIVIDENDS o,
The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the WEARNRBE ST -—=FK —

year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022.

Z=FFH e

7__$/\ﬂ T HIEFEE ik 3R
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10.

118

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 10. 3% (&1#8) &R
The calculation of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share NN PR AR B B AR E AN S (E18)
attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company is based S BRI TIRE NI E R E

on the following data:

2023 2022
—2=-= T
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
I I
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity BUFTESRERES (F18)
shareholders of the Company for BRI 2 RQ BRI E
the purpose of computing basic FE1E (B5148) s T
and diluted (loss)/earnings per share (84,732) 3,550

Number of shares

B EE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F

Weighted average number of ordinary A AT E G A% E A K #58

shares for the purpose of basic and (B#B) /BF Lk

diluted (loss)/earnings per share hnEFEHEE 301,052,675 301,052,675
The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share does not STEEREE (BE) BRI ERRERT
assume the exercise of the Company’s options because the FEARNRIMERE THRZSERESD
exercise price of those options was higher than the average TEEeENEE_E-_=FN_Z__F
market price for shares for both years ended 30 June 2023 and NA=Z+THIEMEFEN RN TFHHE -
2022.

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& 5 & & BB &N » H B THIR)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT M. PNE- -BERRE
. 1 ! 1 ' ¢ 1 | |
Ownership
interests in
leasehold land Other

and buildings properties
held for own leased for

use carried at own use Furniture,
Freeholdland  depreciated carried Leasehold  fixtures and Motor  Construction
and buildings cost atcost improvements  equipment vehicles  inprogress Total
RABHE
NERER
fifEH g

BELHR  SIERER
KARE ByeH MREM  AENR i
tHERY  RRERE  RMAR k% KERGA nE ERIE ae
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000
TE7 TR TEL TE7 -2 TR TR TEL
I S I N S S S S S

Cost A
AtT July 2001 WZE-EtA-H 27907 nul 53460 78343 388611 11,958 20 633731
Curency eslgnment 52 g (584 (1459 ) (14689) 3%6) 03 (01689
Additions E - 290 11948 10449 13720 - 78 36,485
Write-offfisposals i/t - - - (15419 8311) - - (23730)
Reclasifcation EEipL - - - - m - (270) -
Transferfrom property, plant~~ E11% - B iR

andequipment toinvestment  RETE

properties - (5337) - - - - - (5337
At30June 2022and 1 ly202 R=E==FRAZHA

i — g 27,489 62,590 63,956 72,39 379,601 11,592 1,836 619,460

Currency realignment ERE 1 12 (764) (279) (1315) (35) 1 (2379)
Additions HE - 2,593 18,117 6,962 21,281 91 3431 58,481
Wite-offdisposels /e - - - (9213) (8,686) (852) (253) (19,004)
Reclasifcation EEipL - - - 78 - - (78) -
Early termination of eases RAIR RS - - (10,623) - - - - (10,623)
Lease modification REEH - = (5,713) - - - = (5,713)
Transfer fom property,plant A% * BE R E

andequiomentto nvestment - BARENE

properties - (363) - - - - - (363)
At 30 June 203 RIEZZERAZTH 27,490 64,832 64,973 69,944 396,887 10,796 4,937 639,859
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11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) M. YVE -BERSZE®

1 ! I ' I J | |
Ownership
interests in
leasehold land

and buildings Other
held for own properties
Freehold  usecarriedat leased for own Furniture,
landand  depreciated  use carried Leasehold  fixtures and Motor  Construction
buildings cost atcost improvements  equipment vehicles inprogress Total
EEEES
NERER
fitEH gax

EEL4E  SIERER
KARE  BYeH AREN  AENR B
tHRRT  HARERE  AHNR £ KEREA nE o ERIE i
HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000
TEL TR TEL TEL TEL TEL TR TEL
I I S S S S S S

Depreciation and impairment: 7 &R fE :

At 1 uly 2021 i g Bl 977 51783 7009 65,174 264053 10359 - 4815
Cunency realignment EXEE (79) (1,359) (1,141 (549 (7.778) (320) - (11220
Charge forthe year RERER 219 200 14471 5927 21940 793 - 4537
Eliinated on disposals NHERHR - - - (14581) (8006) - - (22587)
Reclassfication ENE - - - - - - - -

Transterfrom property,plant 9% HE Rk =L
andequipment toinvestment B NE

properties - (3179) - - - - - (3179)
At30June 202and Thy 202 RZEZZERAZTA
S o 9917 49,275 40,339 55,972 270,209 10,832 - 436,544
Currency realignment R - 12 (873) (232) (911) - - (2,004)
Charge for the year RERER - 212 14,004 6,384 21,448 579 - 44,542
Eliminated on disposals/writeoff I /R A - - - (3,051) (8,409) (852) - (12312)
Reclassfication ENE - - - - - - - -
Farly termination ofleases ReARE - - (4662) - - - = (4,662)
Lease modification HEL D - - (10,890) - - - - (10,890)

Transfer from property,plant A% « HE RitAER
andequipment to vestment 1R &%

properties - (363) - - - - - (363)
At30 June 2023 RZFZZERAZTA 9917 51,051 37,918 59,073 282,337 10,559 - 450,855
Net book value FEFE
30 June 2023 RZEZZERA=1A 17,573 13,781 27,055 10,871 114,550 7 4937 189,004
30 June 2022 W-F-ZERA=1R 17572 13315 BT 16424 109392 760 183 182916
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

M. Y% BERRKE®

(a) EHEEE

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by

class of underlying asset is as follows:

B A TR

EREEEREBEERNE D NEK
EFESFTWT

2023

—=E=-=

HK$'000
TET

2022
S

HK$'000
TR

Ownership interests in leasehold land
and buildings held for own use,
carried at depreciated cost in Hong

Kong, with remaining lease term of:

- between 10 and 50 years

Ownership interests in leasehold land
and buildings held for own use,
carried at depreciated cost outside
Hong Kong, with remaining lease

AERAMBENHEE L

RIEFHEMESE
R IRITERAL AR
MG EES
FerfiEs A -
—10%&504F

REAMBENHEE L

REFHheEEE
o IWITERACA
SIME - R B AL

term of: FIAHEE A
— 50 years or more —50F 5 Ak 345 362
— between 10 and 50 years —10&50%F 13,436 12,953
13,781 13,315
Other properties leased for own use, AERAmMEENEAM
carried at depreciated cost W - IRITERAR AT IE 27,055 23,617
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated /52 + IR R AR FIE
cost 200 640
27,255 24,257
Ownership interests in leasehold REEREYZEF T
investment property, carried at WEREER -
fair value, with remaining ZATFEEE -
lease term of T ER A
— 50 years or more —50F 3k A 6,097 6,791
— between 10 and 50 years —10E504F 130,877 143,540
~ within 10 years — 105 & 13,053 12,898
e __.____.__...__..150,027 ] 163,229
191,063 200,801

RESEABERAT | T =G50 e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
(a) Right-of-use assets (continued)

(REBERAEIN

B A TR

M. Y% BERRKE®
(a) FAEEE®

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases REETERARRHNAZIEE 217
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: m
I I
2023 2022
—E—= B
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FEIT
. | |
Depreciation charge of right-of-use TRAEEENNEERR -
assets by class of underlying asset: REMEESE
Ownership interests in leasehold land ~ R E T REFHH
and buildings mERER 2,127 2,022
Other properties leased for own use RHEAMEENEMYE 14,004 14,471
Motor vehicles AE 498 650
16,629 17,143
Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) HEAEMNFE (HiT6) 2,350 1,966
Expense relating to short-term leases BHACHEENRY 1,320 2,833
Expense relating to leases of low-value BEEEEEERENFHX
assets 71 167

During the year ended 30 June 2023, additions to right-of-use
assets were HK$18,208,000 (2022: HKS$11,948,000). This
amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments
payable under new tenancy agreements and motor vehicles.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group
early terminated a lease contract due to the business
restructuring associated with suspension of operations
of a factory in Southeast Asia, the respective right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$5,961,000 (2022: nil) and
HK$6,585,000 (2022: nil) are derecognised accordingly,
resulting in a gain on early termination of HK$624,000
(2022: nil) recognised in profit or loss.

During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group renewed
a lease contract with landlord to extend the lease term
with a reduction in lease payments, the respective lease
modification on right-of-use asset and lease liability of
HKS$5,177,000 (2022: nil) are recognised accordingly.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity

analysis of lease liabilities are set out in notes 18(c) and 21
respectively.
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R-ZE_=FNA=ZTHILEFERN "
{55 PR & EE Y3 N &18,208,00078 7T (=
LT~ T4 1 11,94800087T) c A e B E
CREURBENBEERE R TEEN
RE AN EFREE -

 E_T_ZFNAZTHIEEE
AEFRREDT - RIMEELEM
M ESEAMEARIERAESL
8 & B9 {8 F & 7£5,961,0008 70 (=&

o ﬁ%m)&fﬂ?‘?ﬁ%%%ooo
;‘%fc(_":: T TT) WK TR
R BEIRA %%JH&Z #5624,00078 7T (=
T oF BT EEBEPER -

HE_Z_ZF~AZ=Z1+HILFE"
AEFHRETFEEHEAY TR
HMEHBHYRIDBHEENFK HEER
51770008 L (ZEZZF : T L)W
FHREBEERTHEAENHEEEN -

ﬁfﬁ?ﬂf%‘%‘ eREMEEREDH

*ﬁﬁ’]i\*"%ﬂ%ﬁﬁ"ﬁﬁ FE18(c) A0
EZ
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

EBESEERERAR |

Right-of-use assets (continued)

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and
buildings held for own use
The Group hold several industrial buildings as
factories where its manufacturing facilities are
primarily located. The Group is the registered owner
of these property interests, including the whole or
part of undivided share in the underlying land. Lump
sum payments were made upfront to acquire the
right-of-use, and there are no ongoing payments to
be made under the terms of the land lease, other
than payments based on rateable values set by the
relevant government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to the relevant
government authorities.

(ii)  Other properties leased for own use
The Group has obtained the right to use of other
properties as its warehouses and factories through
tenancy agreements. The lease terms are generally
ranged from two to six years.

(iii) Motor vehicles

The Group leases motor vehicles under leases

expiring from one to four years. None of the leases

includes variable lease payments.

Transfer from land and buildings to investment
properties

During the year ended 30 June 2023, due to the change
of use, part of the Group's land and buildings with net
book value of nil (2022: HK$2,162,000) was transferred
to investment properties. Upon the date of transfer, the
fair value was determined by directors of the Company
with reference to the professional valuations using
cost approach and were categorised as Level 3 fair
value measurement as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The fair value as at the date of transfer was
determined to be HKS$1,049,000 (2022: HKS$6,791,000).
Accordingly, revaluation gain of HK$1,049,000 (2022:
HK$4,629,000) was recognised in other comprehensive
income.

T FFH e

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

M. Y% BERRKE®

(a)

(b)

FRAREE®

() BEAMFENHE LML IE
FHAFEREE D
AEEBEETIEETIELR -
ERERBEEMNRNZSEEF -
AEEAZEMEETNTME
EA BEEABLHTO MR
MEIEos ARSFERHESR
E AEBRLEIfN—BEHIE
BIELHBEKRR BRIAE B
RERMENER=MEEAE
WA RN BBFEN K &
ERBEBIRESH WASINTAE
BABNER °

(i) BEAMHENEMYFE
AREDEEBEEHRIMGH
fmE(ERERERIR) HE
Pt - HEH RN F_ERF -

(i) JTE
AEBERBEAH—ENFNEE
HAARE -HEMTEETEH
EfTEE o

HItREFEITRENE

RBE-_E-_=ZFA=+HILFE
A-BERENASE Bt A&EEE
MEEASEIT(ZEZ2F 2,162,000
BTN T HREFEEHRTIRE
ME -RNEZOH RFEEEARAEAR

AEFE2EHEXMGHEET  EXHAE
TRARAEET ENBERERBY

BREERBF 1R [ A FEBEFE]FT
AEWMEZLHAFEEZ - REE
H B8 & F B B # 1 TE 41,049,000/
T (2T =4 :6,791,00087T) - A&
I B R EMEE WS RERE G K
#51,049,0008 7T (== = —4F : 4,629,000
BIT) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 53 A & B & 4b -

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(c)

Impairment assessment

As at 30 June 2023, the directors of the Company
conducted an impairment assessment for the property,
plant and equipment. The recoverable amount has been
determined based on a value in use calculation. That
calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year
period, and discount rate of 12.8%. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2.5% growth
rate. This growth rate is based on the relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales and gross margin, such estimation is based
on the Group’s past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development which are
subject to higher degree to estimation uncertainties.
Management believes that any reasonably possible
change in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount to exceed the recoverable amount.

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(c)

B A TR

M. Y% BERRKE®

B
RZE-_=FA=Z+H AQA=E
EHWE  BEMREETRERS -
AlESEAFEAEETFEMET
EETEREBEEERBIEREESF
BB EER 2BRAR e RE - KA
WE128%sTE - BESFHE 2B SR
SR FEA2RETIRRREE - ZER
RBEHBTELERBAETE - A
THRBHEBITENFYRPEER-
BEBEBRESRA/ REMNEREA
HEAMEMEEREBEEREERE
MEFME  BEGTHERAEED
BAERBALEEEAMSEENTER -
M FEEs T HEE - EEEM
EZEBENTENAREZHBETEE
FEESSEATKRD S5 -

12. REWE

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
. | |
Fair value RFEE
At the beginning of the year REA) 163,229 161,821
Currency realignment b 5 A (11,531) (3,704)
Transfer from property, plant and B - BB R
equipment to investment properties EEREWZE (M 11(b)
(note 11(b)) 1,049 6,791
Fair value loss on investment properties &Y% A FEEEIE (2,720) (1,679)
At the end of the year REK 150,027 163,229
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iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

The fair values of the Group's investment properties at 30 June
2023 and 2022 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected with
the Group. The valuation of investment properties located in
Shenzhen was arrived at using the investment approach by
taking into account the current passing rents of the properties
being held under existing tenancies and the reversionary
potential of the tenancies if they have been or would be let
to tenant. The valuation of investment properties located
in Foshan, Longnan and Myanmar was arrived at using the
depreciated replacement cost approach with reference to its
depreciated replacement costs.

All of the Group's property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment properties.

All investment properties of the Group are situated on land
outside of Hong Kong.

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group's
properties measured at the end of the reporting period on
a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance
of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level
1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs
i.e. observable inputs which fail to
meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable
inputs are inputs for which market data
are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant
unobservable inputs

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e

12. REWE )

AEBREMER_ZT-_=FR-_F=-=
FRNA=Z+THZAFEE  HIRKEEASE
EVEBEZBYEEASERGEEMELS
BHRARTEERARETZEEETE I
RAEINTHREDERNHEDRBIREE
HT HERBCEEERBREHEOMEY
¥CHETFRBHEFHEAEZERTZEME
ZHROAE RBHZERE N - LR F L
MW EEEREAaNREMENGHER
AIrHEERAEETT ERELREEN
BREERA -

REBELEHEREURRE S SEE A
BzASEMBY XD RAATER
BAFE  UDBE/RARINEREME

AEBPREREMEAUREFBAINN L
ke

QNFEEER
TREJINHEMRREEEEREFEZ
AEEMEAFEE ZFEQVFEERS
BYBRELNFEBRIATEEFEIR
EZ=ERFEEBRESE RFEE
EZEROBRESEHERMABE AR
BzABERERERNEENT

— B-RMHE: EUE-REBAZE (R
HRAEEXRBERE
BHERRMSHZKR
HEHE)FEZAF
B{E

- FRMEE: UFE KB AZE (K
THAERE-—RZAEE
WABE BTERE
NITRNCIR- 3 PN ¢
AAEBZAFEE A
BERG ARBLAELRE
BHEEDSHEEZHA
B

- FZHMHE: EREAMAITEHERE
ABUERT & 2 AFEE
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iR e PR R AR BT &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

12. BEWE &)
AT EEREHK &)

Fair value at Fair value measurements
30 June 2023 as at 30 June 2023 categorised into
RZBEZ=
ARA=tHZ THER=ZB==5A=+H2Z
APEE AVPEEHE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B B=R B=R
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T TR FHT
I S I N N
Recurring fair value REMLATEEE
measurement
Investment properties: KREME
~ Industrial - PRC —I%-+% 126,597 - - 126,597
~ Industrial - Myanmar —T¥-@R 13,053 - - 13,053
~ Residential - PRC —fFE—H 10,377 - - 10,377

Fair value measurements
as at 30 June 2022 categorised into

THEIRZTE_ZFA=1THZ

ATEEE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
& EM E=
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET

Fair value at
30 June 2022
i
ANAE=ZtEBZ
NEEE
HKS$'000
FAT
Recurring fair value REMAFEETE
measurement
Investment properties: REME
~ Industrial - PRC —I%-%H 139,443
— Industrial = Myanmar - I%-H8 12,898
— Residential - PRC —-FE-4 10,888

- - 139,443
- - 12,898
- - 10,888
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& 5 & & BB &N » H B THIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. BEWHE (»)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements EBE=F L FEEEHFEZ2ER

Unobservable input -

Unobservable input - Reversionary potential monthly rent
Capitalisation rate per square meter
AU BERAHE - AU BERABE -
EXR{ct® EREESYHRAR
Weighted Weighted
Range average Range average
& meEFEH & mAEF
. ] | | |
Investment properties R-ZE-=%xA=+H
as at 30 June 2023 ZREME
- Industrial - Shenzhen,PRC ~ — T ¥ —HBFITH 1.75% to 2.25% 2% RMB97.5 to RMB98.5
1.75%%2.25% RMB100.4
AR¥975TE  AK¥985T
AR%10047
- Residential - Shenzhen, PRC  —{F % — IR 1.5% to 2.0% 1.75% RMB96.3 to RMB99.4
1.5%%2.0% RMB102.5
AR#9635Z2 ARM¥99.4%
AR#®10257

| _______________________|]
Unobservable input -
Replacement cost
per square meter
FTUBERBARE -
EEMABYEARAR
Weighted
Range average

H€E I3
. ! | |

— Industrial - Foshan, PRC - TE-HEAFLT RMB825 to RMBS888
RMB951

AR#825TE AR #8887
AR¥9517T

- Industrial - Longnan, PRC - I¥-FEER% RMB758 RMB758

AR¥7587T AR¥7587T

- Industrial - Myanmar - I%-§@%8 USD219 to USD285
USD291

219% T E 285X T
29135 7T
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

12.

128

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 12. BEWHE »)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEHEE=RATLEEFEZER ®)

(continued)

Unobservable input -

Unobservable input - Reversionary potential monthly rent
Capitalisation rate per square meter
TRABEE ABE - TABEHASE -
BRI E EHEBEESTAHRAMR
Weighted Weighted
Range average Range average
i miEF Gl T
I I N R R
Investment properties R-B--5XA=tH
as at 30 June 2022 ZREME
- Industrial - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — T ¥ —H BRI 1.75% to 2.25% 2.21% RMB91.6 to RMB93.3
RMB94.3
1.75%%2.25% ARBII6LE  ARBB3T
AR#93T
~ Residential - Shenzhen, PRC ~ — {¥ & — R BRI T 1.5% t0 2.0% 1.90% RMB90.S to RMB92.7
RMB96.3
1.5%%2.0% AR®0STE  ARERIT
ARE963T

1
Unobservable input -
Replacement cost
per square meter

AR \EE —
BEERATFHKAMR
Weighted
Range average
#[E InEEF
' S S I I
~ Industrial - Foshan, PRC — T¥-hEHLT RMB8S55 to RMB926
RMB977
ARBEGSSTE ARM9267T
AR9777C
- Industrial - Myanmar - I¥%-f5 USD217 to USD280
USD286
7ETTE 280E T
286E 70
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iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The fair value of investment properties located in Shenzhen is
determined by discounting a projected rental income series
associated with the properties using risk-adjusted capitalisation
rates. The valuation takes into account the current passing rents
and the reversionary potentials and expected occupancy rate
of the respective properties. The capitalisation rates used have
been adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings
and the tenant credit quality. The fair value measurement is
positively correlated to the reversionary potential rent and
negatively correlated to the risk-adjusted capitalisation rate.

The fair value of investment properties located in Foshan,
Longnan and Myanmar is determined by using the depreciated
replacement cost approach which is based on an estimate
of the value for the existing use of the land, plus the current
gross replacement (reproduction) costs of the improvements,
less allowances for physical deterioration and all relevant
forms of obsolescence and optimisation. The application of
depreciated replacement cost approach is mainly due to their
lack of active market and comparable transactions for the use
of market approach and the lack of sufficient financial data for
income approach for these assets. The fair value measurement
is positively correlated to the depreciated replacement cost per
square meter.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e

12. REWE )

FHE=RAVEEFEZERN @

R RINTORENEZ AFEEBTIERR
RERFHEEN L KRR — R Ry X
HEZBERAESWAEE - HEFRIEH
MEZRTHELERBENARBHHE
RKofIRAEA L EERBTER Iith
HULMEFPEEERFLAR - R FEE
FAEREREEESNIEL  BERRH
BENEH KR -

fRFELT EEEREGNRENEN
REBEDLDERFTHKEERAELREE I
HEBERAZDRELHRE B EONM[E
BE MEERKEIRNEREE (B2)
AR BRERERBRENMA LR
FARERECELOBRE RLAEE
ERTHEBEXNNE DTEREKAT
BERRZ ERMSRAIELBRRZ UK
RBBAZRRZ W HHE - 2FE
EBEFFERESFHRTHREENAZILHERM -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 53 A & B & 4b -

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

130

(continued)

B A TR

12. REWE )

FHFE=RAVEEFEZERN @

Investment Investment Investment
properties properties properties
- industrial - industrial - residential
- Myanmar -PRC -PRC Total
REME REME REME
-I¥ -I% -fFE
— it — -/ @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH TR TR
I I S S R
At 1July 2021 R-Z-—F+A—H 12,821 137,714 11,286 161,821
Currency realignment BE 5 T - (3423) (281) (3,704)
Fair value adjustment NTEEFE 77 (1,639) (117) (1,679)
Transferred from property, MY - BEEEEET
plant and equipment to BEME
investment properties - 6,791 - 6,791
At 30 June 2022 and RZBZZ_F A=+H
1 July 2022 T -F+HA—H 12,898 139,443 10,888 163,229
Currency realignment 5 AE S (10,695) (836) (11,531)
Fair value adjustment RFEEHE 155 (3,200) 325 (2,720)
Transferred from property, B - WEREEET
plant and equipment to BEME
investment properties - 1,049 = 1,049
At 30 June 2023 R-ZZE_=F,A=T1H 13,053 126,597 10,377 150,027

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in
the line item “other net income” of the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

BREMEZAVFEBEABREEGRSERLZ
[E AU A ER | TR
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iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
(continued)

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 2 to 6 years,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time
all terms are renegotiated. Certain leases include variable lease
payment terms that are based on the revenue of tenants.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the
Group in future periods as follows:

12. REWE )

FHE=RAVEEFEZERN @

AEBRBEERELREENE - AE
B EHE— R AMEAF % ARZE
BRBETER A RREE B
B EFHERSREMASMABEEHT
TR B R -

RBEAH AEBERECITINHTAR
B A 2 FH B S 0O R 2R HR ] B Y R I ER AR
EfEMT

2023 2022
—E-= —_F-—

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET
/| | |

Within 1 year —FR 6,611 10,570

After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFAN 5,616 2,976

After 2 year but within 3 years MERE=FNA 5,081 1,733

After 3 year but within 4 years = FIREMNFRN 5,195 1,536

After 4 year but within 5 years MERERFER 5,396 1,443

After 5 years hF & 13,469 16,865

41,368 35123

Property rental income earned during the year was
HKS$10,788,000 (2022: HKS$12,169,000). All of the properties held
have committed tenants for the next 1 to 13 years (2022: 1 to 14
years).

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

RERNBRE 2P =8 e WA 510,788,000
T (T = 5 1121690008 L) < Fr#E G
ZEBMERNKRR—E+=F (ZF==
—E+NF)BERFEM -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (F& 53 A & B & 4b -

13. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
Details of the Group's interest in a joint venture, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, are as follows:

B A TR

13. R—EHEEAT 2
REBRE SR E 2R (EARERER

(SIE=NVAN

BYBHREAR) FBHIINT

Place of
incorporation
and business

o3

Name of joint venture

Charming Elastic Fabric Company Limited Hong Kong
(“Charming”)
PERERTERERAR ([FRE]) N

Effective

Particulars  percentage of

of issued and equity interest Principal

paid-up capital held Activity
TR FrEREZ

BEREFHE EREIL FEEK

Ordinary - 49% Manufacture and
HKS$4,662,396 sales of elastic
garment straps

R — 49% HERIHE
4,662,396/ 7T DEGER i

The Group has entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the
“Shareholders’ Agreement”) with New Horizon International
Investments Limited (“New Horizon"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of Best Pacific International Holdings Limited, on 4 November
2015. According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group
shall have the right to dispose part or all of its interest in
Charming to New Horizon from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022.
The Group has not exercised such right upon expiring of such
right and derecognised such derivative financial instrument of
HK$1,402,000 in profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Under the Shareholders” Agreement, the substantive operating
and financing decisions related to Charming are under the
joint control by the Group and New Horizon when the Group's
shareholding in Charming is 20% or above. As a result, the Group
account for its interest in Charming as a joint venture both in
2023 and 2022.
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R-Z—RF+—ANA AEEEBE
BERERERARZE2EWNB AR HER
BIREARAR (DHEDITYREDRZ
(ERBZ]D BEREHHE A5EH
BRZEZZEFLtA—RAEZTFX
A=t+RYMmBELEERFEZI D
w2 HEm HBEEEFNEMN  A5H
MABOEBE@AEN IRHEE_T ==
FRAZTBLFESEBITESMITA
1,402,000 L X IE TEFR B3B8 %% o

RIEAR R - AN 52 B R 45 BB 5 20% 3%
ALK BRESB2EHELSERRER
RERAEERBEEXBRES - ALt - B
TEC=FRIZEF  AEERGE
ZHRBARNBEE QR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

13. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued)

Summarised financial information of Charming, adjusted for any
differences in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, are

disclosed below:

B A TR

13. A—EEELTIZERE ®
FGEUBERN EReBE s fMze
ERRAE)MERBEATBEREN B
EHERTNT -

2023 2022
B =f —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
| | |
Gross amounts of Charming’s THFEEEE &%
Current assets mE) A& E 52,425 53,352
Non-current assets EMEBNEE 11,190 14,399
Current liabilities nBaE (6,933) (11,627)
Equity g (56,682) (56,124)
Included in the above assets and liabilities: & &E & BEE K
Cash and cash equivalents ReMESEEER 17,824 15,267
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade i E &R BE (THIEE ZEN
and other payables and provisions) AR R N At JE A< R SRCA R B ) (2,040) (2,221)
Revenue WA 63,503 84,771
Profit after taxation PR 512 i A 3,869 7,465
Other comprehensive income Hibh2HE s (3,311) 711)
Total comprehensive income 2SR 558 6,754
Included in the above profit: EaEFEE K
Depreciation and amortisation e R 1,351 2,001
Reconciled to the Group'sinterestin SR RS EFIEFEBEZ YR
Charming
Gross amounts of Charming’s net assets ~ $ABE 2 BE R EEE 56,682 56,124
Group's effective interest REBEZERER 49% 49%
Group's share of Charming’s net assets NEBEMLABECEETE 27,774 27,501
Disproportionate share of undistributed 37 3F#Z LE 5] 51k 2 & 99 Ik 345
profits (Note) (P 3E) 680 680
Carrying amount in the consolidated RErE M BmE 2 REE
financial statements 28,454 28,181
Note: B 5T
According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Group is entitled to 60% TR IR CAEBEAERKEREEZE - —RF

of the dividend to be declared for the years ended 30 June 2016 and 2017
irrespective for the change in shareholding as mentioned above.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, dividend of HK$2,593,000 was received
from joint venture, which was declared out of the distributable profit for the
years ended 30 June 2016 to 30 June 2020.

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

Rt FRNAZTRLFEERSHRERE Y
60% » T ANm E Al AR B o

REBEE-Z-_—F A=Z+tHLFEER KI4%
NAIMIRB25930008 7 EREBE_T—RF
ANAZ+HBE_Z_ZEFXA=Z1+HLEFENAT D
B A AR S R -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 14. REEE R R 2R
I S
2023 2022
—E-=5F —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
I S
Group's share of net assets AEBDHEEFE 8,408 3,955
Loans to an associate RETF-HEBEARNER = 21,290
8,408 25,245
Details of the Group's interests in associates, which are RNEBAREE S N T 7R (ERAERSEREG
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated B HRAR)GFEHYWOT

financial statements, are as follows:

Place of Particulars of Effective
incorporation issued and percentage of Principal
Name of associate and business paid-up capital equity interest held activity
1 A 3L K BETR FrsREz
BENRER X HERAFE ERES TEEK
2023 2022
—BE-=F —T-_-fF
I S S N S

Techspase (Private) Limited (“Techspase”) Sri Lanka Ordinary - 25% 25% Moulding and
LIRS USD2,000,000 laminating
L — business
2,000,000 7T BRREER
BRER
PT Bintang Abadi Persada ("BAP”) Indonesia Ordinary - 47.4% 29.6% Manufacture of
e Rp1,900,000,000 ladies’ underwear
(2022: Ordinary - EERZERK

Rp 1,420,000,000)

LR —

1,900,000,000EN & /&

(& -
TER—
1,420,000,000EN 2 /&)
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14. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 14. REBME QT 2 EH @
As at 30 June 2022, the loans to an associate are unsecured, RZZTE-_—FRA=Z1+H BHFHB
interest bearing at a rate of 3% to 5% per annum and are ERNEMERAERR LT R E3%E5%
repayable within two years from the respective drawn down AEANES WEARS AR PRETW
dates. FRNEE-
During the year ended 30 June 2023, Top Form Brassiere Mfg. REBE_Z_=F"A=THLEFER"
Co., Limited (“Top Form Brassiere”), an indirect wholly-owned AAGREE2ENBAEENNER &
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a subscription WAER AR ([EEAKE]) B L A RPT
agreement with an associate, PT Bintang Abadi Persada (“BAP"), Bintang Abadi Persada ([ BAP J) 5] 32 3R B 13
to subscribe and allot 480 new BAP shares for a consideration of & DARREE R BCEE480MXBAPHTRR 5 - B
US$400,000, with US$398,000 settled by set-off against the loan {8 /400,0003 7T+ H $1398,0003 7T, LA K 4
amount due and owing by BAP to Top Form Brassiere and the BAPEENEBNENERSEBN A AT -
remaining US$2,000 to be paid in cash. Details of which was set B2 T2000E T RIAR & X1 - BEAFIEH
out in the Company's Announcement dated 29 December 2022. REARARBHA-_ZTE-_—_F+_-_A-+Ah
A AER -
During the year ended 30 June 2023, Top Form Brassiere RBE_Z_=F"A=THILFEA"
assigned US$2,342,000 of the loan amount due from BAP to SETMEEERAPZEZR ST PN
PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya (“PGJ"), an indirect wholly-owned 2342000 T EZE T AR IMELEME R
subsidiary of the Company as set-off against U5%$2,000,000, AIPT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya ([PGJ 1) » LA
being the purchase price of the assets and set off against 4 & 2 B B {82,000,0003 7T © A & K $#HPG)
US$342,000 being one year rental deposit in relation to the BHEEmE LM RERBAPZ —FHEE S
lease agreement and side letter owing by PGJ to BAP. Details of 342000 7T - AR BEHERNARA B R A
which was set out in the Company’s Announcement dated 29 —E - _F+_AZt+NABEHAER-
December 2022.
15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 15. HttEMEE
Equity securities designated at FVOCI EEAUATEEFEEHBETA
(non-recycling) Hit2EW=E (R EE) WERRS
/| | |
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
I |
Unlisted equity securities EFTHEDRES 2,838 2,838
The Group designated the investment in equity securities at AU TREDAREERNmMESS At
FVOCI (non-recycling) as the investment is held for strategic AEBBUTERISFRERER/RURF
purposes. BEFEEHEEFH T AELMEEKE (A
ZgE) o
The unlisted equity securities are shares in a company LT REEESE KR PRFMEZE
incorporated in the PRC and engaged in trading of ladies’ NEmkm  EEREETZEAKES -
underwear in the PRC. The directors of the Company consider KRB EERAE R-ZE-_=F~A=+
the fair value of this investment is HK$2,838,000 (2022: B ZIEREN A T(BE 5238380004 T (—
HK$2,838,000) as at 30 June 2023. T4 :2,838000/7T)
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16. INVENTORIES
(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise:

B A TR

16. &
(a) ZEFMBEMRRARAZEEERE

2023 2022
—E-=fF g
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
- ] ! |
Raw materials JR# 36,548 61,112
Work in progress & 28,720 50,074
Finished goods SR 38,326 63,709
103,594 174,895

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories
recognised as an expense and included in profit

or loss is as follows:

(b) BRABXAEFAERZZFES
HomwmT :

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHETT

Carrying amount of inventories sold CEFEZEREEE 833,710 1,198,511
Allowance for obsolete inventories fRETFT ERMHE = 9.153

Reversal of allowance for obsolete REF SR FEEMD
inventories (2,033) -
831,677 1,207,664
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

17. B 5 I W AR % K% HL At B WUR X

2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT

Trade receivables at amortised cost,
net of loss allowance

Trade receivables to be factored at FVOCI
(recycling)

B 5 EWERR - WA
NBR B 1R B A

AnFEEFELAEEHA
H 2 (7] 818) 0

178,576 65,047

BEEE 5 EBERR 3,394 80,983

H A & Y BR TR

Other receivables

19,410 35,540

201,380 181,570

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered within one year.

As part of the Group’s cash flow management, the Group has the
practice of factoring some of the trade receivables to financial
institutions before the trade receivables are due for repayment
and derecognises factored trade receivables on the basis that
the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards to
the relevant counterparties.

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

TEHFT B E 5 I AR R R B Al R SRS
R—FRYRE -

EAAEERSRETEN—BH A&
ENEHARESEREREHEZNG
HOoBHREWERREETSRERE WA
RAEEEBLT2IREAKRMRMEE T
EARSGEFAKECEEE S EBERK
IEHERR ©
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17.

18.

138

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. ESBRWRR R EMEWERR &
During the year ended 30 June 2023, the effective interest rates HE_ZT-_="F~"A=1THIEFE" L/(
of the factored trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) ranged TEEFEEHEEH A AEM 2 mEmUE (7]
from 4.00% to 7.21% per annum (2022: 1.33% to 4.38% per ZE)NEEEEFERETNERFR X
annum). Details of the valuation techniques and key inputs N F400%E721% (ZF = ZF : FF KN
adopted for their fair value measurements are disclosed in F133%%E438%) - B HAFBEFE
note 25(c). As at 30 June 2023, the fair value changes on AN EERTEEEG AENFBE
trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling) are insignificant and M aE25()RNPE - R_E_=F XA =+
accordingly, no fair value changes are recognised in equity. H UATFEEFEEHEEHFTAEME
ms (ATEE) WE SEKIRROAFE
BE2FH IR Al WEEEZANERD
FEEE -
Ageing analysis SRR 2 AT
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade EA#Eiﬁﬁ K EHEZAHEH» Z2EFHRIK
receivables, based on the invoice date and net of loss allowance, FK(EMBREEREE) 2 RR D TES
is as follows: —F :

2023 2022
—E=-= —ZF=-=
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHTT
. | |
1-90 days 1-90H 181,592 144,954
- 180 days 91-180H 378 1,076
181,970 146,030
Trade receivables are due within 10 days to 90 days from the ZZRINERNMEHBRBFTI0BZE0HA
date of billing. Details on the Group's credit policy are set out in D - BEAAEBREEZERRNFE SR
note 25(b)(ii). B £ 25 () (i) A ©
BANK BALANCES AND CASH 18. 3 'fT ,.n HBRERE
(a) Bank balances and cash comprise (a) MITEMERESBHE:
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group ﬁﬁﬁ EH LIRS RIERNEFBFRFEE Y
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity RERRITNR=ZBAZUARIHZE
of three months or less. The bank balances carry interest HRSR1TIF 3K o RITEE R THIEN T0.001%
at market rates which range from 0.001% to 0.20% (2022: 2020% (ZF = =4 : 0.001%Z0.30%)
0.001% to 0.30%) per annum. ZTIBEMEGTR -

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (

18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows
will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of
cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

iR e PR R AR MY &

BEEBAEN  GRBTIITR)

18. RITEBRERE (®
(b) RMEXKFELEBEZYHER

T%ﬁﬂﬁ%?ft%ﬂ’éﬁ%ﬁ“ﬁﬁ?’iﬁ
BB PEReRIREE

MEXBELABERTBERE E/\‘
HARRBEESREBERAERGZEES
MERIERBMEEBREREZA

f&°

Unsecured Lease
bank loans liabilities Total
I 1
RITEM HEARE HEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET THET TET
(Note 20) (Note 21)
GEF) (BaE21)
I I I
At 1 July 2022 R-ZE=-—FtA—H 115,404 26,360 141,764
Changes from financing MERETRELE
cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans REAMGRITERD
P15 308 687,938 - 687,938
Repayment of bank loans EEHTER (679,538) - (679,538)
Interest paid BRFE (5,246) - (5,246)
Capital element of lease rentals paid =~ BN ERE 2 BRI H - (14,092) (14,092)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BT ERE 2 FI B H5H - (2,350) (2,350)
Total changes from financing RERGREZBHAHE
cash flows 3,154 (16,442) (13,288)
Exchange adjustments ERAE - 84 84
Other changes: Hin# g :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) F BRI (Mis6() 5,246 2,350 7,596
Lease modification HEEN - 5,177 5,177
Early termination of leases RAKIEHE - (6,585) (6,585)
Increase in lease liabilities from REFIUHEEEEN
entering into new leases HEGEEM
during the year - 18,208 18,208
Totalotherchanges ... . EnEmes 5246 19150 24,396 _
At 30 June 2023 R-B=-=F7:HA=1+H 123,804 29,152 152,956

EENERERAR | —T—FFH e
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18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18. |ITHEBRRE S @
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (b) MEXKFELEB2HER®

financing activities (continued)

Unsecured Lease

bank loans liabilities Total
IR

RITER HEAE k)
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT FHET

(Note 20) (Note 21)

(Pt #E20) (Bf5E21)
I I I
At 1 July 2021 R-B-—-%tA—H 87,980 29,591 117,571
Changes from financing BERSRELE

cash flows:
Proceeds from new bank loans REFILRITERE

iS58 498,138 - 498,138

Repayment of bank loans EBRERITER (470,714) - (470,714)
Interest paid BERFE (1,659) - (1,659)
Capital element of lease ENHEERE2ERLS

rentals paid - (14,793) (14,793)
Interest element of lease BENHEERS MBS

rentals paid - (1,966) (1,966)
Total changes from financing REReREZBAHE

cash flows 25,765 (16,759) 9,006
Exchange adjustments XA - (386) (386)
Other changes: Hith @5 :
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) MERZ (HF6@) 1,659 1,966 3,625
Increase in lease liabilities REFIUHEEEEN

from entering into new leases HEGFEEM

during the year - 11,948 11,948
Totalotherchanges ... EteEmes 0659 13914 15573
At 30 June 2022 R-E-—FXA=1+H 115,404 26,360 141,764
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18. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 18. |BITEHRRRE ()
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEABRESRK
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash GERERERANBEEEEHEED
flows for leases comprise the following: FIEBFETIEIAE :

2023 2022
=B = -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
. | |
Within operating cash flows RELREREN 1,391 3,000
Within financing cash flows REERSREA 16,442 16,759
17,833 19,759
19. TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES 19. EZENERRRETER
I I
2023 2022
—EC=F - F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
I I
Trade payables B SRR 120,168 114,221
Other payables and accrued charges EMEMERRALESER 61,816 85,332
181,984 199,553
All of the trade payables and accrued charges are expected to be EHMEESENERLEAEREN —
settled within one year or are repayable on demand. FERNLT IR EREERE -
An ageing analysis of trade payables based on the payment due NIEEBR B ENERIENNZREH
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows: Ely ZRESMEZOT

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET
| [ |

Current SR 2 HR 57,907 104,178

1-30 days past due #1308 22,568 9,327

31-60 days past due B HA31-60H 13,652 383

Over 60 days past due 461 HA B {860 A 26,041 333

120,168 114,221
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19.

20.

142

TRADE PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES
(continued)

As the average credit period on purchases of goods is ranged
from 30 to 60 days, a majority of the balances which as disclosed
above are within 90 days from the invoice date.

UNSECURED BANK LOANS
At 30 June 2023 and 2022, the unsecured bank loans were
repayable as follows:

(REBERAEIN

19. EZENIRE

B A TR

XA BRI B A

AREBEERZFHUEERA30E0R -
N ERNIL D AT AR EEH BB
9Q0H A °

o /\\\?&?@ﬁ?fETA
R-ZE-_=ZFR-FB-__FXA=+H"
EIEFRITEROERANT -

2023 2022
—E-= = —

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TAT

—FRHILER

Within one year or on demand

123,804 115,404

At 30 June 2023, the Company provided guarantee for bank
loans of certain subsidiaries. Such banking facilities amounted
to HK$140,000,000 (2022: HK$130,000,000). The facilities were
utilised to the extent of HK$123,804,000 (2022: HK$115,404,000).

All of the Group's facilities are subject to covenant clauses,
whereby the Group is required to meet certain key financial
ratios and covenants. The Group did not fulfill some financial
covenants as required in the agreements with the banks for
the outstanding loan amounts of HK$103,804,000 in aggregate
as at 30 June 2023 and the banks are entitled to request for
immediate repayment of the outstanding loan amounts due
to this breach of the covenant clause. The Group informed the
banks and obtained waivers of compliance with the covenant
requirements from the bank for the outstanding loan amounts
of HK$103,804,000 in aggregate subsequent to the end of the
reporting period. The original maturities of these bank loans
are one year within the end of the reporting period and the
outstanding balances were presented as current liabilities as at
30 June 2023.

At 30 June 2022, none of the covenants relating to draw down
facilities had been breached.

At 30 June 2023, the effective interest rate of the Group's bank
loans was 3.89% (2022: 1.44%) per annum.

RZZZ_=FRXA=1TH ARARET

MEARIMRITEFIRMEIER AR
7 & 4 %8 5140,0000008 70 (ZFE = =
130,000,000/ ) - BB E D LB H A+
123,804,000/ 7T (ZF = = 4F : 115,404,000/
JT) °

Zli;‘%@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁm FEIHERZHRER &

CAEBEAREETEZENBHEERR
CTHRIE-_ZFANAZTH AEET
ﬂi}@ﬂiﬁifﬁﬁﬂjﬁ’ﬂﬁ TR E M A &
103804000/%77:31515% IR R A TS
CHEREZBGR RITAEEX
LK%IEME%%{;;@E’JEﬂ%%Eo%%&
SR AEBEBMRIT WEFIRT
A0 B ST A F£103,804,0008 TTHI R BEE R
iﬁgmigﬁg”"m—z—_i/\ﬂ +
CRERTEFNRED A AHRS H
31{@: FREELEHKRENARDEE

RZEZ_FA=1+H BMEERENM
BRI RENRE -

RZEBE-_=ZFXA=1+8 K&EERT
BERNEBRFREA389% (ZF ==
1.44%) °
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21. LEASE LIABILITIES

22

EBESEERERAR |

.

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities
of the Group's lease liabilities at the end of the current and
previous reporting:

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

21. HEAE

TRAJIBAEEREE M E—EAHK
MEERERGE QR

2023 2022
—E=-= g
HK$’000 HKS$'000
T T
I I
Within 1 year —ER 10,858 13,051
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMERN 9,278 7,990
After 2 years but within 5 years WMEBEBRFAN 9,016 5319
29,152 26,360
Less: Amount due for settlement BRI ANEIHSEE SR
within 12 months (shown under FIRAREBEEET)
current liabilities) (10,858) (13,051)
18,294 13,309

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 3 November
2011 (the "Old Share Option Scheme”) for a period of 10
years for the purpose to enable the Company to grant share
options to eligible participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group. The Board could grant options to
eligible employees, including directors, executives or officers of
the Company and its subsidiaries and any other persons at the
discretion of the Board to subscribe for shares in the Company
(the “Shares”). The Old Share Option Scheme expired on 2
November 2021.

On 30 September 2019, 5,920,000 share options were
granted for HKS1 consideration to directors and employees
of the Company under the Old Share Option Scheme. Upon
completion of HK$0.50 per right share (the “Right Issue”) on
19 February 2021, the number of total outstanding options
granted under the Old Share Option Scheme was adjusted from
5,920,000 to 6,645,836 Shares, 1,930,884 of which had lapsed
subsequently; and the exercise price of the outstanding share
options was adjusted from HK$1.172 per share to HK$1.044 per
share. The outstanding 4,714,952 options have been vested on
30 September 2022, and then be exercisable until September
2024.

T FFH e

22. LESEEURDRERNK S

ARARR-_E——F+—A=ZHEREMER
EETE ((EWRETS))  A8+F 8B
M AFEARRAE D ERENEREER
QEERTHEHYUAEBRNEM -EFT0
BERAARMENBAR ZEMEER
EBE BAEEE 1THRABHBEANLE
MEMALT(HESEHBRE) FHATR
BAQAREG ([BH]) 2 BRE - EEK
BHEER T _—F+—A=ZHE®°

RZZBE—-AEALA=1+8 AR FRIE
EEREFIMARAEERRERT
5,920,000 B I - BRARE RIETT - R
—E-—FZA+hhBEBREREKMDSHE
T (MR EA & - BRI E IR ERB1®
1T 1 AR 1T A BE AR AR 48 2 F5 5,920,00017 73
 56,645,83610 + H H11,930,88410 H 1% B £
K MEKRTEEBRENTEENSRS
[&1.17278 T i B BT AR1.044785 T © 4,714,952
MEATHEEREBEER T -_—_F 1A
—t+HEE  BRAUTEE_ZT_NFIA -
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EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

On 24 September 2021, 16,600,000 share options were granted
for HKS1 consideration to directors, the directors’ associate and
employees of the Company under the Old Share Option Scheme
of which no options had lapsed. These share options will vest
on 24 September 2024, and then be exercisable until September
2026. The exercise price is HK$0.58, being the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant.

As at 30 June 2023, the total number of outstanding share
options was 21,314,952 (2022: 21,314,952) and all outstanding
options will continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the terms of Old Share Option Scheme. No options granted
under the Old Share Option Scheme were exercised during the
year ended 30 June 2023 (2022: Nil).

The Company adopted a new share option scheme on 16
November 2021 (the “New Share Option Scheme”). The purpose
of the New Share Option Scheme is for the Group to attract,
retain and motivate high-calibre employees to strive towards
long term strategy and goals of the Group and to enable the
Company to grant share options to eligible participants (the
"Eligible Participants”) as incentives and rewards for their
contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all share options to be granted under the New Share
Option Scheme is 30,105,267 Shares, representing 10% of the
total issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this
annual report.

The number of shares in respect of which share options may
be granted under the New Share Option Scheme to any
individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed
1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. Share
options granted to substantial shareholders or independent
non-executive directors in any 12-month period in excess of
0.1% of the Company's issued share capital and with a value in
excess of HKS5 million on the date of offer must be approved in
advance by the Company’s independent shareholders.

B A TR

2. LEREEURGAREBRNIRS @)

RZE-—FAAZ-+WAE  AQAIRIE
ERREFIMNEARARESE EFHHR
AKX 1E 8 % F16,600,00017 B i 1 - B @R
BEAEVETT AP AT R R -
DEBRESERN _E-_MEAA-1+MX
BB ERAIEEZE_F=_~1A-
TEE RS8BT AR AL RZHB
e mE -

M- =%FXA=+8 BRTEE
B HE 42 88 521,314,952 (ZE = =
21314952(7) + RIFEBREFT SR
FrAEMRITEBREBSEEES R R T1T
- BHE_E-_=ZFA=Z1tHILEE"
WETRBREEBRETZIR FRBERE
BIFE(ZEZZF &) -

ARAR-ZF=—F+— A+ NBRAH
BT 8 (T3 BRERT8)) - B E
ArEIEEEASERERS - BERABD
ZERER AAKEMNRERBEMERM
BH - YEARFGRAREGERSEE (&
ERZ2EEDETERE FREFHAE
SEFFLMER 2B KB -

BIEMERESSTFRENMBEER
BETERATTEINRGEE LR A
30,1052670% - (E R AN FEHRA AR G 22
BEITRRAD 2 EH910% ©

RIEMERENE  ERESIADFRE
B EZBRT  REMI2E B HBE R
mEAENATREZBRES R Z BB
HBRTEBBARBTED BTN Z21% -
i P 128 B I R m E B R RSB
ERITEERECERES R 2R K EE
BBANFBEITRAZ0I%ENEL A H
2 {E{E 8 85,000,0007 7T + Bl /B TE 4E B B A
UNEIE RV
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22. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED

TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Options granted must be taken up within 14 days of the date of
offer, upon payment of HK$1 per grant. Options may generally
be exercised at any time from the second anniversary of the
date of acceptance to the tenth anniversary of the date of
acceptance or may at the Board's discretion determine the
specific exercise period. The exercise price is determined by the
Board, and will not be less than the highest of the closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of offer and the average
closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of offer and the nominal value of the
Company’s shares.

During the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, no share options
were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the New
Share Option Scheme.

(a) The terms and conditions of the grants are as
follows:

22 UEREEURGAEBRNIRS @)

ERTZBEEARENBRETI4E8 R
B BREMBEAMAETZIRE B
RE-—RAINEANARE _BFEEER
BHEHEFIEEMERNEAKE XES
EMIBEEZREETE T AITE 17
BILHEFSET MEIAGLIRARAR
MREBHRHZKTE KHREREY
BHAAEE XA 2 FHRTERKNRF
R EEARSERE)

BE_S-_=FKk-_F-__FA=1+H
WFEE  BEFERESS  WEEME
REEER T - 1718 - FEHE R -

(@) BAT BT RE IR R IR

Number of Contractual life
instruments Vesting conditions of options
BRESYH

TH%AR o] R3S HABR

Options granted to directors:
RTESNBERE:
—on 30 September 2019

R-E—-NFNLA=+H

—on 24 September 2021

400,000* Three years from 5 years
the date of grant

MR BB =4 54

600,000 Three years from 5 years

the date of grant

RZEZ—FNA=+WHH %t H R =F 54
Options granted to employees:
RFEENBRE:
—on 30 September 2019 5,520,000* Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZTE—-AFHLA=TH B H R =F 5%F
—on 24 September 2021 16,000,000 Three years from 5 years
the date of grant
RZEZ—FNA=+WHHA B E R =F 5%F
Total share options granted 22,520,000
BT BREEH
* Before the adjustment due to Right Issue. * BRI 55 B BT -

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e
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22. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED 2. UESZEURNRERNRZ ()
TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) The number and weighted average exercise b) BERENEENMELESTEE
prices of share options are as follows: mE

Weighted
average Number of
exercise price options
hnfEF g
TEE BREHE
HK$
BT
[ R
Outstanding at 1 July 2021 RNZEZ—FtA—HRHEKRTE 1.044 4,714,952
Granted during the year ended REBEE_ZT-_—_FH=1TH
30 June 2022 IFFERET 0.580 16,600,000
Outstanding at 30 June 2022, RZEBE-_—_FXA=+8"
1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023 ZEZF+HA—HE
—ET=FRA=1H
= ARTTE 0.683 21,314,952
Exercisable at 30 June 2023 RZZTEZ=F,"A=+H
A F17fE 4,714,952
Exercisable at 30 June 2022 RZE-_—_FXA=1+H
AFITfE -
The options outstanding at 30 June 2023 had an exercise N E - =FA=+HEEATED
price of HK$1.044 or HK$0.58 (2022: HK$1.044 or HK$0.58) BERSHE R 1T 1B A1.04478 75 3K0.5878 7T
and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 3 (ZEZZF 1 1.0448 70300588 7T)
years (2022: 4 years). MEFHHBRTEOHRAEF (ZF
il SEVE S I
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22. EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED
TRANSACTIONS (continued)

22 UEREEURGAEBRNIRS @)

(c) Fair value of share options and assumptions (c) BRENLSFLEEMAERRK

The fair value of services received in return for share
options granted is measured by reference to the fair value
of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value
of the share options granted is measured based on a
Black-Scholes Option Pricing model. The contractual life
of the share option is used as an input into this model.
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the
Black-Scholes Option Pricing. The inputs into the model
for the fair value of share options granted during the year

ended 30 June 2022 were as follows:

MR TREBREMESREOQAFEE
E2REBEBERENATEBTE
MAFEEFEZUM IR —FB A
MR EEEN LG  BRENS
WHAR e AEZ BN E AE - J2AT
TENEBHEMAN T -GBS
HEBERN REBEE-_T_-__FA
Z+BELFERARTFHERENDTF
BEEMNOHABNDT

Options
granted on
24 September
2021
R-ZZEZ-—F
hAZ=+HA
RTyOERE

Fair value at measurement date (HKS)

Share price (HKS)

Exercise price (HKS)

Expected volatility (expressed as
weighted average volatility used in
the modelling under Black-Scholes Option
Pricing model)

Option life (expressed as weighted
average life used in the modelling
under Black-Scholes Option Pricing model)

Expected dividends

Risk-free interest rate (based on Hong Kong
Government 10-year Bond)

RETEHNRAFEEECET) 0.13
IRt E4& (BT 0.58
TEECEIL) 0.58
TEHA 08 (LAME S 58 —

AARETHRE T ERAFMAN

hniEF R RHIR)

45.439%
BRI EARR (A h % —

FRATHETEEAMAN 5 years
IEFI IR Y R) 54F
TEEAR B 5.76%
3B T R (A BB BAT10F

HESHABEM) 1.06%

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility
(calculated based on the weighted average remaining life
of the share options), adjusted for any expected changes
to future volatility based on publicly available information.
Expected dividends are based on historical dividends.
Change in the subjective inputs assumptions could

materially affect the fair value estimate.

Share options were granted under a service condition.
This condition has not been taken into account in the
grant date fair value measurement of the services received.
There were no market conditions associated with the share

option grants.

RESEABERAT | T =G50 e

TE HR 8 R R SRR MR (AR 13 B AU
MINEF S T HRAE) - WRER
B A] 15 & B8 2R RO IR B0 (e FR HR
BELAER - BHRESENAER
BoIBBABRRNAEAALTE
NFEEME -

BETEREBRS G - BREMER
RBRFELAMOAFEEFELE
ZRABBIGE - R THBRERERRD
MG R
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23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

B A TR

23. RIKERIEE

2023 2022

—EB-=F —E-F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

TE T FHETT
I S

At the beginning of the year REY] 4,696 4329

Provision recognised in profit or loss RIBRAERH B E 2,527 367

At the end of the year RER 7,223 4,696

ARRCEREREE LS RFEANGRE
EMRERBSNREM  REHSK
AR B FRE HFORRET 8 SR Bl QT8
S HAP S OER SR REE -

A provision has been made by the Company based on the
best estimate of the long service payments that are required
to be made to employees in respect of their service to date,
less any amounts that would be expected to be met out of the

Company’s contributions to its defined contribution retirement
scheme and mandatory provident fund.

(a) Provision for long service payments

148

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, Indonesia
Labour Law and Thailand Labour Protection Act, the Group
is required to make long service payments to its employees
in Hong Kong, Indonesia and Thailand upon the
termination of their employment or retirement when the
employees fulfill certain conditions and the termination
meets the required circumstances. However, where an
employee is simultaneously entitled to a long service
payment (“LSP”) and to a retirement scheme payment (e.g.
from the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”)) in Hong Kong, the amount of the long service
payment will be reduced by the benefits arising from the
retirement scheme including investment return/(loss)
accumulated in the scheme.

The Employment & Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “ERSL Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which will eventually abolish the offsetting arrangement.
The amendment will come into effect prospectively from 1
May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the amended ERSL
Ordinance, the eligible offset amount after the Transition
Date can only be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but no longer eligible to offset
the post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore,
the LSP obligations before the Transition Date will be
grandfathered and calculated based the last monthly
wages immediately preceding the Transition Date. The
impact of abolishment of the Offsetting Arrangement, is
considered to be insignificant as at 30 June 2023.

(a) REBBRE

REBBEME - EDEL TENS
BB TRIEZLZ EAEEZEE H
ErRZFREESBEBRICRKE  SEE
MEETIREMBERTEMBRER -
AIASEEARREXNEHRES -
Am EEERERAKEZE KBRS
& MRRFF BN R (Plnse Fl E R EE
srEl (TeEestal)) ARERSE
R IENRTEMEZETREN (8
AT BT RET 2 RE DR, (BER)) 1
W

(===

=

1B 138 R R IR ET 815% 61 (3K
) (BE]) BRI ER) ([RE X
BRARFENEGD ER =T ZZF <A
T B8EM - RGO &L EUR R
ZH - ZEI BN _E-_RAFRA—
B([EHB])BEWN - RIFEREKE
REFEVEMIHEET  TEHBENEGE
BEPEE EUREYHRTES A
AN REARGSEL MTHEER
HHATEHNBENRARBESER -
o - EBHE BTN REIRT S & 51
HMERW  WAERZES BTN RE
BATEFE - R_ZTE-_=ZF~A
= TH BUEEELHE I EZEWER
M RE -
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23. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (continued)
(b) Defined contribution schemes

23. RIRBRIEALE &)
(b) REMKETE

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for all employees
in Hong Kong who have registered with the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in funds under the control of an independent trustee.
Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group in respect of the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the MPF Scheme.
No forfeited contributions are available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
the PRC are members of pension schemes operated by the
PRC local governments. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part of the
payroll of these employees to the pension schemes to fund
the benefits. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under the control of the
Chinese local government.

The Group registers its employees in Thailand with
Workmen's Compensation Fund and Social Security
Fund as required by laws in Thailand. The Group is
required to make annual contributions to the Workmen's
Compensation Fund and monthly contributions to the
Social Security Fund, and the only obligation of the
Group with respect to these funds is to make the required
contributions.

The participants in an employee social security programme
in Indonesia, providing compensation in the event of
working accidents, death, old age, and in case of sickness
and hospitalisation, the employer is required to contribute
a fixed percentage of the employee’s salaries every month.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of profit
or loss of HK$24,280,000 (2022: HK$25,165,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current year.

During the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, the Group
had no forfeited contribution under the retirement benefit
schemes utilised to reduce future contributions.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e

AEBCEMARBREEZNAES
e ZERECRERFIEAES
PGSR aBEREEEEER
- REEFECEEFNA B —
FBUERAENZES  BAKE
ZEZDRARAE REBRESFER
Al B REBZAD R MG EIAR R
FREl b R R - AR E R BE S 5 &
- BEERBESE BEL AT
FRFA - AEERRKFRELED R
Yo kR mT R YRR D B A K

ARABTEMNBRARIZAEREER
FEEMRAMEEZRRETEZ
RE-MBABERIKERE Z1HH
Nz B D AR RS EIHK -
Al BEFHN B EE M BAE
HleBEe BAKEZESORARKA -

AEERBRBIZENER . BEF
BEEETAMEESRHEEREER
TETER - AEBEAESFHIAH
BESHFUREAHLEREES
W NEEAEZTESHE =
BRI ERK -

AEE2EHEMNRELSREE
RIGER SR Z2FUARERK
ERER T REME - RIFHEALR
el - BREBEEBRAREEFHMNEE
FE I 5K

AEEREBENZETE Z2HK
48 FE24,280,0008 L (ZEZ =
25,165,000 L) E NG A BmERT
K{% o

HE_FT-_=FK_FT=__F-HA
“+tHIEFEARA  NEBTERKEF
FHE T 908 WAy 4 Fk 30 A R ok
REJHEFK o
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

24, EERIE

MR E BN ZBEERBAEHRIITAT

2023 2022
—E=-= Tz
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FAT
I I
Net deferred tax asset recognised in the A ??./:.\ B 7S AR R R FERR
consolidated statement of financial BEFRTEEEFE
position 264 339
Net deferred tax liability recognised in 4R A& B A R RER
the consolidated statement of financial ¥ iE %18 & & F 58
position (33,071) (36,410)
(32,807) (36,071)

BHRAZEIEELHRE (EE) BEUK
ERAFENBEFEZEHNOT :

The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years:

Unrealised
Revaluation of loss on
properties inventories Total
FEZ
MES REREBR mE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT TR FH
I e S S I
At 1 July 2021 RZZE=Z—%tH—H 36,618 (571) 36,047
(Credited)/charged to profitorloss (5t A) /1B 8% (438) 232 (206)
Currency realignment 0 5 3R (927) - (927)
Charged to other comprehensive HEHEMmE2EKE
income 1,157 - 1,157

At 30 June 2022 and 1 July 2022

RZZE-_—FRA=TBK

—ZE__%+A—H 36,410 (339) 36,071

(Credited)/charged to profitorloss (5t A) /1B 1E% (720) 75 (645)

Currency realignment ME 5, 3 B (2,881) - (2,881)
Charged to other comprehensive HaEMmzEkE

income 262 = 262

At 30 June 2023 RZZE_=FXHA=tH 33,071 (264) 32,807
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24. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of HK$292,253,000 (2022: HK$217,543,000) available for
offset against future profits which no deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
During the year ended 30 June 2023 and 2022, no tax losses
expired and were no longer available to offset against future
profits. Included in unrecognised tax losses of the Group are
losses of HK$22,604,000 (2022: HK$12,002,000), HK$36,890,000
(2022: HKS$31,952,000), HK$20,587,000 (2022: HK$2,679,000),
HKS$12,428,000 (2022: nil ) and HKS$4,162,000 (2022: nil)
attributable to subsidiaries in the PRC, Thailand, Cambodia,
Indonesia and Sri Lanka respectively, that will gradually expire
up to 2029. The unrecognised tax losses relating to subsidiaries
in Hong Kong were HK$195,582,000 (2022: HK$170,910,000) and
do not expire under current tax legislation.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was HK$37,085,000 (2022: HK$43,119,000). No
liabilities have been recognised in respect of these differences
because the Group is in a position to control the timing of
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

24&@&@@)

RBEEHAR AEBEBERDEBBEIE
292,253,000 7L (=& = = 4 : 217,543,000
PETT) - Al AR SR 2R R A o R T EE
TE R R 2R A B - I R kR B) A R A
FERAEELHRBEEE NEE_T=-=
FERNZ_E__FRXA=1TBHBLEFE UWE
REEEEE R & BB ERME R G
%IJoZlR;‘%ﬂiﬁ%.:,uszkﬁéﬁ@’aﬁﬂfﬂl
ZE - RHEE -DNEMTEFHRHEBEAR

Z BB DRI A22,6040008 L (T = =
12,002,000/ JT) ~ 36,890,000/8 7t (Z&E = —
F 131,952,000 JT) 20,587,000 7T (=&
T 2679oooﬁ§ii) 12,428,000/ 7T (=
T F T EIT) R41620008 L (ZF
TZFEEL)  BRZZENFETE
WiEwm o BIBRITH B AN - BE BB
RNEVE 2 RFER 1% E518195,582,000% 7T
: 170,910,000/ 7T ) M £ i H

(Z2==

Hj o

RIpEER - BH B AR ADIKEFE R
B RBEREERBEEE YR EEEE
£37,085,0007 7T ( ZF = =4 : 43,119,000/
JL) o ARG B B AL ) 15 b B B R AR
ZEHERZEEFEANETER R RE
B AW ERZEERERAE -

25. €@ T A

(a) R T AEA

2023 2022
—E-=% —E-F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
I I
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost NEER AT ENeREE 302,044 214,620

Financial assets at FVOCI

AR FEEFEEEZEHFA

BB/ EE 6,232 83,821
Financial liabilities tREE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B SERCAFTFEMSmEaE 333,281 338,448

Z=FFH e
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25. €@ T B )
(b) B EBEEREERE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include other
financial assets, certain deposits, trade receivables at
amortised cost, trade receivables at FVOCI (recycling),
other receivables, bank balances and cash, unsecured
bank loans, lease liabilities and trade payables and accrued
charges. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.

The management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

(i)  Market risk
There has been no significant change to the Group's
exposure to market risk or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.

(1) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have
foreign currency sales and purchases, which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 13% (2022: 13%) of the Group's
sales are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the group entity
making the sale, while almost 33% (2022: 55%)
of purchase costs are not denominated in the
group entity’s functional currency. The Group
does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

AEBZTESRIAREAMER
BE HTHE NEBHEKATEN
BHRBER UAFEAEFEAEH
gt ARMEEmKS (JEE) WE
5 FEYHR R - B A0 EUBR 3K - RTT4E
phkRe BERRTER HER
BENEZERNERALEAER %
FeMTAZHBEREMEANRE -
ZEERTAMB Z2EAREETSRA
2 ONERBREAERR)  EERR
EREBEETRR - B BNAREZS
Rk 2 BRI T e

EEEEELRERZERAR  HERE
RBERATARKGEGEE ZHEE -

() SRR
AEEEH 2 mESRABIEER
MErERB 2z AW EEKXEE) -

(1) shEE B
RARlzaTFWERFLASN
METEE  EBHALEZA
EZIINERR o AEBHE
BEH13% (ZZF = =4 : 13%)
TAEHEE 2 S BERD
BEEB AN B B BEAL
MBERALNBY(ZET ==
F55%) WINEEERE
B Sl AEN - KREE
I EINE E R - R
EEECERIIERE I
BREFEREZEEHTEKR
HNEE LB o
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued)
(1) Currency risk (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
monetary liabilities at the end of reporting
period are as follows:

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

25. €@ T B )
(b) BIEBEEEEERE (&)

() T5E R ()

(1) SMEE S ()
RBER - AEEAINE
RENZEREERE®R
BZEREENT

Assets Liabilities
BE =R
2023 2022 2023 2022
—Bo=F T —Bo=F T
HK$’000 HKS$'000 HK$’000 HKS$'000
FTER FHET FET FHET
. | | | |
RMB ARE 29,051 23,485 13,959 17,525
usD ETT 44,311 36,543 5,100 17,209
HKS BT 2,392 6,903 35,707 -

The above assets and liabilities include trade
receivables at amortised cost, trade receivables
at FVOCI (recycling), other receivables,
unsecured bank loans, trade payables and
accrued charges, bank balances and cash
denominated in RMB, USD and HKS.

T FFH e

tREEFABERBRAAR
%X RE T ENIAE
SHAX ARG E R B 2 IR -
NAFEEFELEZEH
A2 E s (7] 818) &
B 5 RURR - H it &R
RoEBEMRTER B
FEMBRRMERTER - Bl
FEATBRFRIA R 1T A 88 S 3R

S
e
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
pOliCieS (continued)

Market risk (continued)

154

(i)

(1)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the group’s (loss)/profit after tax
(and retained profits) that would arise if
foreign exchange rates to which the group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting
period had changed at that date, assuming all
other risk variables remained constant. In this
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate
between the HKS and USD would be materially
unaffected by any changes in movement
in value of the USD against currencies. 5%
(2022: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in the foreign exchange
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at the end of the reporting period for a 5%
(2022: 5%) change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes external receivables
and payables and also current accounts with
the group entities where the denomination of
the current accounts is in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant group
entities.

A positive number below indicates a decrease in
loss for the year (2022: increase in profit for the
year) where functional currency of the relevant
group entities strengthening 5% against the
relevant currencies. For a 5% weakening of
functional currency of the relevant group
entities against the relevant currencies, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
loss (2022: profit) for the year.

(REBERAEIN

B A TR

25. €@ T B )
(b) I EMEEEEEERE (&)

(i)

75 e

(1)

7 (#8)
SR e ()
BRRE DT
TR RBREZATEEMER
BEEHEFTE AEERRK
SHRAERNEME LN
ERRAREAEERTE (&
B) /wmH(RERB&REA) E
ERRFEE M s -
Eﬁ&%%ﬁ%xm t e e
ERgRETREMEESN
BEXREIMIINERY
% . WM_?__ 1 5%) B
REPEEEEIE A BERI
R FTR 2 BURE X
ﬁE”EF%%EE*—
BE A BRED
WE@%MW%E ShL &
BEIHEE 2455  WEAsS% (=
T~ 1 59%) 2EREF
RREPREAZELBRE -
BEXE 2 T B 18 SN B0 E AR
FEEMEZR URERE
BEZERERP GRERERT)
NEBEBEREEEIU
INZ B RBBAL) o

AT EEEERATEEER
P(ZBZZF  FERFE
m o EPEHEERERIE
B R B NS T {ES% o
EHREEERENEEE R
78 SN B (E5% - 18 AN EE
MEBEX(ZZEZZF &H)
EAXSERARTE-

2023 2022
—E-= = —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRET TAT

RMB AR

406 550
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)
(i)  Market risk (continued)

(2)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk
arise primarily from unsecured bank loans.
Unsecured bank loans issued at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The Group monitors the level of its variable rate
borrowings and manages the contractual terms
of the interest-bearing financial assets and
liabilities. For this purpose, the Group defines
“net borrowings” as being interest-bearing
financial liabilities less interest-bearing
investments (if any) (excluding cash held for
short-term working capital purposes). The
Group's interest rate profile as monitored by
management is set out in below.

Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate
profile of the Group’s net borrowings (as
defined above) at the end of the reporting
period.

25. €@ T B )

(b) MBEMEEBFEEER®)

() T5E R ()

@) FFEmb
MEEREEETRTIAND
FEEIAKRERTERAT
BRI R EEME LKA
BeAEENNERREE
REEBMBITER - FH
MEEERRBRITEREARAS
BAXReREMNETEAR -
AEBEEEREFHNERE
FKFRERFEEMEE
REBEEMNALDEKR - BILE
B AREBEREFFER] R
ERFTEERMBERMTBER
E(WA)(TemsERE
EESREMHANRSE)
EEEMERNASER X
BN T X

kS-S
TR A B R R 5 B
WS ROFE CEE R LX) 8
SR

2023 2022
—E-=E —E-CfF
Effective Effective

Note interest rate Amount interest rate Amount

it aE BRA= &5 ERME £

% HK$'000 % HK$'000

TET TET
. J J i J |

Variable rate FEREEN:
borrowings:
Unsecured bank loans X B IRITE R 20 3.89 123,804 144 115,404

SEHERAERAT | — T - =FFH e 155



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(i)

Market risk (continued)

(2) Interest rate risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
At 30 June 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group's
loss after taxation by approximately HK$994,000
(2022: decreased/increased the Group's profit
after taxation by approximately HK$1,154,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
instantaneous change in the Group's (loss)/
profit after taxation and retained profits and
other components of consolidated equity
that would arise assuming that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the end of the
reporting period which expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk at the end of the
reporting period.

(i)  Credit risk

156

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in
a financial loss to the Group. As at 30 June 2023
and 2022, the Group’ maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In respect of trade receivables, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals
and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts
Therefore, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group's credit risk is minimised and ECL
allowance is considered insignificant.

The bank balances and cash are concentrated on
certain counterparties and the credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks
with sound credit ratings.

(REBERAEIN

B A TR

25. €@ T B )
(b) I EMEEEEEERE (&)

() TS E R (E)
2) FERERE (&)
BBE S

R_EBE-_=ZFXA=+H"

EBHMEEEFTEN
EREERRIES:-% Nebas
S TERI00AES B A E
Er kR & EELE IR
#7994,0008 L (Z T = —F
BN B BR R 1E s AR
A IEAN#I1,154,00008 7T) ©

Lt g E B RER A
iﬁ@%i%ﬁ%%% %

SAREENHEHRERR
T & R E K ﬁﬁlm

BB& (B8R ad (k&R
B A AR A s m E AR
BB D & IR BNAS =g

() 15 E/E
FERREERIHFH T
TERNRD ENAEEE L
HERANRBR RZTE_=FK
2 _FAXA=1+H BEHF
E*WEHEEWQKEIQ
%W%EZ SEERR ALK

ﬁ%#ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁaﬁw”
ﬂé%Z%ﬁ@ﬁ?io

EREZRUEENR AEEER
BEORENIEEEEEER
EEHENEMBERERF  AME
PRERER R 5 1 2 8 B 2 (B 755 -
I% $“ﬂ§$w%$%lz
EERBREEER AHEMREBX
ﬁﬁWﬁETKO

RITHEBREREDIEFRETY
FHR MABESZEERRE
R J5 M p ﬁ%ﬁﬂ%ﬁﬂﬂ
EEFHRZEIT -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& 5 A& &t B & o -

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

(i) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the market demand in the intimate apparel
industry and economic conditions in the USA and
Europe. At the end of the reporting period, the Group
had a certain concentration risk as approximately
33% (2022: 80%) of trade receivables was due from
the top five major customers.

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group's trade receivables at amortised cost.

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

25. €@ T B )
(b) BIEBEEEEERE (&)

(i) 15 E/E R ()
=y 3.4
AEBEAZXZEERBRETER
ARITHEZMIGHEKRKALRER K
BN 2 BB R & - Nk E
R ARH3B3% (2T ==
80%) < B SR TIKAE A K
ERP -hAEBEEE TERES
1B e

TR F AT A 5 B A DA 5 X
AHAENEZRUEZRNEER
S o

30 June 2023 30 June 2022
ZB-ZFXAZ=+H 5 A=TH
Gross Net Gross Net
12-month or carrying Loss carrying carrying Loss carrying
lifetime ECL amount  allowance amount amount allowance amount
12EAREER
BHNEBER
Bx EHAE HERGE EEFE KOLE FEEE FRFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER THET FHET FET
. | | | |
Financial assetsat ~ LABESEAK AN 2 A9
amortised cost SRBE
Trade receivables B 5 BIER X
(note 17) (F3sE17)
Lifetime ECL - 178,394 - 178,394 61,547 - 61,547
not credit impaired
BEFERN
EHERBX
-BEERE
Lifetime ECL - 1,086 (904) 182 4,591 (1,091) 3,500
credit impaired
BEFERN
EHEREX
-EERE
179,480 (904) 178,576 66,138 (1,091) 65,047
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

158

(ii)

(iii)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
indicates different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance is further distinguished
between the Group’s different customer bases.
Loss allowance of HK$904,000 (2022: HK$1,091,000)
is recognised as at 30 June 2023 for a customer
with financial difficulties. The credit risk for trade
receivables of the remaining customers is limited
after considering actual loss experience over the
past years, economic conditions during the period
over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group's view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

As at 30 June 2023, no loss allowance have been
recognised (2022: nil) for the trade receivables to be
factored at FVOCI as the lifetime ECL is insignificant.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group's operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on
the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can
be required to pay. At 30 June 2023, the Group had
undrawn bank borrowing facilities of HK$16,196,000
(2022: HK$14,596,000).

(REBERAEIN

B A TR

25. €@ T B %)
(b) I EMEEEEEERE (&)

1EE R (&)

/’é’%/’éflﬂ?ﬁf,ﬂ
$%IM£%M@%%WE%%
FREXEENSBEI=ZESHENR
ERNEERE AR AEEW
ErLERERAERERTRARER
HAGFETRMERES Bt
EBEREEEASENTREFHE
AzHETE— TR RZF
TZFERAZTH REYBER
2R R P TR B 18 1 #85904,00078
FTT(ZET =4 : 1,091,000/ 7T) °
ZEIBEFENERBARLR
FE 52 BUHR M S B O OB AR
BRMNMRAMAEBMREEZ S
FEWERMETFERRNLE
M BEZRBEREREFH
FERRBR -

(i)

RZZE-=FXA=Z+8B @R
BEFEHHBRERBLRIT R
Ek At 3 4 gt A 2 SF B E 5T
BEZHT AH M2
%%%A%r%$ e B2 s 1R 1
(T ZF | -

(i) HEEEE R
AEERDESRAR  AEEE
BRREBEEERREUBAR
EELEBVRERSRE RS 2
BB RREFHAR KT -

TREFMINEANEBIEITESD B
BEZBRTEHNEKRB-TERD
BEAEEAER ZZFEH
ZemBaEsANRRERER
WM —_BE-_=%A=+8H"
AEBZARDBITEEREE
516,196,000 7L (Z & = =
14,596,00078 7T) ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& 5 & & BB &N » H B THIR)

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. &I A
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BMIISEEEEE EEBE (&)
policies (continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk (continued) (i) B E 2 R ()
Liquidity tables B ERF

Ondemand  After1year  After2year Total Carrying
or  hbutwithin  Butwithin undiscounted  amountat
within 1 year 2year Syears  cashflows 30 June

gEXE  -EAL REAL  RERRE WAAZTA

-ENR BAENR  BEFMA RBRR  ZREE

HKS'000  HKS$000  HKY'000  HK$'000  HKS'000

TER TEn TR TER TEn
' N S S S S

2023 ZEIZE

Non-derivative financial ibilies FiiteBEE

Trade payables and accrued charges EHRNEAREHER 180,325 - - 180,325 180,325

Lease liabiltes HERR 11,168 10,161 10,808 32,137 29,152

Unsecured bank loans EEERAER 125,226 = = 125,226 123,804
316,719 10,161 10,808 337,688 333,281

2022 - S

Non-derivative financial liabilities FiitsBEE

Trade payables and accrued charges BHENEIRENER 196,684 - - 196,684 196,684

Lease liabilities HEEE 13363 8662 6615 28640 26360

Unsecured bank loans BEERAER 115789 - - 115789 115,404

325836 8,002 6,615 341113 338,448
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. &I A
(¢) Fairvalue (c) DFEE
Financial assets measured at fair value BRFEETEZTHEE
Fair value hierarchy RFIEEER
The fair value of the Group's financial instruments RBEPRELCEEREAEFEZAE
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring SRTAZATFEBEZEEMBR
basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy EEBERFEIAFEESEIREZ
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The —BAFEEERSE AFEEE
level into which a fair value measurement is classified BEZELASHEE2EHERMAASE
is determined with reference to the observability and ABEBEZEREREEUEFTOT
significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique
as follows:
- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date
—E—HEE: FEUE—RBASE EREEXNBENGEBREERTISH 2 RABRRE)
HEZATHEE
- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1,

and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which
market data are not available

—EZRIEE NE R ABE A TRHEE-— Q2B ARE) B MERAERM A A B
RBABBHEZATEE  TUBERABBRBEEESHEATSRIEZEA
iz

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

—E=REME EREAMTNAIBRBABEAHEZATFER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& 5 & & BB &N » H B THIR)

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(c) Fair value (continued)
Financial assets measured at fair value (continued)
Information about level 2 fair value measurements

25. €@ T B )

(c)

AFEE®H)

B FEETEZ 2 /MEE (F)
BRFE RN FEEFEZEHN

Fair value as at

30 June
2023

NR-E—-=
ANA=TAHB

AVEME
HK$’000
FiEx

Fair value as at Valuation

30 June technique and

2022 significant input
RZE——

NA=THK fEERITR
NFEE EXBAE
HKS$'000
TR

Trade receivables at FVOCI AT EEFE
(recycling) BHEHT A
Hfh 2 HE M =
(FTEIE)NE S

& BB R

3,394

80,983 Risk-adjusted

discount rates of

ranged from 1.08% to

6.64% (2022: 1.33%

to 4.38%) per annum

quoted by the banks

RITRT R 2 AR

(EH BB TR

T4 1.08%%6.64%
(ZF==

=

1.33%%4.38%)

Information about level 3 fair value measurements

BRHFE =R FEESEZEHN

Unlisted equity securities

FLMERES

Significant
Valuation unobservable Weighted
techniques inputs average
BRMAA]
HERMN BREARE N5
Market-  Discount for lack 30%
comparable  of marketability (2022: 30%)
approach
M5 — LLBOA RZM5 30%

MBEZE (ZE-—F:
30%)

The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined
using the enterprises value to sales of comparable listed
companies adjusted for lack of marketability discount. The
fair value is negatively correlated to the discount for lack of
marketability.

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

FEPTRSMUERENAFEERAER
ULEMRARNEEEEHHERLE -
I LR = T 45 i 1 2 P e S B
BREBET AFEEBRERZHHRAMNE
ZHTBBRLE ©
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. &I A
(c) Fair value (continued) (c) DFEME®
Financial assets measured at fair value (continued) BAFIEEGES /A E ()
Information about level 3 fair value measurements EHE=RNFEEFEZEH (E)
(continued)
It is estimated that with all other variables held constant, a hEHER A EME BRI EBERLT -
decrease/increase in: i

2023 2022
—_Eg2-= —E-=
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in Effect on (decrease) in Effect on
unobservable unlisted equity unobservable unlisted equity
inputs securities inputs securities

THBE BIELE™ NABE BIEL™
WABLA BREEFN BAELRT HEDESFD

(R F&) o (TF%) Fa
% HKS$'000 % HKS$'000
FB7T FETT
. ¢ ! |
Discount for lack of Rz s mimt
marketability ZHTiE 5 61) 5 (186)
(5) 61 (5) 186
The movements during the period in the balance of these AN ZEF =M AFEEFEZH
Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows: AEEENNT ¢

Unlisted Derivative
equity financial
security instrument
kLW
ERES fTELMITA
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FET
| ] |
At 1 July 2021 RZTEZ—F+H—H 2,838 1,402
Changes in fair value recognised in RN E = TR
profit or loss during the year NEEBEED - (1,402)
At 30 June 2022 and 2023 R_TB__FR_ZF_=%F
ANA=1H 2,838 -
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at IR FEEIR S €6 EER
other than fair value BEZAFEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments RZE-=ZFR_FT-_—"F A=+
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different B NE&E B iRk A sk # 85k AR 71 Bk 2
from their fair values as at 30 June 2023 and 2022. CRMTEEAEEEAFEECHE

WEBARER -
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iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

26. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 26. RAR#E
Authorised and issued share capital EENBRITRA

. | ! 1 |

2023 2023 2022 2022

—EC-=& —E-C=E —E-CF —E-F

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount

%10 & B S8 ffh 8B |

HK$’000 HKS$'000

THER FHEIL

Ordinary share of HK$0.50 BREE.50/E T
(2022: HK$0.50) each (Z2ZZF:
0.50/87T) 2
ERR
Authorised: ETE
At beginning of the year and the ~ F 4] R F 48
end of the year 600,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITIER
At beginning of the year and the 4] &2 4%
end of the year 301,052,675

300,000 600,000,000 300,000

147,940 301,052,675 147,940

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends
as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company's residual assets.

27.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments outstanding at 30 June 2023 not provided
for in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

27.

EERBBEAAREBRTEEIRZHE
NERZRER —ERARBARELEE-
MAEEBERRARARZHBEEMTHE
B RSk -

BARERE
R-ZF-=Z#XA=+8 REFAHH
BERABBNRBTEAREDT :

2023 2022
—E-=F -

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET TETT

Contracted for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

ERKBEYE - BB KRBT X

= 4,257

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e
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28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES 28. BEALRG &

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere REZEGEEVERREMEPABEE IR
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group has ShEGIN KREBFTBUTEKRBEA
entered into the following material related party transactions: TR 5
(a) Transaction with related companies (a) HBAEQARAZRS
I |
2023 2022
HK$’000 HKS$'000
TET FETT
I |
Sales of goods to a related company m—HEEARHEE R
(note (1)) (B 3EG)) 115,847 120,916
Sales of goods to an associate (note (i)  [ABf & A R #HE & & (P i) 137 -
Interest income from loans to RERE T —HBE2 278
an associate (note (iii) B F B U A (K EEGi)) - 862
Subcontracting fee to an associate TR TEERTNDBEE
(note (iv)) (B EEGv)) 31,573 46,857
Lease payment to an associate ST FHE AT BEERN K
(note (v)) (B &) 1,329 -
Notes: Mok -
(i) During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group sold the ladies’ (i) REBEE-_Z-_=€A=1t8I1t#&
intimate apparel to a related company, Van de Velde N.V. ERN - A& E [ — R ERQAVan de
("VdV") for revenue of approximately HK$115,847,000 (2022: Velde N.V. (['vdv]) t & 22 5 A 7K BA B X
HK$120,916,000). I A #9115,847,0008 70 (ZF = — 4
120,916,000/ 7T) °
Mr. Herman Van de Velde, a non-executive director of the AKX B FEH 1T E FEHerman Van de Velde
Company, has a beneficial interest in VdV, which held an interest SERFAVIVZ BEmEm MR T ==
of 25.66% (2022: 25.66%) in the Company as at 30 June 2023. FRXA=1+H » vdvVEIFE B KRR 5)25.66%

]

As at 30 June 2023, the balance of trade receivables from VdV
amounted to HK$3,327,000 (2022: HK$4,894,000) which are aged
less than 30 days.

)

it AN SE
SR
&y
2F
§§§m
3

The above related party transactions constitute continuing MBRE A TR S TR RIS 14A
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing AEzHEBEHRERS - EWRAUE
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing MAERTEZHBEERESSRERM -
Rules are provided in the Directors’ Report.

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group processed supplied (i MEEZZE-_=FA=THILFERN"
materials and delivered the finished products to Techspase for AEBENMTHEM AL EEK RS F
revenue of HK$137,000 (2022: nil). As at 30 June 2023, the trade Techspase A B BX Y A £9137,00078 7T (=
receivable from Techspase was HK$33,000 (2022: nil). T FEBT) oK % =F X

0 3

(i) During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group made loans of iy MEEZZ-_—_FA=1+HILFERN -
HK$21,290,000 to BAP. 75 B MBAPHR L B 7X21,290,0007 7T ©
(iv)  The subcontracting fee to BAP is made on similar terms as the (iv) X1 FBAPKHI & & & B /K &£ B B H b
Group enters into with other suppliers. As at 30 June 2023, the trade EEREIYNERENL RS -=F
receivable and trade payables from BAP were HK$13,060,000 NAZ=1+H - REBAPHE 5 EWIE R
(2022: nil) and HK$15,440,000 (2022: HK$708,000) respectively. & 5 ERBRER D B A13,060,000 7T (
T —F T IT) K&15440,000% 7T (
T = =4 : 708,000/ L) °
(v)  For the year ended 30 June 2023, the Group entered into a v HEZE-_=ZFXA=1+HIEE XK
lease agreement to rent factory facility located in Indonesia SEHE-—EBE ARG L HESEHE A
from an associate for 3 years. The amount of rent payable by AEMRENEN THEE A =4F -
the Group under the lease is approximately US$28,500 per RIBEEY AEEFARNEESEY
month (equivalent to approximately HK$221,000) plus VAT. As #28,500% 7T (48 & 7 49221,0004 7T) 1N
at 30 June 2023, the carrying amount of such lease liabilities is BEKF R_ZE_=F~"A=+H"'%
HK$6,204,000 (2022 nil). HEABHNIRM S % A6204,0008 T (=
TZZFTHT) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) ([ 53 7 & B & &b -

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(continued)
(b) Compensation of key management personnel

28.

iR e PR R AR MY &

B A TR

BEALRS &tk

(b) TEEEAS 2 BN

2023 2022
:g: = S —

HK$'000 HK$/000

FET FAET
. 4 ;. |

Salaries and other benefits FekEMER 24,098 24,040

Discretionary bonus BB TEAT 3,465 9,199

Share-based payments VAR 19 7% EE 5 1) 2 A+ 529 732

Retirement benefits scheme contributions 3R K& R 5t 2L & 195 198

28,287 34,169

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key
management is determined by the Group’s compensation
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company, comprising issued share
capital, reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of debt.

T FFH e

29.

ARREERTBZERABZHMA
AEBZHEWEZES2REARRM

MZBBET -

EXRERER
AEBEERERE R B BEEREE
FELRETFE BERAEEBTER
FELE AEASRRAERAER -
SEEERMEZFHER -

H 2 Bk

AEBEZERARBEEARARERRE
D (BRERTRA  FEIRE R
R)

ARAREEBFRIEARE - FRER
HPF—R ARAEFTERELARARE
BEAZHEBRR REARBAEFTZRE
& AEBEgRBIRMEE - BITHRD
BOBROHLEBETERES A FERESR
RIRHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 30. TEMBEAT
Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries as at 30 June ARAR ZE_=ZFR T - _F XA
2023 and 2022 are as follows: StTHZFEWBARFBOT

Proportion of issued ordinary

Place of share capital/registered
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ capital held directly/
Name of company registration registered capital  Indirectly by the company Principal activities
ANAER/BERAZ
ERRL/ BERfTRE/ EBROLZERLK/EMEAL
ALEL: % ARER 2B IEXE
2023 2022
8- -“Z-°F
% %

Foshan Nanhai Top Form Underwear Co,, Ltd# The PRC Capital Contribution - HK$20,800,000 100 100 Manufacture of ladies'
underwear and property

investment

BUTEEERAARARA M hE BAEA - 2080000087 100 100 AEXKARREENZ
Grand Gain Industrial Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$100,000 60 60 Moulding and laminating
business

BREEERAA BA LR - 100000570 60 60 BRhRERER$H
Juliana Consulting Services (Shenzhen) Co, Ltd# The PRC Capital Contribution - HK$8,000,000 100 100 Provision of consultancy services

in relation to ladies intimate
apparel and accessories

FRZBEARE (R BRA T hE BAEA - 800000078 7T 100 100 REFEXMAXRER
A2 B R

Long Nan Grand Gain Underwear Co, Ltd# The PRC Capital Contribution - US$1,800,000 60 60 Moulding and laminating
business

EHERBARERDA hE BAEAR - 1800000% 7T 60 60 BhRERER$%
Long Nan County Top Form Underwear Co, Ltd#  The PRC Capital Contribution - HK$57,000,000 100 100 Manufacture of ladies'
underwear

EHEERIARARDA hE BAEA - 570000008 100 100 EELEAK
Meritlux Garment (Shenzhen) Co,, Ltd# The PRC Capital Contribution - HK$23,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
[adies' underwear

BHERE (RI) BB hE BAEA - 230000008 100 100 RERREERES
Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co, LtdA The PRC Capital Contribution - RMB4,993,000 70 70 Property investment and

provision of consultancy service
in relation to ladies intimate
apparel and accessories

RNEBHARER LA e BAEA - AR%49930007 70 70 RENEURREER
TR

REREcH 2 BERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. T EM B AT (&)
I I I I

Proportion of issued ordinary

Place of share capital/registered
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ capital held directly/
Name of company registration registered capital  Indirectly by the company Principal activities
ARNRER/BEREL
ERAL/ BRfIRA/ BRABARLK/EMEL
RAER EfbE EMER ZAAY IEEE
2023 2022
—E-zZE  —E--F
% %

Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co, Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$100 100 100 Manufacture and trading of
Deferred - HK94,000,000 [adies" underwear
EENNERERBRAA 3 LER- 10087 100 100 RERKEERES

BRI - 40000008

Top Form (BV) Limited* British Virgin Ordinary - US$50,000 100 100 Investment holding
Islands

ZERNHS B8R - 50000% T 100 100 REER

Top Form Brassiere (Maesot) Co, Ltd Thailand Ordinary - Baht$56,000,000 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’
underwear

% Z4RIR - 5600000055k 100 100 RELRAR

Topfull Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HKS2 100 100 Property holding in the PRC
REZRERAA B Bak- 28T 100 100 REURPE D%
Unique Form Manufacturing Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1,000 100 100 Trading of ladies' underwear

Deferred - HK$200
RERRRKRERARLA B BRI - 100087 100 100 LENKES

ERERS - 20087

Louisa Lee Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - HK$1,820,000 51 51 Trading of ladies’ underwear
B LR - 182000087 51 51 TERNKES

Goal Plus Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary - US$7,000,000 60 60 Investment holding
REREERAA 3 ERR - 7,000000% 7T 60 60 REER
Top Form Myanmar Company Limited Myanmar 300,000 ordinary share of 100 100 Property investment
US$1.00 each (2022: Property investment

and manufacture of ladies’

underwear)

k) 300000 B IR EE 100 100 RENZ

100X TRIBAR (ZB_F REMERE

ERERL)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 30. T EM B AT (&)
I I I I

Proportion of issued ordinary

Place of share capital/registered
Incorporation/ Issued share capital/ capital held directly/
Name of company registration registered capital  Indirectly by the company Principal activities
ANRER/BEEAZ
ERAL/ BRfTRE/ EBROLERL/EMEAL
ALEL: Eaupch s &R ZBR IERH
2023 2022
ZECZZf  “Z-F
% %

Top Form Seamless Manufacturing Thailand 1,801,919 ordinary share of 60 60 Manufacture of Seamless
Company Limited Baht$100 each products
*E 1801919 B REE 60 60 HEERED

100K Rk
Top Form (Cambodia) Manufacturing Co. Limited ~ Cambodia Ordinary - US$1,000,000 100 100 Manufacture of ladies’
underwear
RER ERIR - 1,000000% T 100 100 EELEAK
PT Pahlawan Gunung Jaya Indonesia Ordinary - Rp$10,000,000,000 100 100 Property holding in the

Indonesia and manufacture of

ladies' underwear

(2022: Investment holding)

1l L% - 1000000000080 B B 100 100 BAURDEZNER
FEREAR

(ZB-—F  REER)

Grand Gain Industrial (Ceylon) (PVT) Ltd. SriLanka Ordinary - US$50,000 60 - Moulding and laminating
business
HELRS AR -5000ET 60 - BRBERER B

* Directly held by the Company * KRAREEFR

# These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprises # ZEWBARETEMAINEBEDE -
in the PRC.

A This subsidiary is registered as a sino-foreign equity joint venture in the A ZMBARETEFMAETINEE AT -

PRC.

Note: Except for those subsidiaries with the place of operation mentioned in Msr: BZERTFIEEBNIELRKSESHE 7B
principal activities, the place of operation is the same as the place of RNAIN - B M E A R 2 48 & i B 8
incorporation/registration. RS 2 AR R o

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the EE2E FRFAEENEQ G YA

opinion of the Directors, principally affected the Group's assets SEEESEERTETE-EERA

or results. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the TIEHEMHFB AR ZEMAENES A A

opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length. NITE °
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iR e PR R AR MY &

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 & &t BB & 4h - BB THIR)

30. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Limited /&I ZEEHT 7K
BIRAT] ('SZTF") is a joint venture company established in the
PRC and was originally held for a period of twelve years from 28
February 1987. The Group entered into extension agreements
with the joint venture partner on 18 September 1998, 12
November 2008, 27 June 2011, 6 February 2015 and 28 February
2017 to extend the joint venture period for future years to 28
February 2009, 28 February 2012, 28 February 2015, 28 February
2017 and 28 February 2030 respectively. Pursuant to the joint
venture agreement and the revised joint venture agreement
under which the joint venture was established, the Group
contributed 70% of the registered capital of SZTF. However,
under another agreement entered into between the Group and
the joint venture partner, the Group is entitled to 100% of this
joint venture company's profit after deducting a fixed annual
amount attributable to assets contributed by the joint venture
partner. The Group is entitled to receive its attributable share of
the net assets upon liquidation of the joint venture, and so this
joint venture is being accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 30 June 2023, for Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited and
Unique Form Manufacturing Company Limited, the deferred
shares carry no right to dividend or to receive notice of or
to attend or vote at any general meeting of the respective
companies. On winding-up, the holders of the deferred shares
are entitled to one half of the remaining assets of the respective
companies after the first HK$100 trillion has been distributed
equally amongst the holders of the ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting as at
30 June 2023 or at any time during the year.

SEEHERERLAT | T —FFH e

30. T EM B QT (&)

FYEBHRNKERRAG (DEINEBHE])
B—REFEKILZEERF REEF
A —AN+EE_A-+ N \BEFST+=
F o XEBDFR—NANFENLATNE -
—EENF+—A+=ZH ZZT——F X
A-++tB - —ZEZ—HF_AXBE_ZT
—+tF A+ NBEAEERMHET LR
WE BEEFHSFERE-_TEZTNF
A+ N\H-ZZE—=F=ZA=+N\B"
—E-hAF-_AZ+NRA -ZE2—tF=
AZ+N\BERZZE=FF A=+ N\H-
BEKLEERAIZEEMEREEES
B ASERRNEBH 2ZMER
HE70% ° AT RIBAREEEESERMNE]
Yz —hinE AEEANZEEEER
ARTIBREEENRBAEEMEFTIEN
BEgEBrscE2HaM AEEEELE
BRRBEERWBODEEEZEEFE K
LEEBERRIFTABNEE B AR -

RZZE_=FA=+TH EBHHEH
EMBRAREEERAXRKEBAR A
7] 2 3 FE B ) 6 48 PR 75 U BRI B Sk B ER
BRAREMRRAGZAGEHRHFERE
IRELRRZEN - BRRE  RTK
A ABEKREHEA RS E1008 BB
TTFADRTEBRDFHAEARABTZ
FHEE-

RZZEZ=ZFRNA=Z+THIRFREME
B ZHERRBEEAERES
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KR e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

31. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 31. A F EHEW B &R R K
POSITION

(a) Financial position of the Company (a) &2 EHETFEAR R
I |
2023 2022
—E_-= —E_—
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET AT
. | |
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RE AR #Ewm 856,395 871,495
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables Hoth e I BR 3Kk 157 157
Bank balances IRITHEE R 52 53
209 210
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables and accrued charges EORNERREGTER 1,721 1,850
Net current liabilities REBAEEFEHE (1,512) (1,640)
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBERE 854,883 869,855
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary AN NGIE 486,531 484,963
Net assets BEEFE 368,352 384,892
Capital and reserves B2 R &
Share capital &N 147,940 147,940
Reserves & 220,412 236,952
Total equity ERAE 368,352 384,892
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of EFEeN T _=—FhALA=-+NB#
directors on 28 September 2023. T B ) B o
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
EHREE BE/ME
Chief Executive Officer Managing Director
BEHNITE EErcrigid
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B R MY A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B& 5 & & BB &N » H B THIR)

31. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (continued)
(b) Equity movement of the Company (b) ZATERET
! ! ! 1 ! ]| |

31. A B fE E 8 B B AR R & (90

Capital
Share Share redemption Contributed Retained
capital premium reserve surplus profits Total
EXER
BREx  RHEE RE  ERER% REEAN #E

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TER TER TER TET TET
I S A S S S

At 1 July 2021 RZZZ—F
+HA—H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 111,644 386,118
Loss and total FREBR
comprehensive PERLEE
expense for the year - - - - (1,226) (1,226)
At 30 June 2022 and i
1July 2022 NAZTAER
+A—H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 110,418 384,892
Loss and total FREER
comprehensive 2EATRE
expense for the year - - - - (16,540) (16,540)
At 30 June 2023 RZZZ=F
~NA=1H 147,940 1,499 233 124,802 93,878 368,352

32. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 32. FEFBERS

As set out in note 11, there are non-cash transactions in relation
to (i) new lease arrangements in respect of properties and motor
vehicles; (i) early termination of lease contracts; and (iii) transfer
of property, plant and equipment to investment properties
during the year ended 30 June 2023.

As set out in note 14, there are non-cash transactions in relation
to (i) debt assignment from Top Form Brasserie to PGJ regarding
the amount due from BAP as set-off against the purchase
price of the assets and rental deposit; and (ii) subscription
and allotment of 480 new BAP shares for a consideration
of US$400,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,108,000),
of which US$398,000 (equivalent to approximately to
HK$3,092,000) settled by set-off against the loan amount due
and owing by BAP to Top Form Brasserie and the remaining
US$2,000 (equivalent to approximately to HK$15,000) was paid
in cash during the year ended 30 June 2023.

SENERERAT | —T-—FFH e

MK ENFHE REBEE T _=ZF A=
BIEFER FREXGFRODERAE
MFAELHE (RATREREAL  Kiii)
BYE BMERREETREDE -

WM 14 E 0 REBE-_T-_=F A=+
BIEFEAN RSP ROEBTTNE
FIPGJEE ;2 JE URBAPE BB 2 B 75 - A IH &
EBEEEESIKS + RKii)RE &EL 2480
AXBAPER A% 1 - B B8 X {8 /400,000% 7T (48
& 7 493,108,000% 7T) - H #1398,0003% 7T (8
7 493,092,000/ 7T ) JA K $EBAPFE (< &2 B8 HY
MENERSE £ 12000F T HERL
15,0007 7C) MR & T fF -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A& &t BB & 4 - BB THIR)

33.

172

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW BP.EHAMEFERARBE-_ZE-_=ZF X
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED A=1THLEFEEENRZIEET ~ FaT
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED EARREAREBRZEE

30 JUNE 2023

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA HEMBREFLEABAILL BB SR
has issued a number of amendments and a new standard, HKFRS NEEKEBEERNEBEE T -_=F A=+
17, Insurance contracts, which are not yet effective for the year BIEFERRERNE TFTET LFHE
ended 30 June 2023 and which have not been adopted in these RER (BBMBERELENE 7R RIEE
consolidated financial statements. These developments include D) EEGSAEUBEHRRRNEBRER %
the following which may be relevant to the Group. ERRPENATEEAGEEAEEER -

I
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT5BEHHK

2EmE >

SHBER
! |

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023

FR G BB VR NRFEVBERERNEH RS E2IRNERT [ 22T K4 #KEE ) —E-_=%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023

TGt B ESRMNER] [ @ lhaf A€ % ] —E_=%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction 1 January 2023

TG BB RNER [HE X ZELMNEERRERFELHIE ] —E-_=%—H—H

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and the related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5(2020) Presentation of financial statements —

Classification by the borrower of a term loan that contains a repayment on demand clause 1 January 2024

ARG ERNBVRNER] R EDERTBRIELI TR (& - REBZFEESH
—F_FF) BRI ES — EANY E B EINER IR E B S LI EEH

1 EE1E AT ] —ZE-MF—-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
BREGERERWNER [ WERAE IR E E —E_mMFE—HA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
BEMBHRESEUNE1SRNER [ ERHELFAHEERE] —E_MFE—-HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7, Supplier finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
BEEGHEUBIRRBEBEUBREENETRNET [ HEFHE L] —E_mMFE—HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 21, Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
BAGIERI SR (EE] [ B M A i ] —E-HE—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture o \ ‘ o To be determined
BAMBRERAND 10X REBGA RAUBBRNE [ KEERAHELFHE R ‘

PRZEALELTATE] FEE
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the NEFBFAFTHEHEEEERE NER
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period HEOZZE - REBRAIE Hims HEE
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of AT KA e IERRELEETATE -

them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

® Top Form International Limited | Annual Report 2023



INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES
REEYFEBE

REWE

i B Existing use T & Term of lease & i
] | |

Location

Levels 6 to 8 of Block 523,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC

Twenty units on Level 1 of
Bagualing Single Apartment Block 29
(Type B),

Bagua 2nd Road,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province,

the PRC

Portion A on Level 6

(twelve units on the west) of
Pengji Single Apartment Block 44,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,

Guangdong Province,

the PRC

EBESEERERAR |

=8 Industrial T2
BERA

YN

8 H @

NEEITER

BESBRENEF/N\E

2 Residential (£
BRE

3l

2 H @

NE B

N\EMEE F RNE 291 (BHRY)

2 — JZ20fH

h Residential ¥ =&
EXR4E

I

2 H R

NEPETHE

MR B & N EFHE44R

FEREA(FE12/E)

T FFH e

Medium H HA

Medium H HA

Medium & HA
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SUMMARY OF GROUP PROPERTIES

AEENEHRE

Location

Existing use 1T A3 Term of lease 1 & i

Level 2-4 of Block 424,
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Bagua 3rd Road,

Futian District,

Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,

the PRC

No. 22, Yuejin Road,
Yanbu Town,

Nanhai District,
Foshan,

Guangdong Province,
the PRC

Jintang Industrial Park,
North of Shangren Road,
Longnan County,
Ganzhou City,

Jiangxi Province,

the PRC

No.614, Myintta Lin Myaing,
Aung Chan Thar Quarter,
Myintta Lin Myaing Village,
Myawaddy,

Kayin State,

Myanmar

174

A

ERA

wYIT

EHE

NEHZBE

NHETER
BE424RE _EEFEE

2
EEE
1L
B 2 TR B 005K

A

i
BN
R
SHIXER

Industrial T2 Medium A HA
Industrial T % Medium  Hf
Industrial T % Medium  Hf
Industrial T 2 Short %2 &
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RESEABERAT | T =G50 e
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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PRINCIPAL OFFICE

7/F, Port 33,

33 Tseuk Luk Street,
San Po Kong, Kowloon,
Hong Kong

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wong Chung Chong
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Hang Seng Bank Limited

AUDITOR
KPMG (resigned on 5 May 2023)
Public Interest Entity Auditor
registered in accordance with the
Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (appointed on 5 May 2023)
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
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17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
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www.topform.group
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